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i STEVEN B. WOLFSON. . '&ﬁ, e
Clark County District Attorney W@ i

Nevada Bar #00 1 565 : ’ CLERK OF THE COURT
PAMELA WECKERLY ' :

Chief D%mty District Attorney

Nevada Bar #6163

200 Lewis Avenue

Las Vegas, Nevada 89155-2212

(702) 671-2500

Attorney for Plaintiff
" DISTRICT COURT
CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA
THE STATE OF NEVADA,
Plaintiff, CASENO: C-14-300032-1
-vs- DEPTNO: X
NATASHA GALENN JACKSON,
#19210s8
- . Defendant. INDICTMENT
STATE OF NEVADA
COUNTY OF CLARK 3

The Defendant above named, NATASHA GALENN JACKSON, accused by the Clark
County Grand Jury of the crime(s) of BURGLARY WHILE IN POSSESSION OF A
FIREARM (Category B Felony - NRS 205.060 - NOC 50426); ATTEMPT ROBBERY WITH
USE OF A DEADLY WEAPON (Category B Felony - NRS 200.380, 193.330, 193.165 - NOC
50145); MURDER WITH USE OF A DEADLY WEAPON (Category A Felony - NRS
200.010, 200.030, 193.165 - NOC 50001); ATTEMPT MURDER WITH USE OF A
DEADLY WEAPON (Category B Felony - NRS 200.010, 200.030, 193.330, 193.165 - NOC

| 50031); FIRST DEGREE KIDNAPPING (Category A Felony - NRS 200.310, 200.320 - NOC

50051); ROBBERY WITH USE OF A DEADLY WEAPON (Category B Felony - NRS
200.380, 193.165 - NOC 50138); BURGLARY WHILE IN Pé)SSESSION OF A DEADLY
WEAPON (Category B Felony - NRS 205.060 - NOC 50426) and ATTEMPT INVASION
OF THE HOME (Category C Felony - NRS 205.067, 193.330:- NOC 50446), committed at
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and within the County of Clark, State of Nevada, on or about the 29th day of July, 2014, as

follows:

Il COUNT 1 - BURGLARY WHILE IN POSSESSION OF A FIREARM

did then and there wilfully, unlawfully, and fel"ﬁniously enter, with intent to commit
larceny and/or a felony, to-wit: robbery, that certain residence occupied by RICHARD
RAMOS, located at 3930 Autumn Street, Las Vegas, Clark Cdunty, Nevada, said Defendant
did possess and/or gain possession of a firearm during the commission of the crime and/or
before leaving the structure.

COUNT 2 - ATTEMPT ROBBERY WITH USE OF A DEADLY WEAPON

did then and there wilfully, unlawfully, and feloniously attempt to take personal
property, to-wit: a motor vehicle, from the person of RICHARD RAMOS, or in his presence,
by means of force or violence, or fear of injury to, and without the consent and against the will
of RICHARD RAMOS, by entering the said RAMOS residence in an attempt to obtain said
motor vehicle, with use of a deadly weapon, to-wit: a firearm; Defendant being criminally
l'ri»avlble under one or more Qf the .follow_ing principles of criminal liability, to-wit: (1) by directly
commitﬁng this érifné; and}df (52) by aivd'ingvoir'abétt“ing .witﬁl “Cédy” in the cdmh{issfon of this
crime with the intent to commit thfs crime, by providing counsel and/or encouragement, by
the Defendant acting in concert; and/or (3) pursuant to a conspiracy to commit this crime.
COUNT 3 - ATTEMPT ROBBERY WITH USE OF A DEADLY WEAPON

did then and there wilfully, unlawfully, and feloniously attempt to take personal
property, to-wit: a motor vehicle, from the person of JULIE RAMOS, or in her presence, by
means of force or violence, or fear of injury to, and without the consent and against the will of
JULIE RAMOS, by eﬁtering the said RAMOS residence in ari attempt to obtain said motor
vehicle, with use of a deadly weapon, to-wit: a firearm, Defepdant being criminally liable

under one or more of the following principles of criminal liability, to-wit: (1) by directly

- cominitting this crime; and/or (2) by aiding or abetting with “Cody” in the commission of this

- crime with the intent to commit this crime, by prwidingcounéel and/or encouragement, by

the Defendant acting in concert; and/or (3) pursuant to a conspiracy to commit this crime.

2

Wi2014R\120024\14F12024-IND-001. DOCX
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COUNT 4 - MURDER WITH USE OF A DEADLY WEAPON

W o0 ~1 & B W

did then and there wilfully, unlawfully, feloniously, with premeditation and
deliberation and/or during the perpetration or attempted perpetration of a burglary, robbery, or
kidnapping, and with malice aforethought, kill RICHARD RAMOS, a human being, by
shooting at and into the body of the said RICHARD RAMOS, ,with a deadly weapon, to-wit:
a firearm; Defendant being criminally liable under one or morevof the following principles of
criminal liability, to-wit: (1) by directly committing this crime; and/or (2) by aiding or abetting
with “Cody” in the commission of this crime with the intent to commit this crime, by providing
counsel and/or encouragem‘ént,l by the Defendant acting in concert; and/or (3) pursuant to a
conspiracy to commit this crime.

COUNT 5 - ATTEMPT MURDER WITH USE OF A DEADLY WEAPON

did then and there wilfully, unlawfully, feloniously and with malice aforethought
attempt to kill JULIE RAMOS, a human being, by stabbing the said JULIE RAMOS in the
back and/or body, with use of a deadly weapon, to-wit: a screwdriver.

COUNT 6 - FIRST DEGREE KIDNAPPING

did wilfully, unlawfully, and feloniously, seize, confine, irweigle, entice, decoy, abduct,
conceal, kidnap, or carry away SCOTT UFERT, a human being, with the intent to hold or
detain the said SCOTT UFERT againsf his will, and without his consent, for the purpose of
committing robbery. |
COUNT 7 - ROBBERY WITH USE OF A DEADLY WEAPON o

did then and there wilfully, unlawfully, and felomously take personal property, to-wit:
keys, a cellular telephone, and/or an iPhone, from the person of SCOTT UFERT, or in his
presence, by means of force or violence, or fear of injury to, and without the consent and
against the will of SCOTT UFERT, with use of a deadly wealpon, to-wit: a firearm and/or
knife; the Defendant being criminally liable under one or more of the following principles of
criminal liability, to-wit: (1) by directly committing this crime; a’n‘d/or (2) by aiding or abetting
with “Cody” in the commission of this crime, with the intent thfat this crime be committed by

entering into a course of conduct whereby co-conspirator “Cody” pointed a firearm at the said

WA2014F\120024\14F 12024-IND-00 1. DOCX
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SCOTT UFERT and demanded the p“roperty‘whilé the Defendant pulled out and wielded a

large knife, by providing counsel and/or encouragemént to one another by actions and words,

and acting in concert throughout; and/or (3) pursuant to a conspiracy to commit this crime

COUNT 8 - BURGLARY WHILE IN POSSESSION OF A DEADLY WEAPON

did then and there wilfully, unlawfully, and feloniously enter, with intent to commit

assault and/or battery and/or a felony, to-wit: murder, that certain abandoned house, located at

3909 Almondwood Drive, Las Vegas, Clark County, Nevada; said Defendant did possess

and/or gain possession of, a firearm and/or knife, a deadly weapon, during the commission of

the crime and/or before leaving the structure.

DATED this_~]_ day of August, 2014

STEVEN B. WOLFSON

Clark County District Attorf
: 001565

Nevada Ba

VAN
Chlef Deputy District Attorney

Nevada Bar #6163

ENDORSEMEM": A True Bill

/"/'L\

Yoreperson, Clark County Grand Jury

W:\2014F\120124114F 12024-IND-001.DOCX
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Names of witnesses testifying before the Grand Jury:

SIMS, DR. LARY, CCME, 1704 PINTO LN., LVN
RAMOS, DOMINIC, c¢/o CCDA/VWAC, 200 LEWIS AVE.,, LVN

UFERT, SCOTT, ¢/o CCDA/VWAC, 200 LEWIS AVE., LVN
MOORE, WILLIAM, UNKNOWN

WILDEMAN, MARTIN, LYMPD

MCCARTHY, JASON, LVMPD

Additional witnesses known to the District Attorney at time of filing the Indictment:
CUSTODIAN OF RECORDS, CCDC

CUSTODIAN OF RECORDS, LVMPD DISPATCH

CUSTODIAN OF RECORDS, LVMPD RECORDS

WILLIAMS, TOD, LVMPD P#3811

- BECK, KEVIN, LVMPD P#9629

RAMOS, JULIE, c¢/o CCDA/VWAC, 200 LEWIS AVE., LVN

13BGJ137X/14F12024X/dd-GJ
LVMPD EV#140729-0659
(TK2)

W:2014F\20024014F12024-IND-001.DOCX
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DISTRICT COURT

CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA K. b s

CLERK OF THE COURT

THE STATE OF NEVADA,
Plaintiff,
vs- CASENO: C-14- 300032

NATASHA GALENN JACKSON DEPTNO: ¢

ID#1921058

' Defendant. WARRANT FOR ARREST
INDICTMENT WARRANT
THE STATE OF NEVADA,

To: Any Sheriff, Constable, Marshall, Policeman, or Peace Officer in This State:

An Indictment having been found on the 8th day of August, 2014, in the above entitled Court
charging Defendant NATASHA GALENN JACKSON, above named, with the crlme s) of: 81
BURGLARY WHILE IN POSSESSION OF A FIREARM (Cate EDrK B Felon 05.06 NOC
50426); (2) CTS - ATTEMPT ROBBERY WITH USE OF A DE Y WEA ON %Zat%gory B Felon ¥ _
- NRS 200.380, 193.330, 193.165 - NOC 50145); (1) CT - MURDER WITH US A DEADL
WEAPON (Catego ory A Felony - NRS 200.010, 200.030, 193.165 - NOC 50001 ; (1) CT - ATTEMPT
MURDER WITH USE OF A DEADLY WEAPON &Eatel% g B Felong 3S 200.010, 200.030,
193.330, 193.165 - NOC 50031); gl) CT - FIRST DEG IDNAPPING (Category A Felon NRS
200.310,200.320 - NOC 50051); ( )CT-ROBBERY WITH USE OF A DEADLY WEAPON (Catego
B Felon% NRS 200.380, 193.165 - NOC 50138); and élg CT - BURGLARY WHILE IN POSSESS ON
OF A DEADLY WEAPON (Category B Felony - NRS 205.060 - NOC 50426).

YOU ARE, THEREFORE, COMMANDED forthwith to arrest and bring said Defendant before
the Court to answer the Indlctment If the Court is not in session, you are to deliver Defendant into the
,custody -of ‘the Sheriff of Clark County, or if requested by Defendant, take Defendant before any

ﬁlstrate in the County where arrested that bail may be given to answer to the Indictment. Defendant
shall be admitted to bail in the sum of $ i Couvrk

I HEREBY AUTHORIZE THE SERVICE OF THE WITHIN WARRANT BY TELETYPE,
PURSUANT TO NRS 171.148. The %ant may be served at any hour day or night

. Clark Count,
Nevada Ba: #0

“PAMEEA WEGKERLY
Chief Deputy District Attorney
Nevada Bar #6163

DA# 13BGJ137X/14F12024X/dd-GJ Setin &Uﬁ‘
LVMPD EV#140729-0659

3/21/1979; BFA; SS#:249-41-0598

(TK2)
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STEVEN B. WOLFSON

Clark County District Attorney
Nevada Bar #001565

PAMELA WECKERLY

Chief Deputy District Attorney
Nevada Bar #6163

200 Lewis Avenue

Las Vegas, Nevada 89155-2212
(702) 671-2500

Attorney for Plaintiff
S | DISTRICT COURT -
' CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA
THE STATE OF NEVADA, |
Plaintiff,
Vs '~ CASENO: C-14- Boco33 -1
%\]I)/?;{JQXZSIHO/SXSGALENN JACKSON, DEPT NO: X
Defendant.

INDICTMENT WARRANT RETURN

An Indictment having heretofore been found on the 8th day of August, 2014, in the above entitled
Court, charging Defendant NATASHA GALENN JACKSON, above named, with the crime(238 of: %1)
CT - BURGLARY WHILE IN POSSESSION OF A FIREARM (Cat%/grg B Felony - NRS 205.060 -
NOC 50426); (2) CTS - ATTEMPT ROBBERY WITH USE OF A D LY WEAPON (Category B
Felony - NRS 200.380, 193.330, 193.165 - NOC 50145); (1) CT - MURDER WITH USE OF ‘A
DEADLY WEAPON (Catg{%_cir{j/\ Felony - NRS 200.010, 200.030, 193.165 - NOC 50001); (1) CT -
ATTEMPT MURDER WI SE OF A DEADLY WEAPON (Category B Felony - NRS 200.010,
200.030, 193.330, 193.165 - NOC 50031);§I)CT-‘FIRST DEGREE KIDNAPPING (Category A Felony
- NRS 200.310, 200.320 - NOC 50051); (1) CT - ROBBERY WITH USE OF A DEADLY WEAPON
(Category B Felony - NRS 200.380, 193.165 - NOC 50138); and (1) CT - BURGLARY WHILE IN
POSSESSION OF A DEADLY WEAPON (Category B Felony - NRS 205.060 - NOC 50426) and upon
finding the said Indictment, the court issued a warrant for the arrest of said Defendant.

I hereby certify that I received a certified copy of the Indictment Warrant and served the same by

arresting the within Defendant on the day of 2014.

DOUGLAS C. GILLESPIE,
Clark County, Nevada
BY

Deputy
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AUG 11 200 .
rcourraoun  EIGHTH JUDICIAL DISTRICT COURT (. b efirsr—

DISTRIC :
. _ CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA CLERK OF THE COURT
State of Nevada ) . ;
) CASEEN(h C"14'300032F1
PLAINTIFF ) ’ 10 :
) DEPT. NO;
VS~ ) . ;
) MEDIA REQUEST AND ORDER ALLOWING
Natasha Jackson ) CAMERA ACCESS TO COURT PROCEEDINGS
) * Please fux to (702) 671-4548 to ensure that
DEFENDANT ) the request will be processed as quickly ss possible.
)
Larry [sh (marmey, of KTNV

(media arganization),

hereby requests permission to broadcast, record, phatograph or televise proceedings in the above-entitled case in

Dept. No., 10 , the Honarable Judge Walsh - Presiding, on the: 18th day of
August 20 14

L hereby certify that I am familiar with, and will comply with Supreme Court Rules 229-246, inclusive. If this request is being
submitted less than twenty-four (24) hours before the above-described proceedings commenge, the following facts provide good
canse for the Court to grant the request on such short notice: .

. It is further understood that any media cemera pooling arrsngements shall be the sole responsibility of the media and must be
arranged prior to coverage, without asking for the Court to mediate disputes.

Dated this D1 oy of_AUGuUS w4 .

SIGNATURE: ELM@ D~ pHoONE: (702)871-3345

I e e e T L L B g L R TR U A A M A S N o e

IT IS HEREBY ORDERED THAT:

[1 . Tbe mediarequest is denied because it was submitted less than 24 hours before the seheduled procesding was to
comnence, and no “good cause” has been shown to justify granting the request o shorter notice.

(] The media request is denied for the following reasons:

(G The inedia request is granted. The requested media access remains in effect for each and every hearing in the above-
entftled case, at the discretion of the Court, and unless otherwise notified. This order is made in accordance with
Supreme Court Rules 225-246, inclusive, st the discretion of the judge, and is subject 1o reconsideration upon snction
of any party to the action. Media access tay be revoked if it is showm that eccess is distracting the partisipsnts,.
impairing the dignity of the Court, or otherwise materially interfering with the administration of ‘Justice.

e ommEr:_(gordinate W/ Bgiliff L camera set wp

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that this document shali be made a part of the record of the proceedings in this cage.

Dated this / [ ’,‘c\lay of A—tf,j 2 20 lf

DISTRICT COURT JUDGE

12



EIGHTH JUDICIAL DISTRICT COURT

CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA
) |
State of Nevada ; ;
) casE No: o-14-300032-1
PLAINTIFF ) 1 0 |
' ) DEPT. NO:
-VS- )
)
Natasha Jackson ) COTIFICATION OF
) MEDIA REQUEST
DEFENDANT )
)

TOQ: COUNSEL OF RECORD IN THE ABOVE-CAPTIONED CASE:

You are hereby notified pursuant to Supreme Court Rules 229-246, inclusive, that media representatives

Vi
from KTNV . have requested to obtain permission to broadcast, televise, record or

take photographs of all hearings in this case. Any objection should be filed at least 24 hours prior to the subject

hearing.
DATED this | 1 dayor UGS ,20 1 4 \
/\J Eighth Judi/yiél District Cotirt
CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE BY FACSIMILE TRANSMISSION
[ hereby certify that on the 11 day of Aug ust , 20 14 , service of the foregoing

was made by facsimile transmission only, pursuant to Nevada Supreme Court Rules 229-246, inclusive, this date by

faxing a true and correct copy of the same to each Attorney of Record addressed as follows:

Plaintiff Defendant
District Attorney Public Defender
(702) 455-2294 702-455-5112
/ AN Eighth Judicial District Court

13
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29 CLERK OF THE COURT
AUG 11 200 Eighth Judicial District Court

DISTRICT COURT ADMIN Clark County, Nevada

3 | ¢ Jy-B69032
! f‘))l‘f'\l‘e{. of- N«Eﬁctﬂ% Case No.: | .,,%;C}(_}C)'S’Z_.

Powered by GoldFax 8/8/2014 I14:19

)]
}
}
5 ¥
Plaintiff, } Dept Wo.: ‘ { ¥
6 }
vs. }
7 \ }
MMM } MEDTIA REQUEST AND ORDER FOR CAMERA
8 } ACCESS TO COURT PROCEEDINGS
Defendant: } .
9 }

SR Bar I - \'
__%;%ﬂmm of V\m\} - T- C/Lf\' 3 ; requests permission
11 to br'oadeast, record, photograph or televise proceedings in the above-entitled

|| <¢ase in the courtrcom of Dept. No. ], the Honorsble Judge Wira NG ;
12 || commencing on the [% day ¢f AU\.O\R'— . 201_’-']_.

13 I certify that I am familiar with the contents of Wevada Supreme Court

Rules 228-249, inclusive, and understand this form MUST be submitted to the
14| court at least SEVENTY-TWO (72) hours before the proceedings commence, unleas

good cause can be shown, IT IS FURTHER UNDERSTOOD that approved media must

15 arrange ocamsra pooling prior to any hearing, without asking this Court to
16 mediate disputes.
DATED this % day of M‘\.U) 20 .
17 - Y —E_' JEL f")y/
|
i =
18 Media Representative
19 The Court determines camera access to proceedings, in compliance with the

court’s policy, O WOULD FI WOULD NOT distract participants, impair the
20| dignity of the court or otherwise materially interfere with the achi_ev'ement 'of

a fair trial or hearing herein; COOf-qu}t'. W/ &LI'IIPP)%FJQ}-% }

21

Therefére, the Court hereby [J DENIES EI/GRANTST permission for camera i
22 accessa to of . s “
23 as recquested for each and every hearing on the above-entitled caas, at the i
discretion of the judge, and unless otherwise notified. This Order is in 4
24 accordance with Nevada Supreme Court Rules 229-249, inclusive, and is subject
to reconsideration upon motion of any party to the action.
25

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that this entry shall be made a part of the record
26 || ©of the proceedings in this case.

27 DATED this !l;&t‘lay of éuj . 20(%.

28

istrict Court Judge

Far Form 72 hours prior to Lthe hearing to (702)671-4535 )

o B
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EIGHTH JUDICIAL DISTRICT COURT

CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA
)
State of Nevada ; |
] CASE NO: C-14-300032-1
PLAINTIFF ) 10
) DEPT. NO:
-VS- )
)
Natasha Jackson ) NOTIFICATION OF
) MEDIA REQUEST
DEFENDANT )
)

TO: COUNSEL OF RECORD IN THE ABOVE-CAPTIONED CASE:

You are hereby notified pursuant to Supreme Court Rules 229-246, inclusive, that media representatives

7
from KSNV have requested to obtain permission to broadcast, televise, record or

take photographs of all hearings in this case. Any objection should be filed at least 24 hours prior to the subject

hearing,

August 5 14

e oo

/ .  Eighth Judicial District Court

DATED this 1 1 day of

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE BY FACSIMILE TRANSMISSION

11 August 14

[ hereby certify that on the day of , service of the foregoing

was made by facsimile transmission only, pursuant to Nevada Supreme Court Rules 229-246, inclusive, this date by

faxing a true and correct copy of the same to each Attorney of Record addressed as follows:

Plaintiff Defendant
District Attorney Public Defender
(702) 455-2294 702-455-5112

Eighth Judicial District Court

14
I\
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Augitbah 230 o, 2405 P 2

“518 20 EIGHTH JUDICIAL DISTRICT COURT Electronically Fili™
DISTRICT COURT ADMIN CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA ['//, LIL"" ﬁﬂD D?%&?OM- 09:57:44 AM

State of Nevada .
% CASE NO :«EQQQ@% i.W
%' DEPT. NO: !?D CLERK OF THE COURT

MEDILA REQUEST AND ORDER ALLOWING
CAMERA ACCESS TO COURT PROCEEDINGS
* Please fax to (702) 671-4548 to ensure that
DEFENDANT ) the tequest will be processed a3 quickly as possible,

)

e), of ‘K \} \/ u ;@(6 (media organization),

hereby requests permissivn to broadeast, recdrd, photograph or televise proceedings in the above-entitled case in

Dept, No, , the Honorable Iudge A 6 Presiding, on the \ day of
D(\\ Ol ,20 \,(—’t .

I hereby ccn@d&tl am familiar with, and will comply with Supreme Court Rules 229-246, inclusive. If this request is being
submitted less than twenty-four (24) hours before the above-described proceedings commence, the following facts provide good
cauge for the Court to grant the request.on such short notice: '

It is further understood that any media camera pooling arrangements shiall be the sole responsibility of the media and must be
airanged prior to coverage, without asking for the Court to mediate disputes.

Dated this l7 ay of IQ1/( oK »20 /

| 2N B !

SIGNATURE? Q A l - PHONE: M@ -
\YAVVAY

WREKAAXEEXXTREARTRY ****ﬁ***(*ék**********ﬁ**ﬂ******k******** REFERPRRR RV SR TR ARTAERANTALN S

IS HEREBY ORDERED THAT:

(] The media request is denied becavse it was submitted less than 24 hours befors the scheduled proceeding was to
commence, and no “good causc” has been shown Lo justify granting the request on shorter notice.

[] ‘e media request is denied for the following reasons:

[\-]'/ The media request is granted. The requested meodia sceess remains in effect for each and every hearing in the sbove-
entitled case, at the discretion of the Coutt, and unless otherwise notified. This order is made in accordance with
Supreme Court Rules 229-246, inclusive, at the discretion of the judge, and is subject to reconsideralion upon motion
of any party to the action. Media access may be revoked if it is shown that access is distracting the participants,
impairing the dignity of the Court, or utherwise matetially intetfering with the edministration of justice.

v’ OTHER: ‘("\'(']d’r':dimk Vi B EE

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED tht this document shall be made 3 patt of the vecord of the proceedings in this case. C L

PDated this i g‘?k day of A’L‘Cj
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EIGHTH JUDICIAL DISTRICT COURT

CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA
State of Nevada g S ‘_
)  CASENO: C-14-300032-1
PLAINTIFF ) 10
) DEPT.NO: '~
-VS- g
)
Ne_atasha Walsh Jackson ) COTIFICATION OF
) MEDIA REQUEST
DEFENDANT )
)

TO: COUNSEL OF RECORD IN THE ABOVE-CAPTIONED CASE:

You are hereby notified pursuant to Supreme Court Rules 229-246, inclusive, that media representatives

KvWU

from have requested to obtain permission to broadcast, televise, record or

take photographs of all hearings in this case. Any obj ection should be filed at least 24 hours prior to the subject

hearing,

DATED this 10 day o Pugust

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE BY FACSIMILE TRANSMISSION

18

I hereby certify that on the da

;o August 3014

, service of the foregoing

was made by facsimile transmission only, pursuant to Nevada Supreme Court Rules 229-246, inclusive, this date by

faxing a true and correct copy of the same to each Attorney of Record addressed as follows:

Plaintiff ' Defendant
District Attorney Public Defender
(702) 455-2294 (702) 455-5112
. A
Eighth Judicial District Court
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AUG-12-2014 TUE 10:21 AM KLAS TV FAX NO. 7027922977 P, 01/01
- ] Electronically Filed
KECEWVED 08/19/2014 07:47:57 AM

AUG 12 20% ‘
AUG 1 EIGHTH JUDICIAL DISTRICT COURT s Sfiussnn

DISTRICT COURT ADMIN CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA
Siate of NEVada ) : CLERK OF THE COURT
’ ) CASE NO: C-14-300032-1
PLAINTIFF )
)  DEPT.No: 10
-VS- )
) MEDIA REQUEST AND ORDER ALLOWING
Natasha Jackson ) CAMERA ACCESS TO COURT PROCEEDINGS
. ) * Please fox ro (702) 671-4548 1o ensure that
DEFENDANT ) the request will be processed as quickly a5 possible.
)
Guy DeMarco (name), of 8 News NOW (media organization},
hereby requosts permikkion to broadeast, reenrd, photograph ar televise proceedings in the sbove-enticl ed case in
Dept. Na. 10 _ the Honorable Judgc“leSSIe Walsh Presiding, on the 18 day of

August 2014

1 hereby certify that § am famsliar with, and will comply with Supreme. Court Rules 229-246, inclusive. If this raquest is being
subnmited less than twenty-four (24) hours before [he above-deseribed proceedings commence, the following facts provide good
cause for the Court to grant the request on such short notice:

It is further understood fhar any media camera pooling arrangements shall be the sole responsibility of the mediu und must be
arranged prior to caverage, withont asking for the Coust w mediats disputes. i

Dated this 12 day of AUQUSt .20 /lf

SIGNATURE: ,éé% PHONE: 702-792-8870

ww'k-J.-*-k****wwﬁr'k*#**‘k*ww‘k*‘k*****wwf;**#**ww*******Wﬂ:ﬂ:*****s'n’!'J-'i'%‘***Ww**##****W##*****Gﬂ\"k*

IT IS HEREBY ORDERED THAT:

Il The media request is denied beeause it was subrnimed less than 24 hours before the scheduled proceeding was ta
commence, end 80 "'good couse™ has heen shown Lo justify granting the request on shorter notice,

| The media request is denied for the followlng reasons:

,Ll/ The media request is gramted. The requested media access Temains in effect for cach and every heaving in the above-
entitled cose, at the discretion of the Court, and unless othervwise notified. This order is made in sceardance with
Supreme Court Rules 229-246, inclusive, at the discretion of the judge, and is sulject to reconsideration upon mation
of any pasty to the action. Media access may be revaked if'it is shown that access iy distracting the partivipants,
impairing the digniry of the Court, or otherwise materially interfering with the administrution of justice.

9~ OTHER; (Ef‘ﬁh'i fa) Mk !/\// Ba\ﬂ.m}

1T IS FURTHER ORDERED that this document shall be zaade a part of the record of the proceedings in this case.

Dated this /f")(ﬂ'}iny of ﬂ’lif}} 20/ ?l
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EIGHTH JUDICIAL DISTRICT COURT
CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA

MEDIA REQUEST
DEFENDANT :

)
State of Nevada ; o
] CASE NO: C-14-300032-1
PLAINTIFF ) ' 10 '
) DEPT.NO: 'Y
-VS- )
)
Natasha Jackson ) NOTIFICATION OF
)
)
}

TO: COUNSEL OF RECORD IN THE ABOVE-CAPTIONED CASE:

You are hereby notified pursuant to Supreme Court Rules 229-246, inclusive, that media representatives

8 News Now KLAS

from have requested to obtain permission to broadcast, televise, record or

take photographs of all hearings in this case. Any objection should be filed at least 24 hours prior to the subject

hearing.

- pATEDtis 12tN 4o or AUgust 2014

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE BY FACSIMILE TRANSMISSION

14

, 20 , service of the foregoing

2th August

I hereby certify that on the 1 day of

was made by facsimile transmission enly, pursuant to Nevada Supreme Court Rules 229-246, inclusive, this date by

faxing a true and correct copy of the same to each Attomey of Record addressed as follows:

Plaintiff Defendant

District Attorney Public Defender
(702) 455-2294 (702} 455-5112
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LAS VEGAS, NEVADA, AUGUST 7, 2014

* kK Kk X x Kk %k

DANETTE L. ANTONACCI,

having been first duly sworn to faithfully
and accurately transcribe the following

proceedings to the best of her ability.

MS. WECKERLY: Good afternoon. My name is
Pam Weckerly. I'm a chief deputy district attorney.
With me is Michelle Fleck who is also a chief deputy
district attorney. We've been assigned to prosecute the
State of Nevada versus Natasha Galenn Jackson. I
believe you all have a copy of the proposed Indictment
which is Grand Jury Case Number 13BGJ137X. 1Is that
correct, you all have a copy of that?

THE FOREPERSON: Yes.

MS. WECKERLY: And we'll have that as
Exhibit 1.

I know from being here before that this
Grand Jury has been instructed on the crimes that are
alleged in the Indictment. Those crimes include
burglary while in possession of a firearm, attempt
robbery with use of a deadly weapon, murder with use of

a deadly weapon, attempt murder with use of a deadly
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weapon, first degree kidnapping, robbery with use of a
deadly weapon, burglary while in possession of a deadly
weapon and attempt home invasion. Although you all have
been to my recollection instructed on the elements of
those offenses, if you'll just bear with me I'd like to
read you some instructions on the law.

Burglary is defined as follows: Every
person who, by day or night, enters a dwelling with the
intent to commit a larceny or assault is liable for
burglary.

Robbery is the unlawful taking of personal
property from the person of another, or in his presence,
against his will, by means of force or violence or fear
of injury to his person or property or the person or
property of a member of his family or anyone in his
company at the time of the robbery. Such force or fear
must be used to obtain or retain possession of the
property, to prevent or overcome resistance to the
taking or to facilitate escape.

Conspiracy is an agreement or mutual
understanding between two or more persons to commit a
crime. To be guilty of conspiracy, a person must intend
to commit or to aid in the commission of the specific
crime agreed to. The crime is the agreement to do

something unlawful; it does not matter whether it was
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successful or not.

The elements of an attempt to commit a
crime are: 1. The intent to commit the crime; 2.
Performance of some act towards its commission; and 3.
Failure to consummate its commission.

Attempted murder is the performance of an
act or acts which tend, but fail, to kill a human being,
when such acts are done with express malice, namely with
the deliberate intention unlawfully to kill.

Murder is the unlawful killing of a human
being with malice aforethought, either express or
implied. Malice aforethought means the intentional
doing of a wrongful act without legal cause or excuse oOr
what the law considers adequate provocation. It is the
condition of the mind, or the condition of the mind
described as malice aforethought may arise not alone
from anger, hatred, revenge or from particular ill will,
spite or grudge toward the person killed, but may result
from any unjustifiable or unlawful motive or purpose to
injure another which proceeds from a heart fatally bent
on mischief or with reckless disregard of consequences
and social duty.

A murder which is perpetrated or which is
committed during the perpetration or attempted

perpetration of a robbery or a burglary or a home

26




10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

invasion is murder of the first degree whether the
killing was intentional, unintentional or accidental.

Premeditated, willful and deliberate murder
is another form of first degree murder. That murder
includes, or that form of murder includes all three
elements —— willfulness, deliberation and premeditation.

Willfulness is the intent to kill.

Deliberation is the process of determining
upon a course of action to kill as the result of thought
including weighing the reasons for and against the
action and considering the consequences of the action.

Premeditation is a design, a determination
to kill, distinctly formed in the mind by the time of
the killing.

A deadly weapon is defined as any
instrument which, if used in the ordinary manner
contemplated by its design and construction, will or is
likely to cause substantial bodily harm or death; or a
weapon, device, instrument, material or substance which,
under the circumstances in which it is used, attempted
to be used or threatened to be used, is readily capable
of causing substantial bodily harm or death.

Every person who willfully seizes,
confines, inveigles, entices, decoys, or abducts a

person by any means whatsoever with the intent to hold
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or detain, or who holds or detains the person for
ransom, for the purpose of committing a robbery, is
liable for kidnapping in the first degree.

Any person who, by day or night, forcibly
enters an inhabited dwelling without permission of the
owner, resident or lawful occupant, whether or not the
person is present at the time of entry, is liable for
invasion of the home.

A person is not guilty of a crime if the
person participated in the crime under duress. The
defense of duress is available only to a defendant who
in good faith reasonably believes that he or she would
suffer immediate and serious injury or death if she did
not participate; and 2. That he or she had no
opportunity to escape such serious and immediate injury
or death unless he or she participated.

The case that you are going to hear
evidence on shortly has received some media attention.
In your consideration of the charges and the evidence
that we present to you this afternoon we ask that your
deliberations be only confined to the witness testimony
and the exhibits that are presented to the Grand Jury
and ask that you disregard anything that you heard
outside of the Grand Jury room in the media or from any

other source other than what's presented in this room.
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Is there anyone who feels they cannot abide by that
admonition to decide the case based on what you hear
this afternoon?

Okay. Thank you very much. Does anyone
have any questions about the elements of the offenses?
Yes, sir.

A JUROR: T notice in a couple of the
charges i1s the word in quotes Cody.

MS. WECKERLY: Correct.

A JUROR: Will that be explained?

MS. WECKERLY: That will be explained, yes,
sir. Any other questions?

Okay. I'm not seeing any hands so we will
proceed with our first witness. Thank you.

MS. FLECK: Good afternoon. And our first
witness will be Dr. Lary Simms.

THE FOREPERSON: Please raise your right
hand.

You do solemnly swear the testimony you are
about to give upon the investigation now pending before
this Grand Jury shall be the truth, the whole truth, and
nothing but the truth, so help you God?

THE WITNESS: I do.

THE FOREPERSON: Please be seated.

You are advised that you are here today to
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give testimony in the investigation pertaining to the
offenses of burglary while in possession of a firearm,
attempt robbery with use of a deadly weapon, murder with
use of a deadly weapon, attempt murder with use of a
deadly weapon, first degree kidnapping, robbery with use
of a deadly weapon, burglary while in possession of a
deadly weapon, and attempt invasion of the home,
involving Natasha Jackson.

Do you understand this advisement?

THE WITNESS: Yes.

THE FOREPERSON: Please state your first
and last name and spell both for the record.

THE WITNESS: My name is Lary Simms.
Spelled L-A-R-Y, S-I-M-M-S.

THE FOREPERSON: Thank you.

MS. FLECK: Thank you.

LARY SIMMS,

having been first duly sworn by the Foreperson of the
Grand Jury to testify to the truth, the whole truth,

and nothing but the truth, testified as follows:

EXAMINATION

BY MS. FLECK:

0. Good afternoon, Doctor. How are you
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employed?

A. I'm a forensic pathologist at the Clark
County Coroner's Office.

Q. How long have you been a forensic
pathologist?

A. Well, I started doing forensic cases about
21 years ago. I've been working at the coroner's office
for almost 16 years.

Q. And ultimately, kind of in layman's terms,
what you do on a daily basis is autopsies on bodies; is
that correct?

A. Correct.

Q. What kind of training and experience do you
have that allows you to do autopsies?

A, Well, I'm a physician. I'm a licensed
physician in Nevada. I've been in medicine about 35
years. I went through pathology training at Michigan
State University. I did a fellowship in forensic
pathology at the Cook County Medical Examiner's Office.
I'm board certified in anatomic pathology, clinical
pathology and forensic pathology by the American Board
of Pathology. I've done about 10,000 cases.

Q. I'd like to direct your attention then to
July 30th of 2014. Were you working that day at the

Clark County Coroner's Office?
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A. Yes.

Q. And that day did you also have an
opportunity to perform an autopsy on decedent Richard
Ramos?

A. Yes.

Q. How was it that you first came to examine
Mr. Ramos?

A. Well, after the police got through
processing him I examined him.

Q. And so he was brought to the coroner's
office then for you to conduct your examination?

A. Correct.

Q. What's the first thing that you did to

perform your examination?

A. An external examination of the skin
surfaces.
Q. What if any significant findings did you

see on Mr. Ramos' body when you did your external
examination?

A. Well, the main thing I could find is he had
a gunshot wound on the back of the right shoulder.

Q. Anything else when you did your external
examination that you remember as significant?

A. Not right offhand, no.

Q. Maybe we should lay a little foundation
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actually as to Mr. Ramos. Can you just describe what
kind of, he's obviously a man. Describe anything else
about him, any physical descriptors.
A. He was Hispanic and a fairly stocky person.
Q. After you did your external examination did

you do an internal examination of the body?

A. Yes.
Q. What if anything did you find?
A. That bullet came in the shoulder and went

down through the body and of course through the internal
organs and there was a large amount of blood loss
internally.

Q. Did that bullet then transect through
certain organs of Mr. Ramos' body?

A. I believe it went through the lung. It
definitely, or I believe it went through the liver also
and also through the right kidney I believe.

Q. What based upon those injuries would be the
mechanism of death in this case?

A. He would have lost a large amount of blood.
That's called exsanguination.

Q. And just for the ladies and gentlemen of
the Grand Jury, when I say mechanism of death, what does
that mean to you?

A. Just the abnormal events that led to his
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death.

Q. So kind of what his body went through in
order to expire which was loss of blood?

A. Yes.

Q. When you did your internal examination was
that consistent with that external wound that you saw on
the back shoulder, back right shoulder of Mr. Ramos?

A, Yes.

Q. At the end of your autopsy did you draw a

conclusion as to the cause of death in this case?

A. Yes.

Q. What was 1t?

A. Gunshot wound of the back of the right
shoulder.

Q. Did you also draw a conclusion as to the

manner of death?

A. Yes.
Q. What was that?
A. Homicide.

MS. FLECK: Nothing further. Thank you.

THE FOREPERSON: Any questions from the
Grand Jury?

By law, these proceedings are secret and
you are prohibited from disclosing to anyone anything

that has transpired before us, including evidence and
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statements presented to the Grand Jury, any event
occurring or statement made in the presence of the Grand
Jury, and information obtained by the Grand Jury.

Failure to comply with this admonition is a
gross misdemeanor punishable by a year in the Clark
County Detention Center and a $2,000 fine. In addition,
you may be held in contempt of court punishable by an
additional $500 fine and 25 days in the Clark County
Detention Center.

Do you understand this admonition?

THE WITNESS: I do.

THE FOREPERSON: Thank you. You're
excused.

MS. FLECK: And the next witness will be
Dominic Ramos.

THE FOREPERSON: Please raise your right
hand.

You do solemnly swear the testimony you are
about to give upon the investigation now pending before
this Grand Jury shall be the truth, the whole truth, and
nothing but the truth, so help you God?

THE WITNESS: I do.

THE FOREPERSON: Thank you.

You are advised that you are here today to

give testimony in the investigation pertaining to the
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offenses of burglary while in possession of a firearm,
attempt robbery with use of a deadly weapon, murder with
use of a deadly weapon, attempt murder with use of a
deadly weapon, first degree kidnapping, robbery with use
of a deadly weapon, burglary while in possession of a
deadly weapon, and attempt invasion of the home,
involving Natasha Jackson.

Do you understand this advisement?

THE WITNESS: Yes.

THE FOREPERSON: Please state your first
and last name and spell both for the record.

THE WITNESS: My name is Dominic Ramos.
First name D-O-M-I-N-I-C, Ramos, R-A-M-0-S.

THE FOREPERSON: Thank you.

MS. FLECK: Thank you.

DOMINIC RAMOS,

having been first duly sworn by the Foreperson of the
Grand Jury to testify to the truth, the whole truth,

and nothing but the truth, testified as follows:

EXAMINATION
BY MS. FLECK:
Q. Good afternoon Dominic.
A. Good afternoon.
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Q. Dominic, where do you live?
A. I live on 3930 Autumn Street, Las Vegas,

Nevada, 89120.

Q. And that's here in Clark County?

A. Yes.

Q. Who do you live on Autumn Street with?

A. I live with my mom, my dad ——- well, my
dad —-- and my little sister and little brother.

0. What's your mom's name?

A. My mom's name is Julie Ramos. Do you want

me to spell that?

Q. I think we're okay with Julie Ramos.

A. Okay.

Q. You mentioned a sister. What's her name?

A, Jasmine Ramos.

Q. And your other brother, your little
brother?

A, My little brother, Michael Ramos.

Q. And then you mentioned your father. What

was his name?

A. Richard Ramos.

Q. I want to direct your attention back to
July 29th of this year 2014. Early morning hours around
6:30 in the morning, were you and all of the people that

you just mentioned, being your mom, your dad, your
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sister and your little brother, all home at the Autumn

house?
A. Yes.
Q. Were you sleeping?
A. I was sleeping, yes.
Q. How was it that you woke up that morning?
A. I woke up to my mom yelling my name.
Q. What, besides your name, what else do you

remember her saying?

A. She just said "help, Dominic, help."

Q. What did you do then based upon hearing
that?

A. I came out of my room and my sister came

out of the room at the same time and we went into the
living room where we saw these people, my dad on top of
the guy and my mom getting her hair pulled by that lady.

Q. Describe your house to us. When you say
that you and your sister each came out of your room,
does that mean the two of you had separate rooms?

A. Yeah. I have my room where, you know where
we came out the window, and then my sister and my little
brother sleep in the room right next to me. So when we
came out we meet each other like this.

Q. You're kind of motioning with your two

hands together. So you two both come out of the room at
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the same time —-

A, Yeah.

Q. —— and you meet up in the hallway?

A. Yes.

Q. Is this a single story home or a double

story home?

A. Single.

Q. So when you both meet up in the hallway
what did you do?

A. We look at each other like what's happening
and then we just go into the hallway and we peek out and
we see these people.

Q. Once you get out of that hallway what is it
that you're looking into, what room do you face?

A, My living room where all the couches and TV
and stuff are and, just that, yeah.

Q. Besides your mom yelling for help was
anyone else saying anything?

A. Not at that exact moment, no.

Q. Now you say that you saw a man and a woman;

is that right?

A. Yes.

Q. Had you ever seen either of those people
before?

A, Never.
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Q. Describe what the man looked like.

A. The man was tall and he had white skin.
Like pretty much I think a shaved head, like if you
could see any hairs like little blond I guess or, I
don't know, it was just a shaved head. I believe he had
tattoos on his neck or maybe leg. And then the lady,
she was short, African American lady, had black hair
coming down maybe to her shoulders. And I don't
remember what they were wearing. I think he was wearing

like a black shirt and shorts.

Q. What was the man doing?

A. When I first got out there?

0. Yeah.

A. He was on the ground and my dad was pinned

on top of him so he wasn't really doing anything. My
dad was just I think, I don't know what he's doing,
banging his head, I don't know, fighting over the gun,
and then, yeah.

Q. So you said fighting. Did the two of them
appear to be in a struggle?

A. They were both in a struggle the whole time
for that gun.

Q. When you say gun, where did you first see
itv

A. I saw it on the floor like a little bit
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further away from him where he couldn't reach it, but
like my dad was pretty much, was able to grab the gun

and then be able to hold it the whole time.

Q. So was this the floor of the living room?
A. Yes.

Q. And your dad was on his back?

A. He was on, in the beginning he was on top

of the guy and then afterwards he was able to get the
gun, he was on his stomach.

Q. Okay. I'm sorry. So when you first came
out your dad was on top of the man, he was on his back,

and the gun was to the side of them?

A. Yes.

Q. Tell me what happened then throughout their
struggle?

A. Throughout their struggle, my dad was able

to get the gun and he was on his stomach, and then those
two were fighting it out and then I don't really know
from there, I was trying to help my mom out.

Q. So as your dad and the man struggled with
each other and for the gun, what was going on with your
mom?

A. My mom, she was getting her hair pulled and
then she was stabbing my, that lady was stabbing my mom

with the yellow screwdriver on her back.
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Q. So when you first saw the two of them, tell
me the position of your mom.

A, My mom was like, her hair was getting
pulled like, vyou know, so she was having to go backwards
because her hair was getting pulled and then that lady
was stabbing her like that.

Q. Was the woman standing behind your mom

pulling her hair from behind?

A. From where I saw yeah. This is in the
beginning.
0. And then as she was pulling her hair was

she stabbing her with the screwdriver?

A. Yes.

Q. And you said, what color did you say the
screwdriver was?

A. Yellow.

Q. At that point in time do you remember
anyone saying anything?

A. All I know is when she told me to get her
off of her I did. I got her off her and then my mom

said "They're going to kill us. They're going to kill

us." And then the black lady said "We won't, we
promise." And then that's all I remember hearing her
say.

Q. When you say when she told me to get her
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off of her, who was telling you to get ——
A. My mom told me.
Q. Your mom was saying "get her off of me,"”

meaning the woman?

A. Yes.
Q. You said the woman was saying "we're not
going to kill you." Was she asking for anything or

demanding anything while she was there?
A. No. Like I was wondering why they're in

our house in the first place, what do they want.

Q. Did she ever ask for any property from your
home?

A. No.

Q. So then what happens after you get the

woman off of your mom?

A, I had to hold her for a sec because I'm
trying to make sure my mom gets away and my mom runs
away and goes to check on the other kids.

Q. So you mentioned that your sister was there
and that your little brother was there. During all of
this struggle where was your sister?

A. She was in the hallway. No, first she saw,
she came with me to see but she didn't really get
herself seen by then. So she went back to my dad's

office with my little brother. They picked up the house
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phone, called 911. So they were out of the way the
whole picture like. Which I'm glad, they weren't in

where we were.

Q. Then at some point you said that your mom
leaves?

A. My mom leaves, yes.

Q. Now you mentioned that your dad got control

of that firearm at some point in time?

A. Yes.
Q. Do you remember a shot ever going off?
A. Yes. There was a shot that went off in the

same room I was in, that living room, and I told
yesterday I don't know who shot the gun, it could have
been my dad trying to shot it or it could have been the
guy on top of him trying to. I don't know who pulled

the trigger or not but it went off in the room.

Q. How many shots did you hear?
A. Just one.
Q. Did you ever see your dad indicate that he

had been shot or as you were in the house that day did

you know whether or not he'd been shot?

A. I had no idea. I didn't hear him talk that
whole day.

Q. You said that your mom left?

A. Yes.
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Q. Where did she go?

A. With, I know she, what she did was she got
Michael, went out, opened my room, my bedroom, went out
the bedroom window and then went across the street with
Michael.

Q. Your bedroom window, was it able to just be
opened up?

A. It's able to just slide across.

Q. And if you were to go out that bedroom
window what would you go onto; a street, the backyard,
the side yard? What's outside that —-

A. You would see like, there's like we have
this, like our side yard, it has dirt everywhere. We
were going to plant grass and stuff but we never had the
chance. But they were laying on top of there and then
jumped down the wall that we have on our house and then

go across the street to the neighbor's house.

Q. Once they left was your sister still in the
house?

A. Yes. She was still in like the hallway I
think.

Q. Were you there when she called 911 or did

you just know of that later?
A. She told me that later.

Q. So then once your siblings and your mom had
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left the house, were you still inside?

A,
yeah.

Q.
woman or did
time?

A.

dad and then

day?
A,

Q.

Once my mom —— oh yeah, I was still inside,

At that point in time were the man and the

they ask you for anything at that point in

No. Oh, just to get the gun back from my
they would leave.

They were demanding that back?

They wouldn't leave without it.

Do you know how they got to your house that

What I've been told that —-

Well, yeah and let's not —— just going back

to kind of relying on what you knew at that particular

time.

A.

Q.

Oh, what I knew at that time?

Yeah.

No, I had no idea.

You had no idea how they got there?
Yeah.

At that time did you know how it was that

they intended to leave just based on anything that they

said?

A,

They wanted, at that point in time no I
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didn't know what they wanted. I didn't know how they
were going to leave until later when they wanted the car
keys from me after picking up the gun.

Q. Okay. So you said that they first were
demanding the gun back?

A, Yeah.

Q. And then at some point after that they were
demanding car keys?

A. Yeah. This is after when he was able to
get the gun back and pointed it at me and say "car
keys."

Q. So tell us then what happens after your mom
and your siblings leave, your dad and the man are still
in a struggle. What happened?

A. After I see, you know the guy hurting my
dad, I'm still holding that girl. So I have to push her
off of me and then from there on I really don't notice
her, I'm just watching this guy stab my dad with the
screwdriver that, I was able to throw that screwdriver
out of her hand in the beginning but he was able to pick
it up and started hitting my dad in the back with it.
And I saw it go all the way through his back.

Q. You said that you saw the woman stabbing
your mom in the back. Did you ever see the woman do

anything to your father?
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A. No, I didn't see it. Only my mom would
know.

Q. And how about the man, was his attention on
your dad or did he ever do anything to your mom?

A. The guy was mainly attacking my dad. He

didn't do anything to my mom. Which I don't think so.

Q. So then what happened?

A. After I saw him stabbing my dad?

Q. Yes.

A. Yeah, he was stabbing my dad. He did about

two, three times. I think I'd say three. Like two of
them actually went through his back. And then he was
able to get the gun from my dad because he must have
been unconscious or something because he finally just
was able to pull it out. So he pulled it up, aimed it
at me, because after I was pushing him too many times he
aimed it at me and said "All right, give me the car
keys." And where the car keys would usually be, I
turned to the right, there's no keys, not one key's
there. So he told me, I said I can't find them, so he
tells me to find them, you know, yelling at me. So I go
looking through my house, because I think my mom's still
there at the time. So I look calling my mom and I see
her across the street from my dad's office so I'm

thinking to myself I'm going to die or something. And I
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see my sister right there too thinking why didn't she go
with her. But then I see my bedroom door wide open with
the window wide open too so that's our chance to run out
because we're not going to go back and tell him we can't
find the keys.

Q. When you said that he pointed something at
you, was that the firearm?

A. That was the gun, yes.

Q. When he was stabbing your dad in the back,
what was that with?

A. The screwdriver.

Q. The same screwdriver that the woman was
using to stab your mom?

A. Yes.

Q. After you looked through the house for the
keys and you saw that window was open, what did you do?

A. My sister and I, we jumped out that window.
I went out first and then she followed. She was able to
lock the door first and then she followed me. We jumped
out that wall, you know, it's just a little wall, and
then we ran behind our house, it's a street called
Almondwood and there's a lot of other houses back there
too. Yeah, we hid behind that RV.

Q. Before you went through the house to look

for the keys, kind of the last time you saw your dad,
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how was he positioned?

A. He was on his stomach right, like right in
the beginning of when you enter my house there's carpet
and then there's the hard floor. He was like right on
the line of where you separate from your carpet and the
hard floor. So I saw him there on his stomach. That's
what I saw.

Q. Once you and Jasmine got to Almondwood what
did you do?

A. We, I told her follow me, we went, there
was this RV that I've seen there so many times from
walking my dog. So we, I told her we're hiding behind
there. We hid pretty much underneath that RV. And she
was panicking, I told her stop, stop talking, you know,

they could be coming after us.

Q. And so what did you do then?

A. We hid there for about maybe four to five
minutes.

Q. And so you hid under the RV for about four

to five minutes?

A. Yeah.
Q. And what caused you to come out of the RV?
A. We heard that guy's voice. He was like

calling, I guess what was her name, and I panicked, I

don't know, 1f he was behind us. Cause I couldn't tell
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where his voice was coming from, if he was in another

person's house or if he was following us.

Q. Same voice that you heard in your house?

A. Yes.

Q. And vyou said that he was calling her name?
Yes?

A. Yes.

Q. Based upon what he was saying, did it

appear to you that they were not together?

A. Yes, that's what it appeared like.

Q. That he was searching out for her
someplace?

A. Yes.

Q. So what did you do?

A, I went out to check to see if he was
coming. I went out like a little bit down where we

first came back to like our house, down that street
again, Almondwood, and I went to go see if he was coming
but I saw that lady coming instead, whatever her name

was, the black lady.

Q. The same woman who had been in your house?
A. Yes.

Q. Was she alone or was she with the man?

A. She was alone.

Q. Did you ever see him?
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A. No, not after the house.

Q. Was Jasmine with you or

under the RV?

A. She stayed under the RV.
Q. Where did you go?
A. I went to check to make

coming. I kind of ignored the woman

had she stayed

sure he wasn't

coming through

because she didn't seem threatening at the time.

Q. Did you say anything to

her?

A. I told her "Where's my mom?" And then she

said "I don't know. I don't know."

And kept walking.

Q. Did you go back to the house or did you go

back to the RV?

A. I went back, Jasmine came following behind

me and then we went back to the house.

Q. Once you got back to the house what did you

do?

A. We —— the cops were there so they were just

coming into our house and they asked

us 1f there's

anyone inside and I said "just my dad."

Q. Okay. You then met with police officers
there?

A. Yes.

Q. And then did you locate Michael and your
mom?
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A. Yeah. I actually went inside my house
again to see, because I didn't know where Michael was, I
thought maybe he was hiding underneath a bed so I went
to go check.

Q. Now eventually you had an opportunity to go
back into your house; is that right?

A. Yes.

Q. And what if anything did you see there that
weren't there before the man and the woman had arrived?

A. I went back to go check to go get our dog
later on, they let us, thank God they let us. So I went
back, looked in my room, and then on top of my bed I see
these bolt cutters and then I see this pocket knife in
like a little gray case I believe it was. And those
aren't mine so, you know.

Q. So bolt cutters and a knife in like a
sheath or a case?

A. Yeah, that's exactly what it was.

Q. Was there a car parked outside of your

house at that morning?

A. At that time?

0. Yeah.

A. When we went back in? Just a bunch of cop
cars.

Q. Sorry, that was poorly worded.
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That morning around 6:30 when the man and
the woman first arrived at your house ——
A, Oh.
Q. —-— was there a car parked outside of your
home, one of your family's cars?
A. No. Just the cars that we drive in. I
didn't really look out the window when they first came

so I don't know 1f there was a car or not.

Q. But your family's cars were there?

A. Yeah.

Q. Do you have a garage at the house?

A. We do have a garage.

Q. But do you normally park your cars outside

the garage?
A, Yes, we park them outside. We have too

much stuff in our garage.

Q. Most people do?

A. We're hoarders, yeah.

Q. How many cars outside the house?

A. Two.

0. Two cars. In the driveway or in front of

the house on the curb?
A. They're, they're usually in the driveway.
We would only park them on the curb if I wanted to play

basketball or something. But yeah, they're in our
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driveway.
Q. Two cars right in the driveway?
A. Yes.
Q. Whose cars are they?
A. They're both of my parents. My mom usually

takes the white, sorry, like the Honda Civic I believe,

I don't even know anymore. And then the black one is a

Toyota that my dad drives mainly more. It's our back-up
car.

Q. Now after you were able to go back in the
house and get the dog, that kind of thing, did you have
an opportunity then to speak with detectives in this
case”?

A. Yes, we talked to the detectives. We were
hanging out across the street and they would come to us
saying, you know, we need to ask you some questions.
There was a lady that took our photos to make sure if we
have anything on our skin that they can use. They
wanted to take my shirt but I wasn't wearing a shirt the
whole time that happened. I was able to get one when I
went back in.

Q. At some point did you actually sit down and
do an interview with the detectives, tell them
everything that happened?

A. Yeah, we did it in his car.
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Q. During that time did they present a photo
line-up to you and ask you if you could identify anyone

that had been in your home?

A. Yes, they did.

Q. And I'm showing you what has been marked as
Grand Jury Exhibit Number 8. Do you recognize this?

A. Yes, I signed that.

Q. So this is writing and your signature?

A. Yes.

Q. What does this appear to be?

A. That's the photo line-up that they showed

me.

MS. FLECK: Okay. Thank you very much.

And I have nothing further for this witness
at this time.

THE FOREPERSON: Any questions from the
Grand Jury?

By law, these proceedings are secret and
you are prohibited from disclosing to anyone anything
that has transpired before us, including evidence and
statements presented to the Grand Jury, any event
occurring or statement made in the presence of the Grand
Jury, and information obtained by the Grand Jury.

Failure to comply with this admonition is a

gross misdemeanor punishable by a year in the Clark
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County Detention Center and a $2,000 fine. In addition,
you may be held in contempt of court punishable by an
additional $500 fine and 25 days in the Clark County
Detention Center.

Do you understand this admonition?

THE WITNESS: I understand.

THE FOREPERSON: Thank you. You're

excused.

THE WITNESS: All right. Thank you.

MS. WECKERLY: Our next witness stepped out
for a drink. If we could take a five minute recess.

(Recess.)

THE FOREPERSON: Please raise your right
hand.

You do solemnly swear the testimony you are
about to give upon the investigation now pending before
this Grand Jury shall be the truth, the whole truth, and
nothing but the truth, so help you God?

THE WITNESS: Yes.

THE FOREPERSON: Please be seated.

You are advised that you are here today to
give testimony in the investigation pertaining to the
offenses of burglary while in possession of a firearm,
attempt robbery with use of a deadly weapon, murder with

use of a deadly weapon, attempt murder with use of a
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deadly weapon, first degree kidnapping, robbery with use
of a deadly weapon, burglary while in possession of a
deadly weapon, and attempt invasion of the home,
involving Natasha Jackson.

Do you understand this advisement?

THE WITNESS: Yes.

THE FOREPERSON: Please state your first
and last name and spell both for the record.

THE WITNESS: Scott Ufert. S-C-0-T-T,
U-F-E-R-T.

THE FOREPERSON: Thank you.

SCOTT UFERT,

having been first duly sworn by the Foreperson of the
Grand Jury to testify to the truth, the whole truth,

and nothing but the truth, testified as follows:

EXAMINATION

BY MS. WECKERLY:

Q. Mr. Ufert, I just ask you to keep your
voice up just a little bit so we can hear you all the
way at the back of the room.

A. Okay.

Q. Sir, how were you employed on July the 29th

of this year, where did you work?
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A. I was working for NDOT for the Freeway

Service Patrol.

Q. And that's the Nevada Department of
Transportation?

A, That's correct.

Q. And you said you worked as a, or in Freeway

Service Patrol?

A. Correct.
Q. And what does that mean you do?
A. Well, what we do is we assist motorists

that are in need of help for flat tires, out of gas,
small maintenance fixes that we can do on the side of
the road within 15 to 30 minute time limit to safely get
them off the freeway.

Q. And do you work by yourself or do you have
another co-worker who rides along with you?

A. We work by ourselves.

Q. And is the wvehicle that you ride in, 1is
that clearly marked as a Nevada Department of

Transportation vehicle?

A. Yes, it is.

Q. Did you work a particular shift on that
day?

A. Yes, I worked my regular shift. 1It's

4:30 a.m. to 1:30 p.m.
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Q. And are you assigned a particular route?

A. Yes, I am. US 95 and Wagon Wheel to US 95
and Martin Luther King Boulevard.

Q. And that morning did you come upon a couple

that leads you to be testifying here with us this

afternoon?
A, Yes, I did.
Q. What time was it approximately or to the

best of your recollection that you encountered this

couple?
A. Around 6:34 a.m. in the morning.
Q. And what area generally did you see them?
A. It was exactly one half mile south of

Tropicana off-ramp on the right hand shoulder on the
northbound 95.

Q. And why was it that you stopped for them?
Did they wave you down or did you just see the car?

A. Basically I pulled up behind them because
their flashers were on. I could not really clearly see
what they were doing in the wvehicle. So I pulled up
behind them and was trying to depict on whether or not
to call it in as an assist or to see if they were on the
phone or may have dropped something to pick it up to
drive away.

Q. And do you remember what kind of wvehicle

60




10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

42

they had?
A. It was a Nissan Altima, white in color.
Q. White in color. Sir, I'm showing you Grand

Jury Exhibit 2. Does that car look familiar?

A, That's the same one.

Q. Okay. I'm going to put that on the
overhead for the Grand Jury.

This is Grand Jury Exhibit 2. You said it

was a white car. That's the car?
A. Correct.
0. That we see in the photograph.

Is that the area where you saw them as is

depicted in this photograph?

A. It's the exact same spot.

Q. When you encountered them or when you first
saw them, was the trunk up on the vehicle?

A. No, it was not.

Q. So that was, the trunk was shut. Were the
two people, the occupants, in the vehicle?

A. Yes, both occupants were in the wvehicle.
The male was in the driver's seat and the female was in
the passenger seat.

Q. Now you said you pulled up behind the white
car. So looking at that photograph, your truck or

whatever you drive would have been how far behind the
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white car?

A. About 50 yards. So 150 feet back.

Q. So gquite a ways. And what do you do once
you come to a stop?

A. Once I come to a stop we tend to check to
see what we can, see what they're doing, maybe they're
on the phone, looking at a map, looking at directions,
trying to see if they actually need help or if when we
call it in and get out they usually drive off. So in
that case they looked like they were looking for
something so I was kind of unsure so I didn't prep to
start writing any information down because it looked
like they were just going to drive away.

Q. Now when you say they looked like they were
looking for something, what made you think that? What
did you observe about them?

A, Sporadic movement in the front seats.
Constant looking down, looking left to the right, up
underneath the seat, center console area.

Q. And after you made those observations did
you ever go closer to the vehicle?

A. No, I did not. I stayed at my location
because the male occupant got out of the vehicle and
walked back to my wvan.

Q. And as he approached your wvan, I assume you
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were still in the driver's seat of your wvan?

A. Correct.

Q. Did he walk up quickly, slowly; how would
you describe it?

A, Kind of trying to see, he was walking about
normal speed trying to see who I was. I don't know what
he was looking for or what he was not looking for.

Q. Sure. Did you unroll your window and
address him at all?

A. Yes, I rolled down the window to address
him. He stated that he was looking for a key because it
was push button and stated that the wvehicle shut off on
him while driving so he thought maybe it fell out of his
pocket and it shut the car off. I figured okay, maybe
two or three minutes and we would be returning back to
the freeway. So I did not call it in, I was waiting for
them to find the key.

Q. Did you, I mean was it your understanding
that the key they're looking for is inside the car or on
the outside?

A. They did not state either one.

Q. Did you ever get out of your van to help
them look for the key?

A. No, I did not.

Q. So you sit in your van. And what do you
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see the male do?

A. He went back to the front seat and opened
the door. I stayed for scene safety because when he
opened the door it went past the fog line and into the
lane so I felt it was unsafe so I felt that my lights
were needed. At that time I started to write down the
information of the vehicle and at that time the female
exited the vehicle and came back to my vehicle.

Q. I don't think I asked you this. Just

generally, what did the male look like?

A. Maybe 6-foot tall, lots of tattoos, big
earrings.

Q. Any estimate as to how old he was?

A. Late twenties just by looks.

Q. So you said he is looking and the way he

has his door open it's kind of going over that solid
white line on the freeway?

A. Correct.

Q. And you said the woman comes out and

approaches you?

A. Yes.

Q. You're still sitting in your wvan?

A. Correct.

Q. What does this woman look like?

A. She is African American. About I'd say
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4-foot 11 inches tall. Maybe a hundred and
fifteen pounds.
Q. And does she actually come all the way up

to you and talk to you?

A. Yes. Yes, she did.
Q. What is your conversation with her?
A. She stated the same thing that the male

stated, that she was also looking for the key. She said
it may have possibly fell out at another location where
they stopped, she wasn't too sure, that she had called a
friend to bring them another key and that they were
going to walk off the freeway.

Q. Did she ever say I need to get away from
this guy, I need you to help me?

A. No, she did not.

Q. But she did mention that she had called a
friend and the friend was going to come help them or
pick them up if they walked off the freeway?

A. Correct. They were going to meet him at
his house to pick up a key.

Q. Oh, I see. OQOkay. So they were going to

walk to the friend's house?

A. Yes.
Q. Did you have any advice for them regarding
that plan?
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A. I did advise her that it was unsafe for
them to walk off the freeway and that's why I asked if
she had a ETA on when that friend could come and pick
them up or drop the key off to them and in which she
changed the subject all together and never really

answered my question.

Q. Do you remember anything she said after
that?

A. To tell you the truth no, I don't.

Q. Okay. What happened after you told her,

you know, look, this idea with the friend and walking
off the freeway isn't a good idea?

A. She went back to the wvehicle and kept
looking. At that time the gentleman moved from the
front door to the back door and proceeded to keep
looking for the key.

Q. Now when you say —— are they both looking

for the key at the same time?

A. Correct.

Q. And are they looking inside the car?

A. Yes.

Q. How long do they do that?

A. Maybe four minutes, five minutes.

Q. What happens after that?

A, The girl comes back to the van and states
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that she has a friend on the way and that they're just
going to walk off the freeway and meet up with them to
pick up the key and that I was, that they didn't need my
help anymore. And I advised her again that it's a half
a mile to the exit itself and that it would not be safe
or in their best interest to walk off the freeway.

Q. When she's telling you about the friend
that's coming, was she crying or upset or insistent
about you leaving?

A. No, she was not. She was not crying nor
upset or anything, but she did get kind of fidgety, kind
of jumpy a little bit.

Q. And when you say fidgety, how would you

describe that, like her physical movements or her voice?

A, Sporadic movements.
Q. What happened then?
A. She left the van and walked back to the

vehicle which then the white male walked back to my
vehicle. I figured he had found the key and he was
going to come tell me that he had found the key and that
they were going to get going.

Q. And when he walks back to your vehicle,
this is the second time he's coming to your vehicle,
right?

A. Correct.
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Q. Where is the woman?

A, She is back at the wvehicle.

Q. Back at the white car?

A. Correct.

Q. So when he comes up to you what happens?
A. I don't remember exactly what he said to

me, but at that time he did pull the gun out on me and
told me to get out of the vehicle and give him my work
phone and my radio, which I did, I gave him my radio and
my work phone and I got out of my vehicle and I was

talking to him trying to get him to calm down.

Q. And are you like on the side of the freeway
then?

A. Yes.

Q. And he is on the side with you?

A. He's on the passenger side and I'm on the

driver's side.

Q. Did you get, can you give us any
description of what the gun looked 1like?

A. It is a full black 9-millimeter handgun,
semi-automatic.

Q. Where was the woman while you're, as you
put it trying to calm him down?

A. She was at the vehicle removing their

items.
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Q. And do you remember what those items were?
A, I believe a TV which was found on scene

that was broken.

0. Later, right?

A. Later, yes.

Q. We'll get to that.

A. A black bag that's normally for military.

It normally doesn't come in black, it's usually in like
military print.

Q. And you see her getting stuff out of the
white car, right?

A. Correct.

Q. What is she doing with this stuff? What
does she do with it?

A. She's putting it into my vehicle, into the
back of my wvan.

Q. So she's unloading the white car and
putting the TV and this black bag into your work wvan?

A. Correct.

Q. And at this time you're standing with the

man and he's sitting in the passenger seat?

A. No. We were both standing on the passenger

side of the van in between the jersey barrier and my
van.

Q. What is he saying at that point?
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A. I don't really recall what he was saying.
I was just trying to talk him to putting the gun down.

0. Sure. Did the two communicate at all that
you recall?

A, Not that I recall.

Q. How many trips did she have to make
unloading the white car?

A. I believe two.

Q. So like she unloads it, puts stuff in the
van, goes back to the white car and then comes back
again?

A. Yes.

Q. When she comes back that second time, what
does she do?

A, She loads the large TV into the back of my
van and that's when the white male told me to get in the
van and she got in the van as, right after I did. And
then that is where I told him how the wvehicle ran and
functioned due to, just in case that happened.

Q. Now when you guys get in the wvan, who is
sitting where?

A. I'm sitting in the driver's seat. And I
told him that normally we don't give people rides so if
he was sitting in the front seat it would look kind of

funny because it would be against policy to give anybody
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a ride off the freeway. So he then said "Okay, fine, I
will get in the back." And then that's when I was able
to talk him to point the gun away from me.

Q. Where is the woman?

A, She is behind him crouched down holding

onto the work shelving that is in the back of my wvan.

Q. The work shelving, is that what you said?
A. Correct.
Q. Okay. So if I understand it, you're in the

driver's seat?

A. Yes.

Q. And there's seats behind you and that's
where the guy is?

A. No, there's no seats behind. There's a
black cage that, just in case of a rollover none of the
items in the back of the van come forward into the
driver compartment.

Q. Is that where she is?

A. They were both behind the barrier, in
between the driver's compartment and the back of the
van.

Q. Now you mentioned just a minute ago that
you had a conversation with him about the gun at that
point in time.

A. Correct.
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0. Can you tell us what that was?

A. I told him we are on the freeway and I have
to leave the shoulder to get around their vehicle so I
asked him if he could put it down just in case we do get
rear ended, the gun does not go off and hit anybody. He
then said okay and put it down and out of the way of
getting, pointing at me. At that time I turned my
lights off and turned my blinker on and merged into
traffic.

Q. Did you tell him or her anything about like

tracking or GPS on your own vehicle?

A. Yes.

Q. Was it at this time or is that later?

A. That was directly after that time.

Q. So tell us about that.

A, As soon as I left the shoulder and entered

traffic I advised them that I was not able to go any
further than a mile off of the freeway, which then he
said "that's fine, whatever," and I was like "if I go

any further my GPS goes off and they're going to know

something's up." And he said "Okay, make the first turn
and then turn into the first neighborhood."™ Which I
complied.

Q. From the time you leave the shoulder, you

said you put your blinker on and then you make I assume
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the first exit or turn into the neighborhood?
A. Correct.
Q. Between those two points in time does the

woman say anything to you?

A. No, she did not.

Q. Does she say anything to the guy?

A. Not that I know of.

Q. Does he say anything to her?

A. Yes, he asked for my name and, my full

name, which I gave it to him.

Q. He asked that from you, right?

A. Yes.

Q. Does he say anything to her?

A. He said "look it up on the phone."™ So I

was not sure on what they were doing in that part.

Q. Was that your phone that she was looking it
up on?

A. She was looking it up on one of their
phones. As soon as they got out of the vehicle that
phone was damaged due to water running in the gutter.

It fell out of her hand and went into the water.

Q. So I just want to make sure I understand
it. He asks you your full name?

A. Yes.

Q. And you tell it to him. At this point does
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he have any of your identification or property?

A. No. I told him that I do not carry a
wallet due to just in case this kind of thing happened.
He stated "All right, I guess that could be truthful."
And we carry identification on our vests which has our
full name and everything on it for picture
identification.

Q. At some point he tells the woman after you
give your name to look it up on the phone?

A. Yes.

Q. Does he spell it for her or do you see her
responding or doing anything with the phone?

A. At that time I was looking forward so I
wasn't too sure on what she was doing.

Q. Is there any other conversation before you
stop the wvan?

A. Yes. He stated if he got caught for
highjacking my vehicle because I called the cops on him
that he would have his friends come and kill my family
as well as myself.

Q. Was that as you're driving to a
neighborhood or was that —--

A. Yes, that was as we were driving.

Q. Okay. Any other conversation that you

recall?
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A. Other than that, that was it.
Q. Now you drive them from the, you get onto
the freeway, you put on your blinker, you get on the

freeway. What exit do you take?

A. We got off on Tropicana going northbound on
95.

Q. And then where do you go from there?

A. We made a left going westbound on Tropicana

and we made the first left into the housing unit.

Q. And the conversation you recall along the
way is him talking about your name and her to look it up
on the phone?

A. Correct.

Q. And then him advising you not to report him
or else he'd have friends come and get you and your
family?

A. Correct.

Q. Is there any other thing you remember
either between the two of them or to you?

A. He wanted me to turn into the apartment
complex on the right hand side of westbound Tropicana.

I told him that I'm in the left lane, it would be unsafe
for me to make that turn. I told him then I would turn
into the first neighborhood on the left hand side. He

said that was fine. And he told me to stop after we
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turned onto the first street on the left at the speed
limit sign which is about the length of the backyard

from Tropicana.

Q. And she isn't saying anything during that
time?

A. No. She's fiddling with like the bag or
something like that. I'm not too sure on what she was

messing with but she was rummaging in the back.

Q. So you stop at the speed limit sign?
A. Correct.
Q. This is like a neighborhood posted sign

don't go faster than whatever?

A. No, it's actually a 25-mile an hour speed
limit sign.

Q. Okay. So you stop. What happens?

A, I stopped. The gentleman gets out of the
vehicle and the lady gets out of the vehicle and they

start removing their items out of my wvan.

Q. Do both of them take stuff out of the wvan?

A. Yes, they do.

Q. And the items that I remember you
mentioning are the TV and a backpack. Is there anything
else?

A. I believe it was a camera bag. At that

time the African American young lady asked me if I
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wanted a camera. I told them that I did not want the
camera, I did not want anything that they had. They
said okay.

Q. And what happened then?

A. And then they got out of the vehicle and I
got back in my vehicle and I turned the vehicle around
and I left.

Q. Now you mentioned when you were talking
about her in the van doing something with a cell phone,
did you see something happen to her cell phone?

A. Yes. When they were getting out of the wvan
the white gentleman took the TV and as he took the TV
her phone fell out of her hand and fell into the gutter
where there was water running.

Q. Did they pick it up or do anything with it?

A. They did pick it up and they tried dusting

it off and seeing if it worked again.

Q. Do you recall which one of them picked it
up?

A. The lady picked it up.

Q. And so she's kind of maybe looking up to

see how damaged it 1is?

A. Yes.
Q. What did she do with 1it?
A, She put it into the black bag.
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Q. Did you see anything happen to the TV?

A. He dropped it as he took it out of the
vehicle. I did not see on how he dropped it though.

Q. So you don't know if that was accidental or

how that happened?

A. Correct.

Q. After you saw him drop the TV what
happened?

A. He picked the TV up and put it next to the

block wall inside the residential front yard in the rock

area and then stomped the TV twice.

Q. Like taking —-

A. Yeah.

Q. —— his foot and stomping it?

A. Yes.

Q. What is the woman doing while he's stomping
on the TV?

A. Pulling the bags out of the wvan.

Q. Other bags?

A. Yes.

Q. When they get all their property out, do

they say anything to you other than what you just
mentioned that the woman said do you want a camera-?
A. Yeah. I asked if I could get my personal

phone back due to I needed it for work. He stated
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you're not getting your phone back because his just fell
in the water. So I said okay. That is when he turned

it off and put it in the black bag as well.

Q. And does she say anything then?
A. No.
Q. So you're not getting your phone back.

What happens after that?

A. I walked backwards and got into my wvehicle
and I left.
Q. When during, like when you pull up to the

speed limit sign, when is it that you get out of your
vehicle? How does that happen?

A. He said get out of the vehicle and give us
a hand removing the items.

Q. So you helped take some of the items out?

A. No. I stood there because by the time I
got out of the van they had already removed everything.

Q. And that's how you're able to see him stomp
on the TV and all that?

A. Correct.

Q. So after you asked him if I can have my

cell phone back, you get back in your wvan?

A, Yes.
Q. Do they say anything then?
A. No, that was it.
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Q. Do you ask them, like ask can I go or do

you just leave?

A. No, I Jjust left.
Q. You leave. And where do you go?
A. I left and I was trying to call to cancel

my phone to try to wipe out all the information on my
phone just so if they wanted to get anymore information
off of it that they could not.

Q. And at some point you are contacted by the

police about this incident, right?

A. Correct.

Q. You give an interview?

A. Yes.

Q. And did they also show you a photographic
line—-up?

A. Yes.

Q. Did they show you pictures of the male and

the female or just the woman?
A. Just the female.
Q. Sir, I'm showing you Grand Jury Exhibit 7.

Do you recognize this top piece of paper?

A. Yes, I do.

Q. And is this writing yours?

A. Yes.

0. That we see in the middle of it? And I'm
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going to put that on the overhead. This is Grand Jury
Exhibit 7.
Were these the instructions that the
detective read to you about photographic line-ups?
A. No, I read it off for myself.
Q. You read it yourself. And this on the

middle of the page is, that is your own handwriting;

correct?
A. That is my handwriting.
Q. Can you read it from where you are there?
A. It says "I am 90 percent sure. She seems

younger in the line-up photo than when I seen her

today."

Q. And who were you referring to?

A, The young lady that was with the white
gentleman.

Q. Okay. And so you picked one of the

photographs and then your comments were "I'm 90 percent
sure but she seems younger in the photo than she does
today"?

A. Correct.

Q. When you, in all your contact with these
two, did you ever see any weapons other than the gun
that you mentioned?

A. When the female got into the van after I
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got into the wvan, I seen her with a large black item
that looked like a, it could have been a club and/or a
machete, I was not sure at the time because everything
happened so fast.

Q. And was it covered like a sheath or was it
different than that?

A. It looked like a machete in a sheathing for
what I seen of it.

Q. Now you said when she got, you said you saw
this when she got into the wvan?

A. Correct.

Q. Just to clarify. At what point is this,
when you're still on the side of the freeway?

A, When we're still on the side of the road,
yes.

Q. And this is after he's shown you the gun
and you've had conversations about it?

A. Yes.

Q. Is it before they climb into that area
behind the driver's seat?

A. Yes.

Q. Okay. And other than those two things, did
you see any other weapons?

A. No, I did not.

MS. WECKERLY: Thank you, sir.
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Gene.

BY A JUROR:

Q.
yourself?

A,

Robert.

BY A JUROR:

Q.

I have no other questions for this witness.

THE FOREPERSON: Any gquestions? Go ahead,

Yes. Did you ever contact the police

Yes, I did.

THE FOREPERSON: Any other questions?

You stated that when you left those two

behind, you tried to call and have the information

removed from your phone. What device were you using to

communicate with?

A,

Q.

It was my work phone.

So you had your work phone and a personal

phone with you?

A,

Q.

Correct.
Okay. Thank you.
THE FOREPERSON: Any other questions?

By law, these proceedings are secret and

you are prohibited from disclosing to anyone anything

that has transpired before us, including evidence and

statements presented to the Grand Jury, any event

occurring or statement made in the presence of the Grand
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Jury, and information obtained by the Grand Jury.

Failure to comply with this admonition is a
gross misdemeanor punishable by a year in the Clark
County Detention Center and a $2,000 fine. In addition,
you may be held in contempt of court punishable by an
additional $500 fine and 25 days in the Clark County
Detention Center.

Do you understand this admonition?

THE WITNESS: Yes, I do.

THE FOREPERSON: Thank you. You are
excused.

Please raise your right hand.

You do solemnly swear the testimony you are
about to give upon the investigation now pending before
this Grand Jury shall be the truth, the whole truth, and
nothing but the truth, so help you God?

THE WITNESS: I do.

THE FOREPERSON: Please be seated.

You are advised that you are here today to
give testimony in the investigation pertaining to the
offenses of burglary while in possession of a firearm,
attempt robbery with use of a deadly weapon, murder with
use of a deadly weapon, attempt murder with use of a
deadly weapon, first degree kidnapping, robbery with use

of a deadly weapon, burglary while in possession of a

84




10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

66

deadly weapon, and attempt invasion of the home,
involving Natasha Jackson.

Do you understand this advisement?

THE WITNESS: I do.

THE FOREPERSON: Please state your first
and last name and spell both for the record.

THE WITNESS: First name is William,
W-I-L-L-T-A-M, last name is Moore, M-0-O-R-E.

THE FOREPERSON: Thank you.

WILLIAM MOORE,

having been first duly sworn by the Foreperson of the
Grand Jury to testify to the truth, the whole truth,

and nothing but the truth, testified as follows:

EXAMINATION
BY MS. WECKERLY:
Q. And sir, how are you employed?
A. I'm a, my classification is P02 and I'm

employed by the Las Vegas Metropolitan Police

Department.

Q. And you are a police officer?

A. Correct.

Q. How long have you worked as a police
officer?
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A,
about eight

0.
year?

A.

Q.

My hire date is January 18, 2006 so I'm
and a half years.

Were you working on July the 29th of this

Correct.

At that time were you assigned to a

particular area command?

A,

Q.

29th?

Q.

A,

Yes.
What was that?
Southeast Area Command.

And did you work a particular shift on the

Yes.
What are the hours of that shift?

Graveyard shift is 2200 or 10:00 p.m. to

0800 in the morning.

Q.

And when you were working on the 29th were

you in a marked patrol car?

A,

Q.

A.

Q.

Yes, ma'am.
And were you in a uniform?
Yes, ma'am.

And did you work in your car by yourself or

would you have a partner who was in the car with you?

A,

us.

We were two man units so there were two of

86




10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

68

Q. At some point were you dispatched or did

you go to an incident near Almondwood?

A. Yes, ma'am.

Q. How was it that you came to go to that
location?

A. Myself and my partner were finishing our

lunch and we heard the call come over the radio and it
was a burglary in progress and there was some injuries
involving a firearm and I believe there were some
details that said that someone, there was a person
holding down the suspect in a house. So we just cleared
our lunch about 10 or 15 minutes early and we headed
straight to the call because it needed our attention.

Q. And do they request that you respond or do
you kind of assign yourself because you're in the area?

A, Well, generally our policy is when there's
a code red, that means that there's a critical incident
going on so most officers, any officer that can clear
will respond to that incident automatically to assist in
anything that might be needed. So it's a pretty general
response to that kind of a call.

Q. And who was your partner that was with you?

A. Eric Myrold, spelled M-Y-R-0-L-D, badge
number 13064.

Q. And sir, I'm showing you Grand Jury
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Exhibit 2. Do you recognize that aerial area?
A. Yeah, that's the neighborhood.
Q. That you responded to on the 29th; correct?
A. Yes, ma'am.
Q. I'm going to put this on the overhead.
This is Grand Jury Exhibit 2. I'm going to impose on

you to stand up if you can and point to how you first
come into the neighborhood if you can. And you can
either point there or up on the screen, wherever you're
more comfortable.

A. Okay.

All right. So we were eating lunch at
Flamingo and Pecos at a place called Ichabod's which is
normal. I think this is Sandhill —-- this is Pecos
probably here. So we were coming south on Pecos and
then we turned off of Tropicana. And then I think this
is Rollingwood and then we came around this way. And we
ended up right about here.

Q. Okay. So you're on sort of, just for the
record, the second street down from the top of our map
here?

A. Correct, ma'am.

Q. And you're at, in front of the second house
or where would you —-

A, The original call for service came out at
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this house right here. This is where the code red
happened where my co-workers were at. But by then we
had some new information that the people involved were
in a vacant residence, a two story vacant residence on
this street, so since the suspects that we thought were
in there we just responded there.

Q. Okay. So you and your partner stop here
and what do you do as you get out of your wvehicle?

A. I get out of my vehicle and there's some
details that he had a firearm and that he was
barricading himself in the residence. $So there's
already, as I get out of the vehicle I already see that
there's a couple of officers that are placed around the
front of the house. So my immediate question is hey,
does anyone have the rear containment, has anyone
covered that. I didn't hear anything so I took that.
I've worked with most of these guys for about five or
more years so that means no. So I went through this
house here, the owner was out, I went through the house
into this backyard here to cover the rear of the house.

Q. And can all the grand jurors see the map or
do you want us to stand differently? You're okay?
Okay.

Now when you say you were at this house

here, we're making a written record of this. Is it the
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one with the red roof or the next one over?

A. This would be the house directly east with
the red roof. So it's the house directly east to the
target residence.

Q. So you go through the red roof one and into
the backyard of the target residence?

A. Not yet. I originally took a position in
this yard here, in the back corner of the residence.

0. And when -- oh, sorry. Go ahead.

A. So that I could see this whole back area in
case the suspects attempted to leave that way.

Q. Now when you take that position in the
backyard, are you kind of looking over a wall or a
fence?

A, This is a cinder block wall which is about
seven to eight feet tall. So I'm 5'10" so I can't cover
that so I ended up scrambling to look to find a way to
gain visual. I found some lawn furniture that was about
three or four feet tall, a circular table, I moved it to
the corner as quickly as I could and I perched in the
corner on that table to see over the wall.

Q. What do you see as you look over?

A. Originally nothing. They were still on the
front of the house. The details were that the suspect

was on the front of the house and that he had thrown one
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object onto this terrace here. It's like a flat, this
is like an extension of the house which is a garage and
that's flat. There's actually a window right over it
with some burglar bars. He was at that window and he
had thrown something out and he was ripping at the bars
and he was putting his hands out the window according to
the details. So I was just rear containment just in
case. So originally nothing. Eventually he did make
his way to the back and so did the second suspect.

Q. Okay. Now this back part of the target
house, does it have windows or sliding glass doors so
you're able to see inside it at all?

A. Yes, you can see inside it. Specifically
where most of it is, towards this side of the house,
there's a large picture window that you can see through
into like a kitchen area. I would say it's about two to
three feet high off the ground and then about five feet
by five feet on both sides if I had to guess. It was
huge, like you could fit through it easily.

Q. So you're still in your position at the
house next door to the east. And what changes or what
do you eventually see?

A. Eventually I see a white male come
downstairs and he breaks that, the window that I

mentioned. He breaks it out with his bare hands. He
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starts punching through it and breaks the glass out with
his bare hands. And while —— he's there by himself and
I can hear, I can hear the second suspect yelling in the
background "help, help, save me, save me." And
eventually there's, there's some back and forth. He'll
disappear, she'll show up, and then it goes back and
forth. Eventually she goes to another window and I can
see her look through and this —— I'm sorry, it's not
actually a window, it's a door. It's a door but it's
one of those doors where it's mostly glass, it's like
glass in a frame. And she starts banging on it while
she's at the door and she's looking at me and she's, I'm
not talking to her but she's yelling at me to help her
while I'm standing there.

Q. Now when she's banging on that glass frame
door, can you see the man at all?

A. No.

Q. And were there points where you could see
only the man and not this other person?

A. Correct. Most of the interaction was like
it was one or the other. There's only a short time
towards the end when they're both together in the same
room that I saw.

Q. The first person you see is the man though

breaking out the window?
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A. Correct.
Q. What does he look like?
A. He is a white male, thin build, dark hair,

and he had a black shirt on and it was black pants or
shorts.

Q. The second person you see, what does that
person look like?

A. I just remember it was a small framed short
black female.

Q. And before you see her visually, you hear a
women's voice I assume yelling for help?

A. Correct. It's coming from all over. I
mean downstairs, upstairs, everywhere. She's running
around yelling for help.

Q. But at points in time you see her on the, I
assume that's a two story house?

A. That is a two story house. In fact these
are all one stories except for this one which made it
different for us tactically.

Q. So you see her on the downstairs and
against that glass door looking at you asking for help,
but you don't see him at all?

A. No.

Q. Now when your faced with that situation,

are you supposed to go in and get who appears to be a
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hostage or who appears to be a victim?

A. No, it just depends on the exigency of the
circumstances and then there's the totality of it. Our
current policy, it's considered a barricade, which is a
S.W.A.T. call out. So technically my job is to do rear
containment. If they attempt to leave the residence
then I'm to act on that. But unless they leave or
something changes that makes me have to go in that house
and I can articulate it, everyone is to sit outside. So
nobody has gone inside the house at any time.

Q. So you see her, she appears at various

times to be asking for help, but he's not always with

her?
A. No.
Q. So what happens as you're there?
A. Well, when he went to the picture window

and he broke out the glass, I was still sitting in this
corner and he looked right at me and I looked right at
him. And that's when I broadcast his description over
the radio. At that time my partner, who had no visual,
he was on the other side of the wall trying to find a
spot as well, I told my partner we have to move, he just
saw us here so he knows my position, I can't stay here,
we need to go somewhere else. So tactically, while

you're in the back, everyone's here, I wouldn't want to
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go into this yard because then if I have to fire I'm
firing in the direction of the other officers so I don't
have a good back drop. I can't go across here because
then I have to go across the entire house which puts
myself and my partner in danger. I have to find a way
to stay on this side and still contain this side of the
house. So, quick thinking, my decision was that we were
going to jump the wall and go to this corner right here
because if he's looking out the windows he can't see me
from inside the house cause I'm here. He would have to
come out to the yard and look back to see me in which
case I would be prepared to shoot him at that point if
he was trying to escape with the gun or with the other
suspect or victim or whoever she was at the time.

Q. Okay.

A, And my direction of fire would have been

this direction which is away from my other officers

which makes it safe. So that was the decision I made at
the time.
Q. So you go over the wall and I guess to the

side of the target house?

A. I'm moving towards the side of the target
house. As I'm moving this way, I have my rifle at what
we call the low ready which is basically down, cause you

don't want it up just in case something happens. So I'm
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moving from here to here, jump the wall, and as I'm
moving the male suspect jumps out the window by himself
and he points the firearm towards the back corner where
I was and then he starts to scan from this direction
towards this direction towards me. And at that time
when I could see, I remember specifically, even though
he had, I was moving and I waited until I could see the
barrel of that firearm and then I fired two shots
towards him, this direction, that impacted the cinder
block wall and then he jumped right back in the house.
And then we actually ended up going back over the wall
and moving again because now he knows where I am again
so I didn't want to stay there.

Q. So you engage him but he gets back inside
the house?

A. Yes, he does get back inside the house.
And then at that point it's a barricade again. So even
though he engaged me outside the house, per policy
that's what I'm supposed to be doing anyway is
containment in the rear, and he did point the firearm at
me so I'm using deadly force at that time. But when he
goes back in the house now we're back in this barricade
situation where S.W.A.T. hostage negotiators and
everything is supposed to handle it inside.

0. Now do you see, after he comes out that
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window and then goes back inside, do you see the African

American woman again?

A. Yes.
Q. Describe that.
A, That's the first time when they're actually

together and then they go into this picture window, I'm
back here again and I can look and I'm looking through
and —— well, backtrack real quick. Because right after
that he does yell out the window at me and he asks me,

he says "give me a chance, give me a chance."

Q. What do you say?
A. I said "throw the gun out the window and
come out slowly." I said "just drop the gun or throw

the gun out the window and come out with your hands up."
And it looked like he thought about it for a second and
then he kind of went back into the house. Then at that
point, after he goes back in, then the black female
shows up with him in that same window.

Q. And how are they positioned?

A. They're talking back and forth but I can't
understand what they're saying from my position.
Eventually he puts her, she's facing this direction, and
he puts her on her knees and he takes the same firearm
that he pointed at me and he puts it to her head.

0. And what —-—

97




10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

79

A. As if it's like an execution style, he puts
it to her head.

Q. What do you do at that point?

A, I broadcast over the radio that I could see
that happening and I'm trying, I'm actually debating a
lot of things in my head as to what I should do next.
And as I'm watching it, he's talking to her while her
back, her back is to him, she's facing this direction
and he's saying something to her and she's saying
something back, and then he just pulls the gun away and
walks away and then she stands up.

Q. Could you see where she went at that point?

A. That's when she turns around and looks out
the window at me, makes eye contact with me, and I
motion at her to come out of the house.

Q. So you want her to come out on her own?

A, Right. Because at this time it was unclear
what her, we didn't know if she was a hostage or a
suspect or what was going on so I treated her as a
hostage at the time, especially after what I had just
seen, and I motioned for her to come out of the house.
At that time she jumps out a window. There's a window
here and a window to the west that was also broken out.
I don't recall which one, because you can kind of see

through both, I don't recall which one of those two she

98




10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

80

jumped out, but she jumps out a window and she runs
towards the wall and my partner grabs her, pulls her
over the wall and then she's in custody.

Q. And your partner pulls her kind of up and
over the wall; correct?

A. Yeah. He had to grab like a loose cinder
block, cause like I said it was a tall wall. I said
"The hostage is coming out, the hostage is coming out."
So he grabs a cinder block, stands on the cinder block,
looks over the wall, and she comes to him and he pulls
her over.

Q. And are you still on the target side of
the, the target house side of the wall or are you back
over —-—

A. No. We're both, I'm here and my partner at
the time is here. So we're both on the, in the yard to
the east of the target residence.

Q. Okay. To the east. And then after she
comes out, your partner pulls her over the wall, what
happens?

A. Well my focus is not, he's got her and he's
trying to get information out of her as to the suspect,
if there's anymore people in the house, just general
information that would help us to deal with him and for

S.W.A.T. and for the negotiators and anybody else
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because we really didn't know. My job is to make sure
he still stays in that yard or in that house and doesn't
go into anymore of these houses that I can see. So I
mostly, my sight is focused still on the house. I can

hear her from my peripheral, my hearing.

Q. What do you hear her saying to your
partner?
A. At first I just hear garble. The next

thing I heard out of her mouth was, I heard her yelling
"Shoot 'em Cody, shoot 'em." Loud. And when I, I
actually, which isn't good, but I looked over to the
right because I was like what did I just hear. And
she's yelling "Shoot 'em Cody, shoot 'em." My partner's
grabbing her by the arms and she's trying to pull away
from him. And at that time I said "Handcuff her, sit
her down." And my partner handcuffs her, sits her down.
So he looks at her and he goes, "So his name is Cody?"
Because at first she was telling him she doesn't know
him and never met him. And then he says "Oh, his name
is Cody?" And she goes "Yeah, he wants you guys to
shoot him." And she starts telling him this stuff. So
he broadcasts over the radio and the radio traffic,
that's when my partner says "He wants 405 by cop." 405
is suicide. That's when we're getting this information

and I'm hearing this go on as I'm looking at the house.
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Q. When you hear her say "shoot 'em Cody,
shoot 'em," was that a pretty loud thing she said or —-
A. Yeah, she was yelling it. She was
screaming it. And that was when he was trying to grab
her because —-- we didn't know if she was trying to run
back in the house or run away from us or what she was
trying to do. Steve my partner had to physically grab

her and keep her because she was trying to get away from

us after we thought we had just saved her. It's
confusing.
Q. I would imagine. So he cuffs her, he puts

her in handcuffs?

A. Yes.
Q. What happens next?
A. Well, after that with her, she sits down.

He doesn't come up where my line of sight is anymore.
Somehow he gets through one of these windows in the west
where I didn't have visual and he goes into this house
over here. I didn't even know he had made it to that
house. I didn't hear it over the radio and no one else
had told me. I hear shots, multiple gunshots from this
side, and I just moved around to try to help and figure
out what's going on and that's when I found out he was
over here and then he had been shot fatally in the

doorway. And at that point Natasha was taken to a
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vehicle and put in the back of a patrol vehicle and then
the incident was over.
Q. Now you called her Natasha. Did you learn

her name?

A. Yes.

Q. Later?

A. Yes.

Q. And you don't have any further contact with
her?

A. No.

MS. WECKERLY: Okay. Thank you. You can
sit down.

And I don't —-- well, actually you may want
to stand. Unless the grand jurors have questions I
don't have any other questions for this witness.
BY A JUROR:

Q. When you, when he came out of the house and

he pointed a gun at you, you said you fired at him. Did

you fire to deliberately miss him or —-

A. No.

Q. —-— were you aiming for him?

A. No, I was aiming. I was aiming at him. I
should have, I mean I didn't hit him but -- I was trying

to shoot him.

Q. Thank you.
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THE FOREPERSON: Any other questions?

By law, these proceedings are secret and
you are prohibited from disclosing to anyone anything
that has transpired before us, including evidence and
statements presented to the Grand Jury, any event
occurring or statement made in the presence of the Grand
Jury, and information obtained by the Grand Jury.

Failure to comply with this admonition is a
gross misdemeanor punishable by a year in the Clark
County Detention Center and a $2,000 fine. In addition,
you may be held in contempt of court punishable by an
additional $500 fine and 25 days in the Clark County
Detention Center.

Do you understand this admonition?

THE WITNESS: Yes, ma'am.

THE FOREPERSON: Thank you. You're
excused.

Please raise your right hand.

You do solemnly swear the testimony you are
about to give upon the investigation now pending before
this Grand Jury shall be the truth, the whole truth, and
nothing but the truth, so help you God?

THE WITNESS: I do.

THE FOREPERSON: Please be seated.

You are advised that you are here today to
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give testimony in the investigation pertaining to the
offenses of burglary while in possession of a firearm,
attempt robbery with use of a deadly weapon, murder with
use of a deadly weapon, attempt murder with use of a
deadly weapon, first degree kidnapping, robbery with use
of a deadly weapon, burglary while in possession of a
deadly weapon, and attempt invasion of the home,
involving Natasha Jackson.

Do you understand this advisement?

THE WITNESS: I do.

THE FOREPERSON: Please state your first
and last name and spell both for the record.

THE WITNESS: Martin Wildemann.
M-A-R-T-I-N, W-I-L-D-E-M-A-N-N.

THE FOREPERSON: Thank you.

MARTIN WILDEMANN,

having been first duly sworn by the Foreperson of the
Grand Jury to testify to the truth, the whole truth,

and nothing but the truth, testified as follows:

EXAMINATION
BY MS. WECKERLY:
Q. Sir, how are you employed?
A. With the Las Vegas Metropolitan Police
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Department.

Q. How are you assigned?

A, To homicide.

Q. How long have you been worked for homicide?

A. Coming up on 13 years.

Q. How long have you worked for Metro?

A. Coming up on 27.

Q. Were you working on July the 29th of this
year?

A. I was.

Q. And were you the only detective who was

involved in the investigation?

A. No, there was a large amount of detectives
out there.

Q. Was one of your roles in this investigation
to show photographic line-ups to various witnesses?

A. It was.

Q. And did you show photographic line-ups to

Scott Ufert and Dominic Ramos?

A. I did.
Q. Sir, I'm showing you Grand Jury Exhibit 7
and 8. This one is 7. Can you look at those and just

tell me if you recognize them?
A, I do.

Q. What 1s 77
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A.

Seven is the photo line-up witness

instruction sheet along with the photo line-up and then

a back up photo line—up that has the person's name and

ID number, Metro ID number.

Q.

A,

Q.

And 7 is the one you showed to Scott Ufert?
Yes.

And he's the Nevada Department of

Transportation employee?

A.

Q.
fill out the

A,

0.

A,

he heard the

A.

Q.
photographs;

A.

Q.

Yes, he is.

Now looking at the first page of 7. You
top part of the form; is that correct?
Yes.

And this signature is his?

Is his, yes. That's him acknowledging that
instructions that I read to him.

And this part is his own writing?

Yes.

And then you sign it?

Yes.

Now the second page of 7 appears to be six
correct?

Correct.

And you would have assembled the

photographs to see if Mr. Ufert could identify one of

the suspects

in this case?
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A. Correct.
Q. There appears to be a signature under

photograph 2.

A. Yes.

Q. And whose signature is that?

A. Scott Ufert's.

Q. Did you witness him sign that?

A. Absolutely.

Q. And the third page of the photographic

line-up is the same line-up but there's names?

A. Correct.

Q. Number 2 is Natasha Jackson?

A. Yes.

Q. Obviously this page isn't shown to the

witness?

A. No, not at all.

Q. It's just so you can keep track of your own
line—up?

A. Of who's who, yeah, in the line-up.

Q. And that is 8 I think. Is that right?

A. Yes.

Q. Okay. So that would be the line-up that

you showed to Dominic Ramos?
A, Yes.

Q. And he's the son of the murder victim;
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correct?
A. Correct.
Q. Is it the same procedure where you fill out

the top part of the form, he would have written in the
middle and signed it and you signed it at the bottom?

A. Yes.

Q. Is it also the same where you have him sign

a photograph if he recognizes an individual?

A. Yes.

Q. And this is page 2. I notice that there's
a signature. That's Mr. Ramos'?

A. Correct.

Q. This time the witness is in a different
position?

A. Yes.

Q. Do you normally do that, shift their

position when you show line—-ups to various witnesses?
A. I do, yes.
Q. And this is the third page of it. But
again that same person is Natasha Jackson?
A. Correct.
MS. WECKERLY: Thank you, sir.
I have no other questions of this witness.
THE FOREPERSON: Any questions from the

Grand Jury?

108




10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

90

By law, these proceedings are secret and
you are prohibited from disclosing to anyone anything
that has transpired before us, including evidence and
statements presented to the Grand Jury, any event
occurring or statement made in the presence of the Grand
Jury, and information obtained by the Grand Jury.

Failure to comply with this admonition is a
gross misdemeanor punishable by a year in the Clark
County Detention Center and a $2,000 fine. In addition,
you may be held in contempt of court punishable by an
additional $500 fine and 25 days in the Clark County
Detention Center.

Do you understand this admonition?

THE WITNESS: I do.

THE FOREPERSON: Thank you. You're
excused.

THE WITNESS: Thank you.

MS. FLECK: And the State's next witness
will be Detective Jason McCarthy.

THE FOREPERSON: Please raise your right
hand.

You do solemnly swear the testimony you are
about to give upon the investigation now pending before
this Grand Jury shall be the truth, the whole truth, and

nothing but the truth, so help you God?

109




10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

91

THE WITNESS: I do.

THE FOREPERSON: Please be seated.

You are advised that you are here today to
give testimony in the investigation pertaining to the
offenses of burglary while in possession of a firearm,
attempt robbery with use of a deadly weapon, murder with
use of a deadly weapon, attempt murder with use of a
deadly weapon, first degree kidnapping, robbery with use
of a deadly weapon, burglary while in possession of a
deadly weapon, and attempt invasion of the home,
involving Natasha Jackson.

Do you understand this advisement?

THE WITNESS: I do.

THE FOREPERSON: Please state your first
and last name and spell both for the record.

THE WITNESS: First name is Jason McCarthy.
First and last name. McCarthy is spelled
M-C-C-A-R-T-H-Y.

THE FOREPERSON: Thank you.

JASON MCCARTHY,

having been first duly sworn by the Foreperson of the
Grand Jury to testify to the truth, the whole truth,
and nothing but the truth, testified as follows:

/17

/17
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EXAMINATION
BY MS. FLECK:
0. Good afternoon, Detective. How are you
employed?
A, I'm employed with the Las Vegas

Metropolitan Police Department, currently assigned to
the homicide section as a detective and have been
employed with the department for the past 20 years.

Q. Twenty years with Metro. How many of those
20 years have been a detective with homicide?

A. I've been in the bureau for ten. Homicide
for almost eight now.

Q. So, I'm sorry, so when you say you've been
in the bureau for ten, meaning that you've been in the
detective bureau for ten years, eight of those as a
homicide detective?

A. That's correct.

Q. I'd like to direct your attention to
July 29th of 2014. Working that day?

A. Yes.

Q. When you work are you normally working by
yourself or do you have a partner?

A. I work with a partner.

Q. Who was your partner on the 29th of July?
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A. Detective Fred Merrick.

Q. And additionally do you and your partner
work within a squad within the homicide unit?

A. That's correct. Each squad has six
detectives and on that particular day it was myself and
the remaining five detectives.

Q. Roughly 6:30 in the morning did something
occur that caused you to ultimately be asked to respond

to 3930 Autumn Street here in Las Vegas, Nevada-?

A. Yes, there was.

Q. How was it that you got involved in that
case”?

A. We were notified by our supervisor at the

homicide office to respond to the address on Autumn
Street reference a shooting that had taken place at that
home.

Q. What time did you arrive?

A. We arrived at that location around noon,
12:00, 12:30.

0. Now the ladies and gentlemen of the Grand
Jury have seen this. It's Grand Jury Exhibit Number 2.
Which actually I'll just show on the overhead.

Is that upside down?
A. Yes.

Is there one with the addresses on there or
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do you want me to just point it out?

Q. So this is Grand Jury Exhibit Number 2. Do
you recognize what this is depicting?

A. Yes. This is Autumn Street, the street on
the bottom. The street on the top is Almondwood.

Q. And this is the wvicinity that you arrived

at around noon?

A. Yes.
Q. What was the scene like when you arrived?
A. It was all blocked off and secured with

yvellow crime scene tape. There were several officers on
scene as well as detectives.

Q. When you and other detectives arrive, are
you initially briefed by members of patrol or other
members of the Metropolitan Police Department who have
already gotten preliminary information?

A. Yes, we were briefed by our FIT
investigations who were there to investigate the
shooting involving officers. They had a lot of the
preliminary information when we got involved in the
investigation. So there's two investigations going on,
same incident.

Q. Okay. So you said FIT. What does that
mean?

A. Force Investigations Team.
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Q. And is FIT a unit within the homicide
section of Metro?

A. It's a unit within the police department
that's ultimately responsible for all use of force
investigations involving officers.

Q. So initially based upon an interaction
between a member of law enforcement and one of the
suspects, FIT was called out to the scene?

A. That's correct.

Q. Would this have just remained a FIT
investigation had a subsequent death not occurred?

A. That's correct.

Q. So you getting out to the scene around
noon, 1is that because FIT was taking care of the scene
and then you learned at some point that there had been
what may have been a homicide?

A. That's right. There was, the victim in
this was transported and died and that's when we got
involved. We were notified to respond to the scene and
we got briefed of the circumstances, preliminary
investigation up to that point.

0. So FIT is dealing with the officer involved
shooting with one of the suspects in the case and then
you come out to investigate what occurred with the

decedent from one of the residences?
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A. That's correct.

Q. Now I'm showing you Grand Jury Exhibit
Number 9. What do we see here?

A. This is an overview, Goggle Earth image of
the residence involved in the investigation. The 3930,
this is going to be Almond (sic) Street, that is the
location, the Ramos residence where the homicide
occurred. The residence 3929 Almondwood is going to be
the back street which is going to be the north from
Autumn. That plays a part in this investigation as well
as 3919, 39 —— or 3909 and then ultimately 3899.

Q. So when you arrive and you're briefed you
learn that there is an officer involved shooting at one
of these residences; correct?

A, When we were briefed we were told that
there was a subject that had been taken at gunpoint from
the freeway, there was a vehicle that was involved that
the two suspects were in to include Jackson and another
subject who was later identified as Cody Winters, that
they had entered the house at 3930 Autumn Street. We
were told of the other family members that were in the
house at the time and we were also told that ultimately
they ended up, the two suspects, besides the shooting
and the home invasion there, they went, jumped the walls

and there was items of evidence at 3929, 3919 and 3909
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Almondwood. That the police had encountered the
subjects at 3909 Almondwood and then also briefly told
that the incident that occurred, where it came to an end
at 3899 Almondwood. All that information was relayed to
us, all the identifying names, date of births and where
the witnesses were were related to us, items of evidence
were relayed to us. So to orient ourselves with the
scene after the preliminary briefing, walked the scene
to get an overall view of it, where everything took
place, and we were also told that Jackson had been
transported back to our office.

Q. Okay. So you said Jackson. Is that who
you learned was the name or identified as the woman who
was involved in the original home invasion?

A, That's correct.

Q. Now when you first went to 3930, was the
decedent still in the residence?

A. No.

Q. You mentioned some pieces of evidence that
were pointed out or had already been marked. I assume
that's by crime scene analysts?

A. Crime scene analyst had already been there
prior to us arriving and those items were photographed
and that information was relayed to us.

Q. So what if any pieces of potential evidence
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did you observe at 39307

A. Well, there was, across the street there
was a baton, there was a camera case, there was what
appeared to be a woman's purse. Walking into the
residence there was a screwdriver with a yellow handle.
You could tell that there had been some type of
struggle, there's items on the floor in the entrance of
the residence. The back window or sliding glass door
had been smashed. The window was open to the east side
of the residence and we later found out why that window
was open.

Q. Did you see any evidence of a firearm being
used within that house?

A. There was a cartridge, expended cartridge
casing inside the residence or in the living room area
which is right inside the front door.

Q. Additionally, at this point in time, maybe
this didn't happen until later, but at this point in
time had any bullets been found within the house?

A. At this point no.

Q. Now you did mention a screwdriver. Well,
first let me show you Grand Jury Exhibit 4. Do you
recognize this?

A. This is, I believe this is the residence

down the street. 3915.
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Q. Oh, I'm sorry. Okay.

A. That's not any of these residences.

Q. So I'1ll show you Grand Jury Exhibits 5 and
6. Do you recognize those?

A. Yes. This is the, inside the residence of

3930 where the homicide occurred where the victim
Mr. Ramos was shot and this is the screwdriver with a
vellowish handle.

Q. And these photographs fairly and accurately
depict the way you saw that screwdriver on the 29th of
July?

A. Yes.

Q. So showing the Grand Jury Grand Jury
Exhibit Number 5. What do we see here?

A, The door and the screwdriver is at the
bottom of the door. There's also like a phone charger
or something next to the door.

Q. Showing you Grand Jury Exhibit Number 6.
Just a closeup of that screwdriver?

A. That's correct.

Q. Now then going back. I assume that your
walk through went from 3930 back to 39297

A. Yes. We walked, there's a little side
street in between Autumn and Almondwood. We walked

around just to kind of get a visual of all the houses
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that were in play in the investigation.

Q. Once you got back to 3929 Almondwood, and
3919 Almondwood, in those areas, did you see anything of
potential evidentiary wvalue?

A, There was a boat that we were told about
where one of the victims, the daughter of 3930 hid under
so, we just took a look at that. There's some other
evidence that was found in the backyard of 3919 which
was photographed by our crime scene analyst which —-- do
you want me to —-—

0. If you could.

A. Yeah. That was a bullet or a cartridge, an
unfired bullet and an expended cartridge casing which
was found back there.

Q. What about any —--

A. And there was a tripod, camera tripod that
was in the back of 3929, that residence.

Q. Anything that appeared to be personal
effects, meaning like personal property of either of
these people? You mentioned a purse. Any bags,
backpacks, duffles, anything like that?

A. Right. There was a backpack in 3909. That
was found to be an abandoned residence where the
suspects were inside that residence during police

contact and ultimately where Jackson was taken into
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custody. Upstairs in that residence was a backpack with
several items of paperwork and identifications with
Miss Jackson inside that backpack.

Q. So going through that backpack you were
able to attribute the actual bag itself to Miss Jackson
based upon personal identifiers?

A. Our CSA personnel did that. Our crime
scene folks.

Q. Now after you had an opportunity to go
through the numerous houses that ultimately became part
of this crime scene, where did you go?

A. I went to the homicide office located at
400 South Martin Luther King.

Q. What was your purpose of going to homicide?

A. Jackson was at that location in our
interview room to interview her.

Q. Were you there by yourself or with other
detectives from Metro?

A. Detective Dosch was there with her and
myself and Detective Wilson who also works in homicide
arrived there and spoke with her.

Q. Is Detective Dosch part of homicide or is
he part of the FIT unit?

A. He's part of the FIT unit.

Q. So again kind of a parallel investigation
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going on by FIT and also by homicide?

A, That is correct.

Q. What is the room like or the area like
where you first met Miss Jackson?

A, There's approximately 12 interview rooms on
the first floor of our building. It's a table, couple
chairs in there, it's also video and audio recorded.

Q. When you arrived was Miss Jackson in
handcuffs or was she uncuffed?

A. She was cuffed with her left hand to the
table and she was sleeping when we got there.

Q. What time did you arrive?

A. It was about 1:30, 1:45. We arrived about
1:30. We didn't start the interview until about 1:45.

Q. So fair to say by the time you got there
Miss Jackson had been in the room by herself for quite

some time?

A. That's correct.

Q. And you said that she was sleeping at that
time?

A. Yeah, she had her head down on the table.

Q. What did you do to wake her up or what did

you and the other detectives do to wake her up?
A. Myself and Detective Wilson walked in,

Williams, I'm sorry, and introduced ourselves, told her
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that we were there to talk to her about the incident
that occurred this day. She was advised of her Miranda
rights. She popped her head up. She understood her
Miranda rights. And then we started speaking with her
about the start of her day and kind of how it evolved
into where we were at at that particular moment.

Q. Now what was her demeanor like when you
originally went into the room?

A. She was a little sleepy, a little groggy.
But after she, because she had been sitting there
waiting for us for some time, I would just describe her
demeanor as being relatively sleepy and she was waking
up.

Q. When you first started to talk with her,
did she, I mean would it be fair to say that she started
to talk about things that were unrelated to the incident
from that morning?

A. In the beginning of our interview she was
telling us about who she was with earlier that day, her
roommates, something about another female back at her
house having a problem with this other guy and that
they, her and Havoc, which was later determined to be
Cody, what they, they were going to meet some friends or
something like that. But it was a very short

conversation as it related to that.
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Q. Okay. So in the beginning she was talking
about things that were unrelated that had happened
either earlier that morning or the day before?

A, That's correct.

Q. At some point you said that she was advised
of her Miranda rights?

A. In the beginning, vyes.

Q. And did she indicate to you that she
understood those rights?

A. She did.

Q. And did she indicate to you that she was
then willing to speak?

A. Yes.

Q. Did you take some steps, or you or the
other detectives take some steps to ensure her comfort
level meaning ask her if she needed to use the bathroom?

A. We did. She already had a bottle of water
in there given to her by Detective Dosch. We asked her
if she wanted anymore water. We asked if she'd like to
remove the handcuffs, she said she was fine with just
keeping them on or leaving them on, something to that
effect.

Q. And then when you asked her if she wanted
to use the bathroom she indicated that she didn't?

A. That's correct.
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Q. And no indication from her that she was
under any kind of distress or that she wasn't
comfortable in the room or with you or the other
detectives?

A, None whatsoever.

Q. Now at some point she gets oriented to why
kind of you guys are there to talk to her, that it's
about the actual incident that occurred at 3930 Autumn?

A. Yes.

0. And from that point on in the interview is
she oriented as to why you guys are there, what you're
talking about and able to go into specifics about what
the day was about?

A. Yes.

Q. I want to talk then kind of within her
interview, I know it jumped around a little bit going
back and forth with topics. What did she indicate to
you had happened on the side of the road before she and
the person that she named as Havoc got to 3930 Autumn?

A. She said that she and Havoc and, you know
leading up to this point in the interview she had stated
that she and Havoc are, or Havoc was her boyfriend, that
they were out somewhere in Lake Las Vegas, she wasn't
specific of where, she says that they were in that

vehicle that was on the side of the freeway and they
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were driving back home and that they had run out of gas.
They were then approached by what she described as
somebody going to work or somebody that was helping
them. She relayed to us that she was telling this
subject on the side of the road that was helping them
hey, we lost our keys or something like that, we'll find
them, we'll be okay, knowing that Havoc, later
identified as Cody, was, you know, basically going to
rob him or put a gun to his head, which eventually he
did.

Q. Now did she indicate to you what if
anything she and/or Havoc took from the gentleman that
stopped to help them?

A. Yeah. She grabbed her backpack after they
were, Cody had put the gun to this guy's head, she
grabbed her backpack, there was a TV taken out of the
car, they all got into his vehicle and directed him to
get off the freeway and drive into a nearby neighborhood
which ultimately is how they got to the neighborhood
here which ain't very far from the off-ramp of Tropicana
and 95.

0. We talked about, or we saw a photograph of
a screwdriver. At some point during your interview with
her did she indicate where the screwdriver had

originally came from?
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A. Yeah. She said that he'd taken some tools
from the service worker and that she had also mentioned
that there was tools that were in her backpack. And she
had several things in there. There was a hatchet, some
bolt cutters that she had in there, the screwdriver was
in there.

Q. Did she ever mention anything about what
she termed as a night stick?

A. The night stick. She said the night stick,
we did question her about the night stick that was out
in front of the residence and had she stated that that
was hers as well.

Q. Then besides the tools what else did she
indicate of personal property was taken from the driver
that had tried to help them on the side of the road?

A. I believe it was a phone, a cell phone that
was taken from him. She also talked about the TV. When
they got in that neighborhood, they were getting out of
that guy's truck and Cody became upset with the TV,
smashed the TV, so now they were just looking to get a
car eventually.

Q. So then looking to get a car. During her
interview does she tell you how they eventually end up
at 3930 Autumn?

A. Yes. They're walking up the street
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westbound and they're walking up to 3930. As they're
walking up to 3930 Cody turns to her and says "get
ready," and he goes up and contacts Mr. Ramos. As he's
walking up he's also, he has a firearm, we asked her if
he had a weapon and she states that he does have a
weapon and she was very specific that it was a
9-millimeter black handgun.

Q. Did she indicate that she knew where he was
holding the handgun that day?

A. He would carry it in his waistband.

Q. Did she also at some point during the
interview talk to you about what you or I believe the

other detectives termed as a burner?

A, Yes.
Q. What was that conversation about?
A. A burner is a street term used by suspects

to refer to as a firearm. And that he would normally
keep it either in his waistband or on his leg or on his
side somewhere. But this particular day I believe she
said it was in waistband.

Q. So she indicated that that day he had a gun
and it was in his waistband and that she was aware of
that; correct?

A. That's correct.

Q. And that as far as she knew 1t was his
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regular custom and habit to carry this burner, meaning a

handgun, on his person, usually on his leg?

A. Yes. And she was familiar with the
handgun. She knew that it was a 9-millimeter, she had
seen it in the past. She even talked about in the

interview with us that she's held it before and made it
clear that her fingerprints would be on the handgun
because in the past, in that past week she's held it.

Q. Now what does she say happens once Cody
gets into 39307

A. She says that he was going to get the keys
or go up and talk to the guy about getting the keys or
getting a car and that Cody makes contact with the
homeowner. She says that she's out by the sidewalk.

She minimizes when she says, or I felt anyway, that she
says well, Cody says "get ready, you can come with me or
I'll shoot you," but then in the interview, the same
interview she says that she's looking out for police and
knew that the police were eventually going to come
because, using her words, they just carjacked a dude.

Q. So while she's inside she indicates to you
that she's looking for the police outside knowing they
could be on the way because of the carjacking?

A. That's correct.

Q. Who did she say was in the home?
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A. Well, she then goes into the home because
Cody's in there and hadn't come out. When she goes in
there she sees Cody and Mr. Ramos fighting in the
doorway and she says that there was a daughter, a son
using her words, and a mother that were in the home and
she also heard somebody else screaming. And in the
interview what's interesting with that is a male
screaming out an open window.

Q. So she indicated that she could see the
mother, daughter, son and father and then she heard
somewhere else in the area a male voice screaming?

A. That's correct.

Q. And so what did she say that she did once
she got into the house?

A. She said she was trying to get the gun from
Mr. Ramos cause he had, during the struggle him and Cody
were fighting over the gun, Cody was trying to get the
gun from Mr. Ramos and she kept telling Ramos to give
him the keys during that struggle and let go of the gun.

Q. Does she talk to you about an interaction
that she had with the woman who she described as the
mom?

A. Yes. The mom comes and gets involved in
that struggle. She says that she ends up pulling the

mom by the hair and that she has uses the yellow handled
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screwdriver. And when asked if she had injured, based
on our preliminary information that we were told that
she had stabbed the mom with the screwdriver, she told
us about that, yeah, using the screwdriver to do that.
Q. Did she indicate to you that she was also
trying to help Cody, meaning trying to get the dad and
mom and son away from Cody? Basically that she, not
only was she engaging with the mom but she was also

trying to assist Cody because people were trying to

fight him?
A. That's correct.
Q. Now at some point does she tell you that

she and Cody leave the house?

A. She does.
Q. And what does she say she does?
A. She, in her interview she says that she,

there was items in her backpack. Like I said before
with the bolt cutters and the screwdriver, that Cody had
used those items to go out the back window or slider,
the back sliding glass door was smashed, and she said
that she went out that way. We asked her —-- she said
that they started jumping walls and she was following
the voice of Cody. Cody was screaming at her "let's go"
and she would follow his commands and do that.

Q. So she said that she was jumping over walls
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in the backyard of 3930 and then over into the other
homes on Almondwood?

A, That's correct.

0. You said that she indicated that she was
following his voice; is that right?

A. Right.

Q. So what else did she say throughout her
interview that indicated to you that she wasn't actually
with him while they were in the backyard but that she
was trying to look for him by his voice?

A. She stated when he was in, cause we
questioned her, she wasn't really specific about the
path that she took, she just said she went out the back.
Knowing that there were items found, the open, where the
window was, there was items found in that room, also
there was preliminary statements made by the children in
the home that she had been seen out on that side road
and also that she had contact with the children,
specifically the daughter, who ran northbound on that
side street to Almondwood and was hiding behind the
boat. So it, with the items and him going out the
backyard over this back wall and then to 3929 and then
the 3919, she was never seen by witnesses in that
general area, only he was, and that she was seen out on

the other side. So presumably that she had gone out
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this side. So they were split up at that point.

Q. Okay. And in fact she told you at one
point "we split up"?

A, That's correct.

Q. And then does she tell you or talk to you
about, well, you asked her at some point did you steal
anything from any of the other backyards or what did you
take from the other backyards?

A. Yeah, we asked her if she had taken
anything from any of the backyards and she said there
was nothing to take. And we also asked her if there was
items in the backyard of 3929 and she immediately said
that those items would belong to her if there was. But
like I said she was never really specific about which
wall or her path that she took, just that the items
would be hers.

Q. Now did you talk to her about how she and
Cody eventually end up at 38997

A, Yes.

Q. And is that the, what we have been
referring to as the abandoned house?

A. No, 3909 was the abandoned house.

Q. Okay. Sorry. So do you, you ultimately
talk to her about how the two of them end up at 3909,

the abandoned house?
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A. That's correct.
Q. How does she say she ends up there?
A. They, when her and Cody get to that house

they end up breaking a window, they enter that house.
She talks about it being an abandoned house, nobody
lives in there and that is where she observes the police
for the first time.

Q. How does she say, what's her explanation as
to how she ends up in that house?

A. Going through the window.

Q. Okay. Does she indicate to you that it's
almost by force, that he is making her and forcing her
to go into the house with him? Do you remember her ever
saying oh he drug me in or he had me by the hair, that
that was kind of her explanation at some point as to why
it is that she ends up with him again?

A, Right. I believe she does allude to
something like that, like going into that house. But
then we later questioned her about that, what happens
while they're inside the house, and she talks about how
he's upstairs, running all over the house and she's not
with him at that time.

Q. So then clear through the interview that
while they're in 3909 they're actually in different

places at different times?
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A. That's correct. Because we asked her,
because some of the preliminary investigation on the
radio traffic, there was some radio traffic about it
being a hostage situation so that's why we asked her if
she was ever taken hostage in there and she kind of
alluded to I was afraid that he would do something to
me, but then she would state well, he was, you know,
talking about how he wasn't going to go alive, he was
going to shoot it out in the streets. But she had a lot
of opportunities while in that house to just leave.

Q. So based upon her statements to you, when
you say there were a lot of opportunities, there were
times that she described being away from him, being
downstairs while he was upstairs or upstairs while he
was downstairs, so —-—

A. Yes.

Q. Okay. So that was you drawing that
conclusion based on what she had said?

A. Correct.

0. Now you talked to her about when she
eventually gets out of the home and she's now in custody
of the police or with the police having finally gotten
out. And then according to her what happens when she
gets out of the house?

A. She is yelling at Cody to shoot the police.
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Q. And does she tell you that that's what
she's saying?

A. Yes. Because I made that very clear with
her. I was like are you, were you telling Cody to shoot

at the police, and she stated yes.

Q. And what was her reasoning for saying that?
A. She told me ——
Q. According to her in the interview, what was

her excuse for telling him to shoot the police?

A. She had talked about that for the past week
leading up to this Cody was going to shoot it out, that
he wanted, that he was going to go suicide by cop was
the term that she used and she said that he wanted to
die so I figured if he was going to shoot at the police
they would kill him.

Q. Okay. At one point did you ask her was the
plan kind of just to get in and out?

A. She alluded to, she said something like the
plan was to die.

0. And that was something that he had been
saying to her throughout the week?

A. Yeah. I got the feeling during the
interview that they hadn't really known each other a
long time but had been together for about a week or two.

Q. We've been talking about Cody. Ultimately
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do you identify this person as Cody as a Cody Winters?

A. That's correct.

Q. And did you learn that Cody Winters is the
same person as her term of endearment was Havoc?

A, That's correct.

Q. And ultimately then also Cody Winters, aka
Havoc, 1is the deceased in the, or the suspect in the
officer involved shooting that occurred at 3909, I'm

sorry, 38997

A. That's correct. Because she was taken into

custody making those comments to Cody to shoot the
police at 3909 and then ultimately Winters went over to
3899.

0. But Cody Winters, Havoc, and then the
person who is involved in the officer involved shooting
who dies that day is at 3899, that's all the same
person?

A. Yes.

Q. Finally, did she indicate to you in her
interview that she was on any drugs that day?

A. She did. She talked about her and Winters
being on drugs. She talked about Winters being on
methamphetamine and she had stated that she had taken
some 30s to help her sleep.

MS. FLECK: And just for the ladies and
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gentlemen of the Grand Jury, the information that was
just elicited from the detective regarding drug use is
not in any way to be used as character evidence against
Miss Jackson but just to help you assess her involvement
in this particular case.

I have nothing further. Thank you.

THE FOREPERSON: Any questions from the
Grand Jury?
BY A JUROR:

Q. The white car that had to be towed, who did

it belong to?

A. I have that information.

Q. Was it stolen?

A. Yes, it was stolen. It was a stolen
vehicle.

Q. Or did it belong to one of the two?

A, It was a stolen vehicle.

Q. And what about the camera, was that stolen
as well?

MS. WECKERLY: I'm going to actually
interrupt if I could. I'm going to instruct the Grand
Jury with regard to the white car, the Altima, you
haven't heard any information about that car other than
what the detective said which you can't consider in your

deliberations with regards to these counts.
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In terms of the property, you haven't heard
any information with regard to its source or origin in
this proceeding so we'll ask you not to consider that in
the deliberations except in your assessment of the
evidence of them moving it back and forth, but not
whether or not it's stolen.

A JUROR: Thank you.

THE FOREPERSON: Go ahead, Nancy.

BY A JUROR:

Q. So ultimately they went to the house just
to take, steal his car?

A. Yes.

0. Okay.

THE FOREPERSON: Gene.

BY A JUROR:

Q. Looking at that diagram, and going back to
where the van dropped, the safety wvan dropped the people
off, where in perspective to 3930 was the vehicle where
they were dropped off?

A. That's a very good question. If I may I
have a better photo here with me or —-—

MS. FLECK: I can show Grand Jury Exhibit
Number 2 which I think will give a better view of the
neighborhood.

THE WITNESS: Okay. So can I stand up?
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MS. FLECK: Sure.

THE WITNESS: Will you be able to hear me?

This is the residence we were talking about
where the homicide occurred. This is Autumn.
Almondwood. This is the side street that connects those
two streets. Where the van dropped them off, this is
the next street over here and I believe that is ——

MS. FLECK: Rollingwood?

THE WITNESS: Yes, Rollingwood.

And Rollingwood, if you were to go
northbound on Rollingwood up here this is going to be
Tropicana. And then Tropicana, if you were to make a
right, right here, you go down about a block and that's
going to be US 95. So they get off essentially on
Tropicana from the 95. They're instructed, they're
instructing the subject to turn into another
neighborhood over here. He doesn't make that turn from
what we were told. Ultimately they end up here and they
get out around this area and then they start walking.

What's interesting about this at the time
though as they're walking up the street ——

MS. WECKERLY: Detective, I think we'll
just stop there.

THE WITNESS: Okay.

MS. WECKERLY: Thank you.
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BY A JUROR:
Q. And just one more question. So then the
3930 was just a target of opportunity?

MS. WECKERLY: We will instruct the
detective not to answer that and you can make an
assessment of the evidence in your own deliberations.

THE FOREPERSON: Any other questions?

By law, these proceedings are secret and
you are prohibited from disclosing to anyone anything
that has transpired before us, including evidence and
statements presented to the Grand Jury, any event
occurring or statement made in the presence of the Grand
Jury, and information obtained by the Grand Jury.

Failure to comply with this admonition is a
gross misdemeanor punishable by a year in the Clark
County Detention Center and a $2,000 fine. In addition,
you may be held in contempt of court punishable by an
additional $500 fine and 25 days in the Clark County
Detention Center.

Do you understand this admonition?

THE WITNESS: I do.

THE FOREPERSON: Thank you. You are
excused.

THE WITNESS: Thank you ladies and

gentlemen for your time.

140




10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

122

THE FOREPERSON: Thank you.

MS. WECKERLY: That concludes the witnesses
that we will be presenting on this proposed Indictment.
One thing I'd like to instruct the members of the Grand
Jury that we will be striking Count 9 which is the
attempt home invasion at 3919 Almondwood so you need not
deliberate on that count. We would ask you to
deliberate on the remaining counts which are 1 through
8. And with that we'll let you deliberate. Sorry,
we're just making sure.

(At this time, all persons, other than
members of the Grand Jury, exit the room at 3:53 p.m.
and return at 3:56 p.m.)

THE FOREPERSON: Madames District Attorney,
by a vote of 12 or more grand jurors a true bill has
been returned against defendant Natasha Jackson charging
the crimes of burglary while in possession of a firearm,
attempt robbery with use of a deadly weapon, murder with
use of a deadly weapon, attempt murder with use of a
deadly weapon, first degree kidnapping, robbery with use
of a deadly weapon, and burglary while in possession of
a deadly weapon, 1in Grand Jury Case Number 13BGJ137X.

We instruct you to prepare an Indictment in conformance
with the proposed Indictment previously submitted to us.

MS. WECKERLY: Thank you. With respect to
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Count 9, that's withdrawn?

THE FOREPERSON: Yes.

MS. WECKERLY: And just one other thing for
the record. I just want to make it clear we did not
offer an Exhibit 4 in this case. Thank you.

(Proceedings concluded.)

——oo00o0o——
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STATE OF NEVADA )
: Ss
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I, Danette L. Antonacci, C.C.R. 222, do
hereby certify that I took down in Shorthand (Stenotype)
all of the proceedings had in the before-entitled matter
at the time and place indicated and thereafter said
shorthand notes were transcribed at and under my
direction and supervision and that the foregoing
transcript constitutes a full, true, and accurate record
of the proceedings had.

Dated at Las Vegas, Nevada,

August 22, 2014.

/s/ Danette L. Antonacci

Danette L. Antonacci, C.C.R. 222

143




10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

125

AFFTIRMATION

Pursuant to NRS 239B.030

The undersigned does hereby affirm that the
preceding TRANSCRIPT filed in GRAND JURY CASE NUMBER
13BGJ137X:

X Does not contain the social security number of any
person,

—OR-

Contains the social security number of a person as
required by:

A, A specific state or federal law, to-
wit: NRS 656.250.

_OR_

B. For the administration of a public program
or for an application for a federal or
state grant.

/s/ Danette L. Antonacci
8-22-14
Signature Date

Danette L. Antonacci
Print Name

Official Court Reporter
Title

144




126

$

$2,000 [6

1 16/6 38/1 65/4

84/10 90/9 121/16

$500 [6]

16/8 38/3 65/6

84/12 90/11 121/18

'em [6]

81/10 81/10 81/13

3919 [6] 96/11 96/25 100/3
100/8 112/23 122/6

3929 [7] 96/8 96/25 99/22
100/2 100/17 112/22 113/12

3930 [18] 18/2 93/9 96/5
96/20 97/16 98/1 99/6 99/22
100/6 105/8 105/19 107/24
108/1 108/2 109/10 112/1
119/18 121/3

84/10 90/9 121/16
additional [6] 16/8 38/3 65/6
84/12 90/11 121/18
additionally [2] 93/2 98/17
address [3] 44/9 44/10 93/14
addresses [1l] 93/25
adequate [1] 7/14
administration [1l] 125/15
admonition [13] 10/2 16/4

81/13 82/1 82/2 3:53 [1] 122/12 16/10 37/24 38/5 65/2 65/8
_ 3:56 [1] 122/13 84/8 84/14 90/7 90/13 121/14
4 121/20
--ool0oco [1] 123/7 advice [1] 46/24
-OR [2] 125/10 125/14 4-foot [1] 46/1 advise [1] 47/1
/ 400 [1] 101/13 advised [10] 10/25 16/24
405 [2] 81/23 81/23 38/21 48/4 53/17 65/19 84/25
/s [2] 124/17 125/18 4:30 a.m [1] 40/25 91/3 103/2 104/5
0 5 advisement [6] 11/9 17/8 39/5
66/3 85/9 91/12
0800 [1] 67/16 5'10 [1] 71/16 advising [1] 56/14
1 50 yards [1] 43/2 aerial [1] 69/1
6 affirm [1] 125/4
10 [1] 68/12 AFFIRMATION [1] 125/1
10,000 [1] 12/22 6-foot [1] 45/11 aforethought [3] 7/11 7/12
10:00 [1] 67/15 656.250 [1] 125/13 7/16
11 inches [1] 46/1 6:30 [3] 18/24 35/1 93/7 afraid [1] 115/6
12 [2] 102/5 122/15 6:34 a.m [1] 41/11 African [4] 21/7 45/25 57/25
12:00 [1] 93/19 8 78/1
12:30 [1] 93/19 after [38] 13/8 14/5 24/14
13 [1] 86/5 8-22-14 [1] 125/18 28/3 28/7 28/9 28/12 28/15
13064 [1] 68/24 89120 [1] 18/3 29/8 29/16 30/15 31/15 33/1
13BGJ137X [4] 1/7 5/15 122/22 9 36/10 43/20 47/7 47/10 47/24
125/5 51/17 53/14 55/8 56/25 59/7
14 [1] 125/18 9-millimeter [3] 49/20 108/7 60/7 60/21 62/25 63/16 77/25
15 [2] 40/13 68/12 109/4 78/8 78/17 79/20 80/18 82/9
150 feet [1] 43/2 90 percent [2] 62/11 62/18 82/15 97/8 101/9 103/10
16 [1] 12/8 911 [2] 25/1 26/22 106/14
18 [1] o67/1 95 [7]1 41/2 41/2 41/15 56/6 |afternoon [91 5/9 9/20 10/3
1:30 [2] 102/13 102/14 106/21 120/14 120/15 10/15 11/25 17/24 17/25 41/6
1:30 p.m [1] 40/25 A 92/4
1:33 [1] 1/14 afterwards [1] 22/8
1:45 [2] 102/13 102/14 a.m [2] 40/25 41/11 again [13] 32/18 34/2 48/4
2 abandoned [5] 100/23 113/21 51/11 58/17 77/12 77/12
113/22 113/25 114/5 77/17 18/2 78/7 89/20 101/25
20 [2] 92/9 92/11 abducts [1] 8/24 114/16
2006 [1] 67/1 abide [1] 10/1 against [6] 6/13 8/10 51/25
2014 [7] 1/13 2/1 5/1 12/24 ability [1] 5/7 74/21 118/3 122/16
18/23 92/20 124/15 able [21] 22/2 22/3 22/8 ago [2] 12/7 52/22
21 [1] 12/7 22/16 26/6 26/8 28/9 28/19 agreed [1] 6/24
22 [1] 124/15 28/20 29/13 29/15 30/18 agreement [2] 6/20 6/24
2200 [1] 67/15 36/10 36/20 52/2 53/17 60/18 ahead [3] 64/2 71/9 119/8
222 [3] 1/25 124/6 124/18 72/12 101/5 105/12 120/2 aid [1] 6/23
239B.030 [1] 125/2 abnormal [1] 14/25 aimed [2] 29/15 29/17
25 [6] 16/8 38/3 65/6 84/12 about [85] aiming [3] 83/21 83/22 83/22
90/11 121/18 Absolutely [1] 88/8 ain't [1] 106/20
25-mile [1] 57/13 accidental [2] 8/2 59/4 aka [1] 117/6
27 [1] 86/7 according [3] 72/6 115/23 alive [1] 115/8
29th [10] 18/23 39/24 67/3 116/8 all [41] 5/14 5/16 6/3 8/5

67/12 67/17 69/3 86/8 92/20
92/25 99/10

3

accurate [1] 124/12
accurately [2] 5/6 99/9
acknowledging [1] 87/14
across [8] 26/4 26/8 26/17

30 [1] 4
30s [1]
30th [1]
35 [1]

3899 [6]

1

0/13

117/24

12/24

2/16

96/11 97/4 113/18

117/9 117/13 117/16

39 [1]
3909 [9]

9

6/11
96/11 96/25 97/2

100/22 113/22 113/24 114/24
117/8 117/12

3915 [1]

98/25

29/24 36/15 76/3 76/4 98/2
act [4] 7/4 /77 71/13 15/7
action [3] 8/9 8/11 8/11
acts [2] 7/7 7/8
actual [2] 101/5 105/8
actually [18] 14/1 29/12 34/1

36/22 43/8 46/3 57/13 72/3

73/9 77/11 78/5 79/5 81/11

83/13 93/22 112/8 114/24

118/20

addition [6] 16/6 38/1 65/4

18/24 19/1 20/15 23/19 23/23
24/20 28/22 29/17 38/9 39/21
44/9 46/3 47/5 51/3 55/4
59/21 60/19 61/6 62/22 69/12
70/21 72/12 73/16 74/12
74/18 74/22 88/16 94/10 95/4
97/4 97/5 99/25 106/17
114/21 117/16 122/11 124/8

alleged [1] 5/22

allows [1] 12/14

allude [1] 114/17

alluded [2] 115/6 116/18

Almond [1l] 96/6

Almondwood [16] 30/22 31/8

145




127

A

arrived [8] 34/9 35/2 93/18
94/6 94/9 101/21 102/8

Almondwood. .. [14] 32/18 68/2
94/5 96/8 97/1 97/2 97/4
99/24 100/2 100/3 112/2
112/20 120/5 122/6

almost [3] 12/8 92/13 114/12
alone [3] 7/16 32/23 32/24
along [3] 40/16 56/10 87/2

already [7] 60/17 70/12 70/12
94/16 97/20 97/22 104/17

also [28] 2/18 5/11 13/2
14/16 14/17 15/15 46/8 61/14
79/23 89/7 96/22 97/2 97/10
99/16 101/20 102/1 102/7
107/2 107/17 108/4 108/11
110/6 111/5 111/8 112/15
112/18 113/11 117/6

Although [1] 6/3

Altima [2] 42/2 118/22

always [1] 75/12

am [3] 41/2 62/11 77/12

American [5] 12/21 21/7 45/25
57/25 78/2

amount [3]

analyst [2]

analysts [1]

anatomic [1]

and/or [2] 63/2 106/12

anger [1] 7/17

another [11]] 6/12 7/20 8/4
32/1 40/16 46/9 46/11 713/7
96/18 103/20 120/16

answer [1l] 121/5

answered [1] 47/6

Antonacci [7] 1/25 5/4 124/6
124/17 124/18 125/18 125/21

14/11 14/20 86/13
97/22 100/9
97/21
12/20

any [57]

anybody [3] 51/25 53/5 80/25

anymore [7] 36/7 48/4 61/7
80/23 81/3 82/16 104/19

anyone [15] 6/15 10/1 10/4
15/24 20/18 23/18 33/20 37/2
37/19 64/22 70/15 70/15 84/3
90/2 121/9

anything [48]

anyway [2] 77/19 109/15

apartment [l] 56/20

appear [3] 21/20 32/9 37/10

appeared [3] 32/10 98/4
100/18

appears [5]
87/20 88/2

application [1]

approached [2]

approaches [1]

approximately [2]

are [70]

area [16] 41/12 42/12 43/19
59/11 63/19 67/7 67/10 68/15
69/1 71/10 72/16 98/15 102/3
110/11 112/24 120/19

74/25 75/1 75/11

125/15

43/25 106/2
45/20

41/8 102/5

areas [1] 100/3
aren't [1] 34/15
arise [1] 7/16
arms [1] 81/14

around [16] 18/23 35/1 41/11
53/3 58/6 69/17 70/13 74/14
79/13 82/22 93/18 94/7 95/13
99/25 105/16 120/19

arrive [4] 93/17 94/13 96/12
102/12

102/13

arriving [1] 97/23

articulate [1] 75/9
as [87]
ask [13] 9/20 9/23 24/11

27/5 36/16 37/2 39/20 61/1
61/1 104/16 116/16 119/3
122/7

asked [21] 33/19 45/9 47/2
53/4 54/9 54/11 57/25 59/24
60/21 93/8 104/18 104/19
104/23 108/4 111/1 111/21
113/6 113/9 113/11 115/1
115/4

asking [3]

asks [2]

assault [1] 6/9

assembled [1] 87/23

assess [1l] 118/4

assessment [2] 119/4 121/6

24/7 74/21 15/12
54/23 78/9

assign [1] 68/15

assigned [5] 5/12 41/1 67/6
86/2 92/7

assist [4] 40/10 41/22 68/19
111/9

Assistant [1] 2/5

assume [6] 43/25 53/25 74/11
74/16 97/20 99/21

attacking [1] 29/5

attempt [26] 5/23 5/25 6/3
7/2 11/3 11/4 11/7 17/2 17/3
17/6 38/24 38/25 39/3 65/22
65/23 66/1 75/6 85/3 85/4
85/7 91/6 91/7 91/10 122/6
122/18 122/19

attempted [4]
71/11

attention [6] 9/18 12/23
18/22 29/3 68/13 92/19

attorney [5] 2/19 2/21 5/10
5/12 122/14

attribute [1]

audio [1]

August [4]
124/15

automatic [1] 49/21

automatically [1] 68/19

autopsies [2] 12/10 12/14

autopsy [2] 13/3 15/9

Autumn [13] 18/2 18/6 19/1
93/9 93/14 94/4 96/10 96/20
99/24 105/8 105/19 107/24
120/4

available [1] 9/11

aware [l1] 108/22

away [15] 22/1 24/17 24/18
41/24 43/13 46/13 52/3 76/17
79/10 79/11 81/14 82/6 82/8
111/7 115/13

7/6 1/24 8/20

101/5
102/7
1/13 2/1 5/1

B

back [109]

back-up [1] 36/8

background [1] 73/4

backpack [9] 57/22 100/22
101/1 101/3 101/4 106/14

106/16 107/3 111/17
backpacks [1] 100/21
backtrack [1] 78/8
backwards [2] 23/4 60/8

backyard [10] 26/10 57/2
70/20 71/6 71/13 100/8 112/1
112/9 112/22 113/12

backyards [3] 113/7 113/8

113/10
badge [1] 68/23
bag [7] 50/7 50/18 57/6

57/24 58/25 60/3 101/5

bags [3] 59/18 59/19 100/20

banging [3] 21/17 73/11 73/15

BARBARA [1] 2/5

bare [2] 72/25 73/2

barrel [1] 77/8

barricade [3] 75/4 77/17
77/22

barricading [1] 70/11

barrier [2] 50/23 52/19

bars [2] 72/4 72/5

based [10] 10/2 14/18 19/11
27/23 32/8 95/6 101/6 111/1
115/11 115/18

basically [4]
106/8 111/7

basis [1] 12/10

basketball [1] 35/25

bathroom [2] 104/16 104/24

baton [1] 98/3

be [70]

bear [1]

became [2]

because [44]

41/18 76/24

6/5
101/10 107/19

bed [2] 34/3 34/12

bedroom [5] 26/3 26/4 26/6
26/9 30/2

been [49]

before [24] 5/20 10/20 15/25
16/19 20/24 30/24 34/9 37/20
38/16 55/15 63/19 64/23
65/14 74/10 84/4 84/20 90/3
90/23 104/3 105/18 109/6
111/17 121/10 124/8

before—-entitled [1] 124/8

beginning [7] 22/7 23/10
28/20 31/3 103/18 104/1
104/7

behind
30/23
41/18

[18] 23/7 23/8 30/21
31/12 31/25 33/14
41/21 42/23 42/25 52/5
52/12 52/14 52/19 63/20
64/12 112/20

being [12] 5/20 7/7 7/11
18/25 98/12 103/12 114/5
115/4 115/13 115/13 117/22
117/22

believe [17] ©5/14 14/15 14/16
14/17 21/5 34/14 36/6 50/2
51/8 57/24 68/9 98/24 107/16
108/12 108/19 114/17 120/7

believes [1] 9/12

belong [3] 113/13 118/11
118/16

bent [1] 7/20

besides [4] 19/8 20/17 96/23
107/13

best [3] 5/7 41/9 48/6

better [2] 119/21 119/23

between [7] 6/21 50/23 52/20
54/3 56/19 95/7 99/24

big [1] 45/11

bill [1] 122/15

births [1] 97/5

bit [5] 21/25 32/16 39/21

146




128

B
bit... [2] 48/12 105/16
black [18] 21/7 21/10 23/22

32/20 36/7 49/20 50/7 50/8
50/18 52/15 58/25 60/3 63/1
74/4 74/4 74/9 18/17 108/7
blinker [3] 53/8 53/25 56/3
block [7] 59/10 71/15 77/10
80/7 80/9 80/9 120/13

blocked [1] 94/10

blond [1] 21/4

blood [3] 14/11 14/20 15/3

board [2] 12/20 12/21

boat [2] 100/5 112/21

bodies [1] 12/10

bodily [2] 8/18 8/22

body [5] 13/18 14/6 14/10
14/14 15/2

bolt [4] 34/13 34/16 107/5
111/18

both [20] 11/12 17/11 19/25

20/8 21/21 36/5 39/8 42/20
47/17 50/22 52/19 57/19 66/6
72/18 73/22 79/25 80/15
80/16 85/12 91/15

bottle [1] 104/17

bottom [3] 89/5 94/5 99/16

Boulevard [1] 41/3

boyfriend [1] 105/22

breaking [2] 73/25 114/4

breaks [3] 72/24 72/25 73/1

briefed [5] 94/14 94/17 95/20
96/12 96/15

briefing [1]

briefly [1] 97/2

bring [1] 46/11

broadcast [2] 75/19 79/4

broadcasts [1] 81/22

broke [1] 75/17

broken [2] 50/3 79/23

brother [8] 18/8 18/16 18/17
18/18 19/1 19/22 24/20 24/25

97/8

brought [1] 13/10

build [1] 74/3

building [1] 102/6

bullet [4] 14/9 14/13 100/12

100/13

bullets [1] 98/19

bunch [1] 34/23

BUNTJER [1] 2/6

bureau [3] 92/12 92/15 92/16

burglar [1] 72/4

burglary [20] 5/23 6/2 6/7
6/10 7/25 11/2 11/6 17/1
17/5 38/23 39/2 65/21 65/25
68/8 85/2 85/6 91/5 91/9
122/17 122/21

burner [3] 108/13 108/16

109/1
button [1] 44/12
C
C.C.R [3] 1/25 124/6 124/18
€300032 [1] 1/7
cage [1] 52/15
call [11] 41/22 43/9 44/16

61/5 64/12 68/7 68/13 68/21
69/25 75/5 76/24

called [10] 14/21 25/1 26/22
30/21 46/10 46/16 55/18
69/13 83/3 95/8

calling [3] 29/23 31/24 32/5

calm [2] 49/11 49/23

came [19] 13/6 14/9 19/13
19/13 19/18 19/21 19/23
22/10 24/23 32/17 33/14 35/7
45/8 68/4 69/17 69/25 83/17
97/3 106/25

camera [7] 57/24 58/1 58/2
59/23 98/3 100/16 118/18

can [33] 14/1 36/18 39/21
40/12 43/6 49/18 53/1 60/21
61/1 62/10 68/18 69/7 69/8
69/8 70/21 72/13 72/15 73/3
73/3 73/7 73/16 75/9 78/7
79/24 81/3 81/4 83/11 86/22
88/17 109/16 119/22 119/25
121/5

can't [8] 29/20 30/4 71/16
75/23 76/3 76/9 78/20 118/24

cancel [1] 61/5
cannot [1] 10/1
capable [1] 8/21

car [35] 28/2 28/8 28/10
29/17 29/18 34/19 35/4 35/8
36/9 36/25 41/17 42/4 42/9
42/9 42/24 43/1 44/14 44/19
47/20 49/3 50/11 50/17 51/7
51/10 67/18 67/22 67/23
106/17 107/21 107/22 109/13
118/10 118/22 118/23 119/11

care [1] 95/14

carjacked [1] 109/20

carjacking [1] 109/23

carpet [2] 31/3 31/5

carry [4] 55/2 55/5 108/10
109/1

cars [9] 34/24 35/5 35/6
35/9 35/13 35/19 35/21 36/2
36/4

cartridge [4]
100/12 100/13

case [25] 5/15 9/17 10/2
14/19 15/10 34/14 34/17
36/13 43/10 51/19 52/15 53/4
55/3 71/11 72/8 76/12 76/25
87/25 93/12 95/23 98/3 118/5
122/22 123/5 125/4

cases [2] 12/6 12/22

casing [2] 98/15 100/13

CATHY [1] 2/13

caught [1] 55/17

cause [9] 7/13 8/18 15/10
31/25 76/10 76/24 80/7
110/16 112/11

caused [2] 31/22 93/8

causing [1] 8/22

cell [4] 58/9 58/10 60/22
107/16

center [13] 16/6 16/9 38/1
38/4 43/19 65/4 65/7 84/10
84/13 90/9 90/12 121/16
121/19

certain [1] 14/14

CERTIFICATE [1] 124/1

certified [1] 12/20

certify [1] 124/7

chairs [1] 102/7

chance [4] 26/15 30/3 78/10
78/10

98/14 98/14

changed [1] 47/5
changes [2] 72/21 75/8
character [1] 118/3
charger [1] 99/16

9/19 10/8
122/16

charges [2]
charging [1]

check [6] 24/18 32/15 33/6
34/4 34/10 43/5
chief [4] 2/19 2/21 5/10

5/11
children [2]
cinder [5]

80/9 80/9
circular [1] 71/19
circumstances [3]

95/20
Civie [1]
clarify [1] 63/12
CLARK [17] 1/2 12/2 12/25

16/5 16/8 18/4 37/25 38/3

65/3 65/6 84/9 84/12 90/8

90/11 121/15 121/18 124/4
classification [1] 66/19
clear [5] 68/18 109/7 114/23

116/3 123/4
cleared [1]
clearly [2] 40/19 41/19
climb [1] 63/19
clinical [1] 12/20
closer [1] 43/21
closeup [1] 99/19
club [1] 63/2
co [2] 40/16 70/2
co-worker [1l] 40/16
co-workers [1] 70/2
code [2] 68/17 70/1
Cody [37] 10/8 81/10 81/13

81/17 81/20 82/1 96/19

103/23 106/8 106/15 107/19

108/2 109/9 109/13 109/16

110/3 110/16 110/17 111/6

111/7 111/9 111/13 111/18

111/23 111/23 113/18 114/3

115/25 116/4 116/11 116/25

117/1 117/1 117/3 117/6

117/11 117/14
Cody's [1] 110/2
COLEMAN [1] 2/7
color [3] 23/14 42/2 42/3
come [28] 19/25 31/22 36/15

41/4 43/4 43/5 46/3 46/17

47/3 48/20 50/8 52/16 55/19

56/15 68/7 69/8 72/23 76/11

78/13 78/14 79/15 79/16

79/21 82/16 95/24 109/16

109/19 110/2
comes [9] 45/19 47/25 49/5

51/10 51/13 77/25 80/10

80/19 110/23
comfort [1] 104/15
comfortable [2] 69/10 105/3
coming [17] 21/8 31/15 32/1

32/16 32/18 32/19 33/7 33/7

33/19 48/8 48/23 69/15 74/12

80/8 80/8 86/5 86/7
command [2] 67/7 67/10
commands [1] 111/24
comments [2] 62/18 117/11
commission [3] 6/23 7/4 7/5
commit [5] 6/9 6/21 6/23 /2

7/3
committed [1]
committing [1]
communicate [2]
company [1] 6/16
compartment [2]

112/16 112/18

71/15 717/9 80/6

8/20 75/3

36/6

68/11

7/24
9/2
51/3 64/14

52/17 52/20
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C
complex [1l] 56/21
complied [1] 53/23

comply [6] 16/4 37/24 65/2
84/8 90/7 121/14

concluded [1] 123/6

concludes [1] 122/2

conclusion [3] 15/10 15/15
115/18

condition [2] 7/15 7/15
conduct [1] 13/11
confined [1] 9/21
confines [1] 8/24
conformance [1] 122/23
confusing [1] 82/10
connects [1] 120/5

consequences [2] 7/21 8/11
consider [2] 118/24 119/3
consideration [1] 9/19
considered [1] 75/4
considering [1] 8/11
considers [1] 7/14
consistent [1] 15/6
console [1] 43/19
conspiracy [2] 6/20 6/22
Constant [1] 43/18
constitutes [1] 124/12
construction [1] 8/17
consummate [1] 7/5
contact [7] 62/22 64/5 79/14
83/8 100/25 109/13 112/18

contacted [1] 61/9
contacts [1] 108/3
contain [2] 76/6 125/8

containment [4] 70/15 72/7
75/6 77/20

Contains [1] 125/11

contemplated [1] 8/17

contempt [6] 16/7 38/2 65/5
84/11 90/10 121/17

control [1] 25/7

conversation [7] 46/6 52/23
55/15 55/24 56/10 103/25
108/15

conversations [1]

Cook [1] 12/19

cop [3] 34/23 81/23 116/12

cops [2] 33/18 55/18

copy [2] 5/14 5/16

corner [6] 71/8 71/20 71/21
75/18 76/8 17/3

coroner's [4] 12/3 12/7 12/25
13/10

correct [72]

couches [1] 20/15

could [28] 13/20 21/4 25/13
25/14 31/15 37/2 38/11 41/19
47/3 53/4 55/4 59/24 61/8
63/2 71/10 71/20 72/19 73/18
77/6 77/7 19/4 79/12 87/24
98/6 100/11 109/23 110/9
118/21

couldn't [2] 22/1 31/25

count [3] 122/5 122/7 123/1

Count 9 [2] 122/5 123/1

counts [2] 118/25 122/8

COUNTY [18] 1/2 12/3 12/19
12/25 16/6 16/8 18/4 38/1
38/3 65/4 65/6 84/10 84/12
90/9 90/11 121/16 121/18
124/4

63/17

couple [5] 10/7 41/4 41/10
70/13 102/6

course [2] 8/9 14/10

court [8] 1/1 16/7 38/2 65/5
84/11 90/10 121/17 125/23

cover [2] 70/20 71/16

covered [2] 63/5 70/16

crime [13] 6/22 6/24 6/24
7/3 7/3 9/9 9/10 94/11 97/21
97/22 100/9 101/7 101/11

crimes [3] 5/21 5/22 122/17

critical [1] 68/17

crouched [1] 52/5

crying [2] 48/8 48/10

CsSA [1] 101/7

cuffed [1] 102/10

cuffs [1] 82/11

curb [2] 35/22 35/24

current [1] 75/4

currently [1] 92/7

custody [4] 80/3 101/1 115/21
117/11

custom [1]

cutters [4]
111/18

109/1

34/13 34/16 107/5

D

D-0-M-I-N-I-C [1] 17/13

dad [29] 18/7 18/8 18/25
19/15 21/14 21/16 22/2 22/6
22/11 22/16 22/20 25/7 25/14
25/19 27/8 28/13 28/16 28/18
28/21 29/4 29/5 29/8 29/10
29/13 30/9 30/25 33/20 36/8
111/6

dad's [2]

daily [1]

damaged [2] 54/20 58/22

Danette [7] 1/25 5/4 124/6
124/17 124/18 125/18 125/21

danger [1] 76/5

dark [1] 74/3

date [3] 67/1 97/5 125/19

Dated [1] 124/14

daughter [4] 100/6 110/4
110/10 112/19

day [20] 6/8 9/4 12/24 13/2
25/20 25/23 27/12 40/23
92/20 93/5 103/2 103/5
103/19 104/3 105/13 108/9
108/19 108/21 117/16 117/20

days [6] 16/8 38/3 65/6
84/12 90/11 121/18

DC [1] 1/7

deadly [42]

deal [1] 80/24

dealing [1] 95/22

death [10] 8/18 8/22 9/13
9/16 14/19 14/23 15/1 15/10
15/16 95/11

24/24 29/24
12/10

debating [1] 79/5

deceased [1] 117/7

decedent [3] 13/3 95/25 97/17
decide [1] 10/2

decision [2] 76/7 76/18
decoys [1] 8/24

defendant [3] 1/9 9/11 122/16
defense [1] 9/11

defined [2] 6/7 8/15

definitely [1] 14/16
degree [11] 6/1 8/1 8/4 9/3
11/5 17/4 39/1 65/24 85/5

91/8 122/20
deliberate [5]
122/8 122/9
deliberately [1]
deliberation [2]
deliberations [4]
119/4 121/6
demanding [4]
28/8
demeanor [2] 103/7 103/12
department [9] 40/3 40/19
66/21 86/1 87/7 92/7 92/9
94/15 95/3

7/9 8/3 122/7
83/19

8/6 8/8

9/21 118/25

24/8 27/9 28/5

depends [1] 75/2
depict [2] 41/21 99/10
depicted [1] 42/13

depicting [1] 94/3

deputy [4] 2/19 2/21 5/10
5/11

describe [8] 14/1 14/2 19/17
21/1 44/4 48/14 78/4 103/11

described [4] 7/16 106/2
110/21 115/13

description [2] 49/19 75/19

descriptors [1] 14/3

design [2] 8/12 8/17

details [4] 68/10 70/10 71/24
72/

detain [1] 9/1

detains [1] 9/1

detective [18] 62/4 86/11
90/19 92/4 92/8 92/11 92/16
92/17 93/1 101/19 101/20
101/22 102/24 104/18 118/2
118/24 120/22 121/5

detectives [13] 36/12 36/14
36/23 86/13 93/5 93/6 94/12
94/13 101/18 102/23 104/15
105/4 108/13

Detention [12] 16/6 16/9 38/1
38/4 65/4 65/7 84/10 84/13
90/9 90/12 121/16 121/19

determination [1] 8/12

determined [1] 103/22

determining [1] &8/8

device [2] 8/19 64/13

diagram [1] 119/16

did [151]

didn't [24] 24/23 25/22 28/1
28/1 29/1 29/6 30/1 33/8
34/2 35/7 43/11 48/3 70/16
77/13 79/18 81/1 82/5 82/18
82/19 82/20 83/23 98/18
102/14 104/24

die [3] 29/25 116/14 116/19
died [1] 95/18
dies [1] 117/16

different [5] 63/6 74/19
89/13 114/24 114/25
differently [1] 70/22
direct [3] 12/23 18/22 92/19
directed [1] 106/17
direction [9] 76/2 76/16
76/17 171/4 717/5 77/9 18/22
79/8 124/11
directions [1]
directly [3] 53/14 71/2 71/3
dirt [1] 26/13
disappear [1l] 73/6
disclosing [6] 15/24 37/19
64/22 84/3 90/2 121/9
dispatched [1] 68/1

43/
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D

disregard [2] 7/21 9/23
distinctly [1] 8/13
distress [1] 105/2

district [6] 1/1 2/19 2/21
5/10 5/12 122/14

do [133]

Doctor [1] 11/25

does [44]

doesn't [5] 50/8 81/2 81/18
82/16 120/17

dog [3] 31/12 34/10 36/11

doing [14] 7/13 12/6 21/11

21/15 21/16 41/20 43/6 50/13
54/15 55/12 55/14 58/9 59/16
77/19

Dominic [8] 16/15 17/12 17/16
17/24 18/1 19/10 86/19 88/23

don't [30] 21/5 21/8 21/16
21/17 22/18 25/13 25/15
28/17 29/6 31/25 33/11 33/11
35/8 36/7 44/6 45/9 47/9
49/6 51/1 51/23 57/12 59/4
74/22 76/2 76/25 79/24 79/25
83/8 83/13 83/15

done [2] 7/8 12/22

door [19] 30/2 30/19 45/3
45/4 45/16 47/15 47/15 712/21
73/9 73/9 73/12 73/16 74/21
98/8 98/16 99/15 99/16 99/17
111/20

doors [2]

doorway [2]

Dosch [3]
104/18

double [1]

down [29]
32/16
43/12
49/23
68/11
81/16

72/11 73/10
82/25 110/4
101/19 101/22

20/5
14/10 21/8 26/16
32/17 36/22 41/17
43/18 44/10 45/6 49/11
51/2 52/5 53/4 53/6
69/20 76/24 81/16
82/15 83/12 93/23
98/25 102/21 120/13 124/7
downstairs [5] 72/24 74/13
74/20 115/14 115/15
Dr [1] 10/16
draw [2] 15/9 15/15
drawing [1] 115/17
drink [1] 38/11
drive [7] 35/6 41/24 42/25
43/9 43/13 56/2 106/18
driver [2] 52/17 107/14
driver's [7] 42/21 44/1 49/17
51/22 52/10 52/20 63/20
drives [1l] 36/8
driveway [4] 35/21 35/23 36/1

36/2
driving [4] 44/13 55/21 55/23
106/1
drop [4] 47/4 59/7 76/3
78/13

dropped [7] 41/23 59/2 59/3
119/17 119/17 119/19 120/6

drug [2] 114/14 118/2

drugs [2] 117/20 117/22

dude [1] 109/20

due [4] 51/19 54/20 55/3
59/25

duffles [1] 100/21

duly [7] 5/5 11/18 17/17

39/13 66/11 85/17 91/21

duress [2] 9/10 9/11

during [12] 7/24 24/20 37/1
57/4 60/10 100/24 106/23
107/22 108/11 110/16 110/19

116/22
dusting [1] 58/16
duty [1] 7/22
dwelling [2] 6/8 9/5
E
each [6] 19/18 19/23 20/10

22/21 93/4 116/23
earlier [2] 103/19 104/3
early [2] 18/23 68/12
earrings [1] 45/12
EARTH [2] 4/11 96/4
easily [1] 72/19
east [6] 71/2 71/3 72/21

80/17 80/18 98/9

eating [1] 69/12

effect [1] 104/22

effects [1] 100/19

eight [4] 67/2 71/16 92/13
92/16

eight feet [1] 71/16

EIGHTH [1] 1/1

either [8] 7/11 20/23 44/21

56/19 69/9 100/19 104/3
108/18

elements [4] 6/4 7/2 8/6 10/5

elicited [1] 118/2

else [13] 13/22 14/2 19/8
20/18 56/15 57/23 75/24
80/25 82/20 107/13 110/6
110/11 112/7

employed [8] 12/1 39/24 66/18
66/20 85/24 92/5 92/6 92/9

employee [1] 87/8

encountered [3] 41/9 42/15
97/1

end [8] 15/9 73/22 97/3
107/23 113/18 113/24 114/4
120/18

endearment [1] 117/4

ended [5] 53/5 69/18 71/17
77/11 96/23

ends [4] 110/24 114/2 114/9
114/16

enforcement [1]

engage [1] 77/14

engaged [1] 77/18

engaging [1] 111/8

ensure [1] 104/15

enter [2] 31/3 114/4

entered [2] 53/16 96/20

enters [2] 6/8 9/5

entices [1] 8/24

entire [1] 76/4

entitled [1] 124/8

entrance [1] 98/7

entry [1] 9/7

Eric [1] 68/23

escape [3] 6/19 9/15 76/13

especially [1] 79/20

essentially [1] 120/14

estimate [1] 45/13

ETA [1] 47/3

even [5] 36/7 77/6 77/17
82/19 109/5

event [6] 16/1 37/21 64/24
84/5 90/4 121/11

events [1] 14/25

95/7

eventually [13] 34/5 72/8
72/22 12/23 73/5 73/ 18/22
106/9 107/21 107/23 109/19
113/18 115/21

ever [15] 20/23 24/11 25/10
25/19 28/24 29/4 32/25 43/21
44/22 46/13 62/23 64/5 107/7
114/13 115/5

EVERS [1] 2/8

Every [2] 6/7 8/23

everyone [1] 75/9

everyone's [1] 75/25

everything [6] 36/24 55/6
60/17 63/3 77/24 97/9

everywhere [2] 26/13 74/13

evidence [17] 9/18 9/19 15/25
37/20 64/23 84/4 90/3 96/25
97/6 97/19 97/25 98/12 100/8
118/3 119/5 121/6 121/10

evidentiary [1] 100/4

evolved [1] 103/5

exact [2] 20/19 42/14

exactly [3] 34/18 41/13 49/6

examination [14] 11/22 13/11
13/14 13/15 13/19 13/23 14/5
14/6 15/5 17/21 39/17 66/15
85/21 92/1

examine [1]

examined [2]

13/6
3/2 13/9

Examiner's [1] 12/19
except [2] 74/18 119/4
excuse [2] 7/13 116/9

excused [6] 16/13 38/8 65/11
84/17 90/16 121/23
execution [1] 79/1
Exhibit [17] 5/19 37/6 42/4
42/8 61/20 62/2 69/1 69/6
86/21 93/21 94/2 96/2 98/22
99/14 99/18 119/22 123/5
Exhibit 1 [1] 5/19
Exhibit 2 [4] 42/4 42/8 69/1
69/6
Exhibit 4 [2]
Exhibit 7 [3]
86/21
exhibits [4]
99/3
exigency [1]
exit [4]
122/12
exited [1]
expended [2]
experience [1]
expire [1] 15/3
explained [2] 10/10 10/11
explanation [2] 114/8 114/15
express [2] 7/8 7/11
exsanguination [1] 14/21
extension [1] 72/2
external [5] 13/15 13/18
13/22 14/5 15/6

98/22 123/5
61/20 62/2

4/1 4/3 9/22

75/2
48/5 54/1 56/4

45/8
98/14 100/13
12/13

eye [1] 79/14

F

face [1] 20/14

faced [1] 74/24
facilitate [1] 6/19
facing [2] 78/22 79/8
fact [2] 74/17 113/2
FAIBVRE [1] 2/9

fail [1] 7/7

Failure [7] 7/5 16/4 37/24
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F

Failure... [4] 65/2 84/8 90/7
121/14

fair [2] 102/15 103/15

fairly [2] 14/4 99/9

faith [1] 9/12

faithfully [1] 5/5

familiar [2] 42/4 109/3

family [4]
96/21

family's [2] 35/5 35/9

far [3] 42/25 106/20 108/25

fast [1] 63/4

faster [1] 57/12

fatally [2] 7/20 82/24

father [3] 18/19 28/25
110/10

fear [2] ©6/13 6/16

federal [2] 125/12 125/15

feeling [1] 116/22

feels [1] 10/1

feet [6] 43/2 71/16 71/19
72/17 72/17 72/18

fell [6] 44/13 46/9 54/21
58/13 58/13 60/1

fellowship [1] 12/18

felt [3] 45/5 45/5 109/15

female [8] 42/21 45/7 61/18
61/19 62/25 74/9 78/17
103/20

fence [1]

6/15 55/19 56/16

71/14

fiddling [1] 57/6
fidgety [2] 48/11 48/13
fifteen [1] 46/2

fifteen pounds [1] 46 /2
fight [1] 111/10
fighting [5] 21/17 21/19

22/18 110/3 110/17

figure [1] 82/22

figured [3] 44/14 48/19
116/14

filed [1] 125/4

£ill [2] 87/11 89/3

finally [3] 29/14 115/22
117/19

find [10] 13/20 14/8 29/20

29/21 30/5 44/17 71/17 75/21
76/5 106/6

findings [1] 13/17

fine [16] 16/6 16/8 38/1
38/3 52/1 53/19 56/25 65/4
65/6 84/10 84/12 90/9 90/11
104/20 121/16 121/18

fingerprints [1] 109/7

finishing [1] 68/6

fire [3] 76/1 76/16 83/19

firearm [19] 5/23 11/2 17/1
25/8 30/7 38/23 65/21 68/9
70/10 77/3 77/8 77/20 78/23
85/2 91/5 98/12 108/4 108/17
122/17

fired [2]

firing [1]

first [63]

FISCHER [1] 2/4

fit [11] 72/19 94/17 94/23
95/1 95/8 95/10 95/14 95/22
101/23 101/24 102/1

five [8] 31/17 31/20 38/11
47/23 70/17 72/17 72/18 93/6

five feet [2] 72/17 72/18

77/8 83/18
76 /2

fixes [1] 40/12

Flamingo [1] 69/13

flashers [1] 41/19

flat [3] 40/11 72/1 72/3

Fleck [2] 2/21 5/11

floor [6] 21/25 22/4 31/4
31/6 98/7 102/6

focus [1] 80/21

focused [1] 81/4

fog [1] 45/4

folks [1] 101/8

follow [2] 31/10 111/24

followed [2] 30/18 30/19

following [5] 5/6 32/2 33/14
111/22 112/5

follows [7] 6/7 11/20 17/19
39/15 66/13 85/19 91/23

foot [3] 45/11 46/1 59/14

force [6] 6/13 6/16 77/21
94/25 95/4 114/12

forcibly [1] 9/4
forecing [1] 114/12
foregoing [1] 124/11

forensic [5] 12/2 12/4 12/6
12/18 12/21
Foreperson [7] 2/3 11/18

17/17 39/13 66/11 85/17

91/21
form [4] 8/4 8/5 87/11 89/4
formed [1] 8/13
forth [5] 73/5 73/7 78/20

105/17 119/5

forward [2] 52/16 55/13

found [12] 48/19 48/20 50/2
71/18 82/23 98/10 98/19
100/8 100/14 100/23 112/14
112/15

foundation [1]

four [4]
71/19

four feet [1] 71/19

frame [2] 73/11 73/15

framed [1] 74/8

Fred [1] 93/1

freeway [21] 40/1 40/6 40/14
44/16 45/17 46/12 46/18 47/2
47/12 48/2 48/6 49/12 52/1
53/2 53/18 56/3 56/4 63/13
96/17 105/25 106/18

friend [7] 46/11 46/17 46/17
47/3 47/11 48/1 48/7

friend's [1] 46 /22

friends [3] 55/19 56/15
103/23

front [12] 35/21 43/17 45/2
47/15 51/24 59/10 69/23
70/14 71/24 71/25 98/16
107/11

full [5] 49/20 54/9 54/23
55/6 124/12

13/25
31/17 31/19 47/23

functioned [1] 51/19
funny [1] 51/25
furniture [1] 71/18

further [7] 15/20 22/1 37/14

53/18 53/20 83/8 118/6

G

gain [1] 71/18

GALENN [2] 1/8 5/13

garage [5] 35/11 35/12 35/14
35/16 72/2

garble [1] 81/8

GARCIA [1] 2/10

gas [2] 40/11 106/1

gave [2] 49/9 54/10

GENE [3] 2/12 64/3 119/14

general [3] 68/20 80/23
112/24

generally [3] 41/12 45/10
68/16

gentleman [5] 47/14 57/16
58/12 62/16 106/12

gentlemen [4] 14/22 93/20
118/1 121/25

get [61]

gets [10] 24/17 57/16 57/17
77/14 82/17 105/6 109/10
110/23 115/21 115/24

getting [14] 19/16 22/23 23/3
23/5 50/10 53/7 58/11 60/1
60/6 81/24 95/13 107/18
109/12 109/13

girl [2] 28/16 47/25

give [24] 10/20 11/1 16/19
16/25 29/17 38/16 38/22 49/8
49/18 51/23 51/25 55/9 60/13
61/12 65/14 65/20 78/10
78/10 84/20 85/1 90/23 91/4
110/18 119/23

given [1] 104/18

GJ [1] 1/7

glad [1] 25/2

glass [9] 72/11 73/1 73/10
73/11 73/15 74/21 75/17 98/8
111/20

go [56]

God [7] 10/22 16/21 34/11
38/18 65/16 84/22 90/25

goes [14] 24/18 51/10 53/20
73/6 13/ 17/22 78/1 18/17
81/17 81/20 82/18 108/3
110/1 110/2

GOGGLE [2] 4/11 96/4
going [60]
gone [2] 75/10 112/25

good [11] 5/9 9/12 10/15
11/25 17/24 17/25 47/12 76/3
81/11 92/4 119/20

got [37] 13/8 21/12 23/20
25/7 26/2 27/11 27/20 31/8
33/16 43/23 49/10 51/17
54/19 55/17 56/5 58/5 58/6
60/8 60/17 62/25 63/1 63/9
63/10 80/21 93/11 94/20
95/18 95/20 100/2 102/11
102/15 105/19 106/17 106/19
107/18 110/14 116/22

gotten [2] 94/16 115/22

GPs [2] 53/11 53/20

grab [4] 22/2 80/6 82/4 82/7

grabbed [2] 106/14 106/16

grabbing [1] 81/14

grabs [2] 80/2 80/9

grand [70]

grant [1l] 125/16

grass [1] 26/14

Graveyard [1] 67/15

gray [1] 34/14

groggy [1] 103/9

gross [6] 16/5 37/25 65/3
84/9 90/8 121/15

ground [2] 21/14 72/17

grudge [1] 7/18

guess [5] 21/4 31/24 55/4
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G

guess... [2]

guilty [2] 6/22 9/9

gun [36] 21/17 21/22 21/23
22/2 22/9 22/12 22/17 22/21
25/13 27/7 28/3 28/5 28/10
29/13 30/8 49/7 49/19 51/2
52/3 52/23 53/5 62/23 63/16
76/13 78/12 78/13 78/14
79/10 83/18 106/9 106/15
108/21 110/15 110/17 110/18
110/19

gunpoint [1]

gunshot [2]

gunshots [1]

GUTHO [1] 2/5

gutter [2] 54/20 58/13

guy [11] 19/16 22/8 25/15
28/15 28/18 29/5 46/14 52/13
54/6 103/21 109/12

72/18 76/20

96/16
13/21 15/13
82/21

haven't [2] 118/23 119/1

having [10] 5/5 11/18 17/17
23/4 39/13 66/11 85/17 91/21
103/21 115/22

Havoc [10] 103/22 105/19
105/20 105/22 105/22 106/7
106/12 117/4 117/7 117/14

he [203]

he'd [3] 25/21 56/15 107/1
He'll [1] 73/5

he's [20] 14/2 21/16 48/23

49/16 50/21 59/16 63/16 73/2
75/12 76/9 79/7 79/9 80/21
80/21 87/7 88/25 101/24
108/3 108/4 114/21

head [10] 21/3 21/5 21/17
78/24 79/2 79/6 102/21 103/3
106/9 106/15

headed [1] 68/12

hear [17] ©9/17 10/2 25/17
25/22 39/21 70/16 73/3 73/3

guy's [3] 31/23 106/15 74/10 81/5 81/6 81/8 81/12
107/19 82/1 82/20 82/21 120/2
guys [5] 51/20 70/17 81/20 heard [11] 9/23 31/23 32/3
105/7 105/11 68/7 81/9 81/9 87/15 110/6
H 110/10 118/23 119/1
hearing [4] 19/11 23/23 81/5
habit [1] 109/1 81/25
had [97] heart [1] 7/20
hadn't [2] 110/2 116/23 HEDGE [1] 2/11
hair [10] 19/16 21/7 22/23 held [8] 16/7 38/2 65/5

23/3 23/5 23/8 23/11 74/3
110/25 114/14

hairs [1] 21/4

half [3] 41/13 48/4 67/2

hallway [6] 20/3 20/8 20/11
20/13 24/22 26/20

hand [14] 10/18 16/17 28/20
38/14 41/14 54/21 56/21
56/24 58/13 60/14 65/12
84/18 90/21 102/10

Handcuff [1] 81/15

handcuffs [4] 81/16 82/12
102/9 104/20

handgun [6] 49/20 108/7 108/9
109/2 109/4 109/7

handle [3] 77/24 98/5 99/8
handled [1] 110/25
hands [6] 10/13 19/25 72/6

72/25 73/2 78/14
handwriting [2] 62/7 62/9
hanging [1] 36/15
happen [4] 58/10 59/1 60/12

98/18
happened [16] 22/14 28/14

29/7 36/20 36/24 47/10 48/16

51/19 55/3 58/4 59/5 59/8

63/4 70/2 104/2 105/18
happening [2] 20/10 79/5
happens [13] 24/14 28/12

47/24 49/5 57/15 60/7 15/15

76/25 80/20 82/14 109/9

114/19 115/23

hard [2] 31/4 31/6
harm [2] 8/18 8/22
has [20] 5/21 9/18 15/25

26/13 37/5 37/20 45/16 48/1
55/5 64/23 70/15 75/10 84/4
87/3 90/3 93/4 108/4 110/25
121/10 122/15

hatchet [1] 107/4
hatred [1] 7/17
have [72]

84/11 90/10 109/6 109/8
121/17

help [30] 10/22 16/21 19/10
19/10 20/17 22/19 38/18
40/11 43/8 44/22 46/14 46/17
48/4 65/16 773/4 73/4 73/13
74/11 74/14 74/21 7715/12
80/24 82/22 84/22 90/25
106/13 107/15 111/6 117/24
118/4

helped [1] 60/15
helping [2] 106/3 106/5
her [184]

here [43]

hereby [2] 124/7 125/4
hers [2] 107/12 113/16

herself [2]

hey [2] 70/14 106/6

hid [5] 30/23 31/13 31/17
31/19 100/6

hiding [3] 31/12 34/3 112/20

high [1] 72/17

highjacking [1]

him [82]

himself [3] 70/11 73/2 77/2

hire [1] 67/1

his [51]

Hispanic [1] 14/4

hit [2] 53/5 83/23

hitting [1] 28/21

hoarders [1] 35/18

hold [3] 8/25 22/3 24/16

holding [4] 28/16 52/5 68/11
108/9

holds [1] 9/1

home [25] 6/3 7/25 9/8 11/7
17/6 19/1 20/5 20/6 24/12
35/5 37/3 39/3 66/1 85/7
91/10 93/16 96/24 97/14
106/1 109/25 110/1 110/5
112/17 115/21 122/6

24/24 102/16

55/18

homeowner [1] 109/14

homes [1] 112/2

homicide [19] 15/19 86/3 86/4
92/8 92/11 92/12 92/17 93/3
93/14 95/1 95/16 96/7 99/6
101/12 101/14 101/20 101/22
102/1 120/4

Honda [1l] 36/6

hostage [8] 75/1 77/23 79/18
79/20 80/8 80/8 115/4 115/5

hour [1] 57/13

hours [2] 18/23 67/14

house [97]

houses [4] 30/22 81/3 99/25
101/10

housing [1] 56/9

how [47]

huge [1] 72/19

human [2] 7/7 7/10

hundred [1] 46/1

hurting [1] 28/15

I

I'd [6] 6/5 12/23 29/11

45/25 92/19 122/4

1'11 [3] 93/22 99/3 109/17
I'm [59]
I've [7] 12/7 12/16 12/22

27/13 31/11 70/17 92/12

Ichabod's [1] 69/13

ID [2] 87/4 87/4

idea [5] 25/22 27/19 27/20
47/11 47/12

identification [3]
55/7

identifications [1] 101/2

identified [4] 4/3 96/19
97/13 106/8

identifiers [1] 101/6

identify [3] 37/2 87/24 117/1

identifying [1] 97/5

ignored [1] 33/7

ill [1]1 7/17

image [2] 4/11 96/4

imagine [1] 82/11

immediate [3] 9/13 9/15 70/14

immediately [1] 113/12

impacted [1] 77/9

implied [1] 7/12

impose [1l] 69/6

inches [1] 46/1

incident [10] 61/10 68/2
68/17 68/19 83/2 94/22 97/3
103/1 103/16 105/8

include [2] 5/22 96/18

includes [2] 8/5 8/5

including [7] 8/10 15/25
37/20 64/23 84/4 90/3 121/10

INDEX [2] 3/1 4/1

indicate [11] 25/19 104/8
104/11 105/17 106/11 106/24
107/14 108/8 111/5 114/11
117/19

indicated [6] 104/24 108/21
110/9 112/4 112/8 124/9

indicates [1] 109/21

indication [1] 105/1

INDICTMENT [6] 4/4 5/14 5/22
122/3 122/23 122/24

individual [1] 89/8

information [24] 16/3 37/23
43/12 45/7 61/6 61/7 64/12

55/1 55/5
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I

information... [17] 65/1 70/3
80/22 80/24 81/24 84/7 90/6
94/16 94/20 97/4 97/24 111/2
118/1 118/12 118/23 119/2
121/13

inhabited [1] 9/5
initially [2] 94/14 95/6
injure [1] 7/20

injured [1] 111/1
injuries [2] 14/18 68/8

injury [3] 6/14 9/13 9/15
inside [22] 27/1 27/2 33/20
34/1 44/19 47/20 59/10 72/12
72/13 75/10 76/10 77/14
77/16 77/24 78/1 98/15 98/16
99/5 100/24 101/3 109/21
114/20
insistent [1]
instead [1]
instruct [4]
122/4 122/23

48/8
32/19
118/21 121/4

instructed [3] 5/21 6/4
120/15

instructing [1] 120/16

instruction [1] 87/2

instructions [3] 6/6 62/3
87/15

instrument [2] 8/16 8/19

intend [1] 6/22

intended [1] 27/23

intent [4] 6/9 7/3 8/7 8/25

intention [1] 7/9

intentional [2] 7/12 8/2

interaction [3] 73/20 95/6
110/20

interest [1] 48/6

interesting [2] 110/7 120/20
internal [3] 14/6 14/10 15/5
internally [1] 14/12
interrupt [1] 118/21
interview [23] 36/23 61/12
101/16 101/16 102/5 102/14
103/18 105/10 105/16 105/21
106/23 107/23 108/12 109/6
109/17 109/18 110/7 111/16
112/8 114/23 116/8 116/23
117/20
introduced [1] 102/25
invasion [12] 6/3 8/1 9/8
11/7 17/6 39/3 66/1 85/7
91/10 96/24 97/14 122/6
inveigles [1] 8/24
investigate [2] 94/18 95/24
investigation [22] 10/20 11/1
16/19 16/25 38/16 38/22
65/14 65/20 84/20 85/1 86/12
86/15 90/23 91/4 94/21 95/11
95/21 96/5 96/10 100/1
101/25 115/2

investigations [4] 94/18
94/21 94/25 95/5
involved [14] 70/3 86/12

93/11 94/20 95/19 95/22 96/5
96/13 96/17 97/14 110/23
117/8 117/15 117/15
involvement [1] 118/4
involving [9] 11/8 17/7 39/4
66/2 68/9 85/8 91/11 94/19
95/5
is [209]

isn't [4] 47/12 57/4 81/11
88/14

it [203]

it's [33] 26/8 30/20 30/21

36/8 40/24 42/14 45/16 48/4
50/8 57/13 68/20 71/3 72/1
72/16 73/8 13/9 13/9 73/9
73/10 73/10 74/12 75/4 77/17
79/1 82/9 88/17 93/21 95/3
102/6 102/7 105/7 114/11
119/6

item [1] 63/1

items [20] 49/25 50/1 52/16
57/18 57/21 60/14 60/15
96/25 97/6 97/23 98/7 101/2
111/17 111/19 112/14 112/15
112/21 113/12 113/13 113/15

kill [10] 7/7 7/9 8/7 8/9
8/13 23/21 23/21 24/7 55/19
116/15

killed [1] 7/18
killing [3] 7/10 8/2 8/14
kind [33] 12/9 12/13 14/2

15/2 19/24 27/15 30/25 33/7
36/11 41/25 43/11 44/5 45/16
48/11 48/11 51/24 55/3 58/21
68/15 68/21 71/13 78/16
79/24 80/4 99/25 101/25
103/5 105/2 105/7 105/15
114/15 115/5 116/17

King [2] 41/3 101/13

kitchen [1] 72/16

knees [1] 78/23

knew [6] 27/15 27/17 108/8

its [4] 7/4 7/5 8/17 119/2 108/25 109/4 109/19
itself [2] 48/5 101/5 knife [2] 34/13 34/16
J know [44]
knowing [3] 106/7 109/22
JACKSON [22] 1/8 5/13 11/8 112/14
17/7 39/4 66/2 85/8 88/12 known [1] 116/23
89/20 91/11 96/18 97/10 knows [2] 75/23 77/12
97/12 100/25 101/3 101/5 L
101/15 102/4 102/8 102/16
118/4 122/16 L-A-R-Y [1] 11/14
JANE [1] 2/11 LACOUR [1] 2/13
January [1] 67/1 ladies [4] 14/22 93/20
January 18 [1] 67/1 117/25 121/24
Jasmine [4] 18/15 31/8 33/2 lady [13] 19/16 21/6 21/7
33/14 22/24 23/5 23/22 32/19 32/20
Jason [3] 90/19 91/16 91/20 36/17 57/17 57/25 58/20
jersey [1] 50/23 62/15
job [2] 75/5 81/1 Lake [1] 105/23
JUDICIAL [1] 1/1 lane [2] 45/5 56/22
Julie [2] 18/10 18/12 larceny [1] 6/9
July [8] 12/24 18/23 39/24 large [6] 14/11 14/20 51/15

67/3 86/8 92/20 92/25 99/11
July 29th [2] 18/23 92/20

July 30th [1] 12/24

Jump [2] 76/8 77/1

Jumped [7] 26/16 30/17 30/19
77/10 80/1 96/24 105/16

jumping [2] 111/22 111/25

jumps [3] 77/2 79/22 80/1

jumpy [1] 48/12

jurors [4] 2/1 70/21 83/14
122/15

Jury [66]

just [89]

K

KANDICE [1] 2/8

KANOFSKY [1] 2/12

KATHLEEN [1] 2/4

keep [5] 39/20 47/15 82/8
88/17 108/18

keeping [1] 104/21
kept [3] 33/11 47/13 110/18
key [13] 44/11 44/17 44/19

44/23 46/8 46/11 46/20 47/4

47/16 47/18 48/3 48/19 48/20
key's [1] 29/19
keys [13] 28/3 28/8 28/11

29/18 29/18 29/19 30/5 30/16
30/25 106/6 109/11 109/12
110/19

kidnapping [9] 6/1 9/3 11/5
17/4 39/1 65/24 85/5 91/8

122/20
kidney [1] 14/17
kids [1] 24/18

63/1 72/15 86/13

Lary [3] 10/16 11/13 11/17

Las [9] 1/12 5/1 18/2 66/20
85/25 92/6 93/9 105/23
124/14

last [9] 11/12 17/11 30/25
39/8 66/6 66/8 85/12 91/15
91/17

Late [1] 45/14

later [14] 26/23 26/24 28/2
34/11 50/4 50/5 53/13 83/6
96/19 98/10 98/18 103/22
106/7 114/19

LAURA [1] 2/7

law [10] 6/6 7/14 15/23
37/18 64/21 84/2 90/1 95/7
121/8 125/12

lawful [1] 9/6

lawn [1] 71/18

lay [1] 13/25

laying [1] 26/15

layman's [1] 12/9

leading [2] 105/21 116/11

leads [1] 41/5

learn [3] 83/3 96/13 117/3

learned [2] 95/15 97/13

leave [14] 27/8 27/10 27/23
28/2 28/13 53/3 53/24 61/2
61/4 71/11 75/6 75/7 111/13
115/10

leaves [2] 25/5 25/6

leaving [2] 48/9 104/21

led [1] 14/25

left [17] 25/24 26/18 27/1
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L lost [2] 14/20 106/6
lot [5] 30/22 79/6 94/19

left... [14] 43/18 48/17 115/9 115/12

53/16 56/8 56/9 56/22 56/24 |lots [1] 45/11

57/1 58/7 60/9 61/3 61/5 loud [2] 81/10 82/2

64/11 102/10 low [1] 76/24
leg [3] 21/6 108/18 109/2 lunch [3] 68/7 68/12 69/12
legal [1] 7/13 lung [1] 14/15
length [1] 57/2 Luther [2] 41/3 101/13
let [5] 34/11 34/11 98/22 M

110/19 122/9
let's [2] 27/14 111/23 M-A-R-T-I-N [1] 85/14
level [1] 104/16 M-C—-C—-A-R-T-H-Y [1] 91/18
liable [3] 6/9 9/3 9/7 M-0-O-R-E [1] 66/8
licensed [1] 12/15 M-Y-R-O-L-D [1] 68/23
lights [2] 45/5 53/8 ma'am [6] 67/19 67/21 68/3
like [82] 69/4 69/22 84/15
likely [1] 8/18 machete [2] 63/3 63/7
limit [5] 40/13 57/2 57/9 Madames [1] 122/14

57/14 60/11 made [16] 16/2 37/22 43/15
line [22] 4/9 4/10 31/5 37/2 43/20 56/8 56/9 64/25 74/18

37/11 45/4 45/17 61/15 62/4
62/12 82/16 86/16 86/18 87/1
87/2 87/3 88/10 88/10 88/18
88/19 88/22 89/17

line-up [14] 4/9 4/10 37/2
37/11 61/15 62/12 87/1 87/2
87/3 88/10 88/10 88/18 88/19
88/22

line-ups [4] 62/4 86/16 86/18

89/17

little [20] 13/25 18/8 18/8
18/16 18/18 19/1 19/21 21/4
21/25 24/20 24/25 30/20
32/16 34/14 39/21 48/12
99/23 103/9 103/9 105/16

live [4] 18/1 18/2 18/6 18/7
liver [1] 14/16

lives [1] 114/6

living [5] 19/15 20/15 22/4
25/12 98/15

loads [1] 51/15

locate [1] 33/24

located [1] 101/12

location [6] 43/22 46/9 68/5
93/18 96/7 101/15

lock [1] 30/19

long [6] 12/4 47/22 66/24
86/4 86/6 116/24

look [23] 20/10 29/23 30/24
35/7 42/4 44/23 45/10 45/24
47/11 51/24 54/14 55/9 56/11
71/17 71/22 73/8 74/2 7477
76/11 78/7 86/22 100/7
112/10

looked [13] 21/1 30/15 34/12
43/10 43/12 43/14 49/19 63/2
63/7 75/18 75/18 78/15 81/11

looking [35] 20/14 29/22
42/24 43/7 43/7 43/10 43/15
43/18 43/18 44/7 44/7 44/11
44/19 45/15 46/8 47/14 47/16
47/17 47/20 54/16 54/18
55/13 58/21 71/13 73/12
74/21 76/9 18/7 81/25 87/10
107/20 107/22 109/18 109/22
119/16

looks [4] 45/14 79/13 80/10
81/17

loose [1] 80/6

LORNA [1] 2/3

loss [2] 14/11 15/3

76/18 82/19 84/6 90/5 109/6
112/16 116/3 121/12

main [1] 13/20

mainly [2] 29/5 36/8

maintenance [1] 40/12

make [14] 24/17 33/6 36/17
51/6 53/21 53/25 54/22 56/23
72/8 81/1 120/12 120/17
121/5 123/4

makes [4] 75/8 76/18 79/14
109/13

making [4] 70/25 114/12
117/11 122/10

male [13] 42/21 43/23 45/1
45/10 46/7 48/18 51/16 61/17
72/23 74/3 77/2 110/7 110/11

malice [4] 7/8 7/11 7/12
7/16

man [18] 14/2 20/20 21/1
21/2 21/11 22/11 22/20 27/4
28/13 29/3 32/23 34/9 35/1
50/21 67/24 73/16 73/19
73/24

manner [2] 8/16 15/16

many [6] 25/17 29/16 31/11
35/19 51/6 92/10

map [3] 43/7 69/20 70/21

MARCELLO [1] 2/14

marked [4] 37/5 40/19 67/18
97/20

Martin [4] 41/3 85/13 85/16
101/13

material [1] 8/19

matter [2] 6/25 124/8

may [13] 7/16 7/18 16/7 38/2

41/23 46/9 65/5 83/13 84/11
90/10 95/16 119/20 121/17
maybe [13] 13/25 21/6 21/8
31/17 34/3 43/6 44/13 44/14
45/11 46/1 47/23 58/21 98/17

McCarthy [4] 90/19 91/16
91/17 91/20

me [67]

mean [8] 14/24 19/19 40/9
44/18 74/13 83/23 94/24
103/15

meaning [6] 24/4 92/15 100/19
104/16 109/1 111/6

means [5] 6/13 7/12 8/25
68/17 70/18

mechanism [2] 14/19 14/23

media [2]

Medical [1] 12/19

medicine [1] 12/16

meet [6] 19/23 20/3 20/8
46/19 48/2 103/23

member [2] 6/15 95/7

members [5] 94/14 94/15 96/21
122/4 122/12

mention [3] 46/16 98/21 107/7

mentioned [13] 18/14 18/19
18/25 24/19 25/7 52/22 58/8
59/23 62/24 72/25 97/19
100/20 107/2

mentioning [1]

merged [1] 53/8

Merrick [1] 93/1

messing [1] 57/8

met [3] 33/21 81/19 102/4

methamphetamine [1] 117/23

Metro [5] 86/6 87/4 92/10
95/2 101/18

Metropolitan
92/7 94/15

Michael [5]
33/24 34/2

Michelle [2]

Michigan [1]

middle [3]

might [1]

mile [4]
57/13

military [2]

millimeter [3]

9/18 9/24

57/22

[4] 66/20 85/25

18/18 26/3 26/5

2/21 5/11
12/17
61/25 62/7 89/5
68/20
41/13 48/5 53/18

50/7 50/9
49/20 108/7

109/4
mind [3] 7/15 7/15 8/13
mine [1] 34/15

minimizes [1] 109/15

minute [3] 38/11 40/13 52/22

minutes [6] 31/18 31/20 44/15
47/23 47/23 68/12

Miranda [3] 103/2 103/4 104/6

mischief [1] 7/21

misdemeanor [6] 16/5 37/25
65/3 84/9 90/8 121/15

miss [7] 83/19 101/3 101/5
102/4 102/8 102/16 118/4

Miss Jackson [6] 101/3 101/5
102/4 102/8 102/16 118/4

mom [39] 18/7 18/25 19/7
19/16 20/17 22/19 22/22
22/23 22/24 23/2 23/3 23/7
23/20 24/2 24/3 24/15 24/17
24/17 25/4 25/6 25/24 26/25
27/2 28/12 28/24 29/1 29/4
29/6 29/23 30/13 33/10 33/25
36/5 110/22 110/23 110/25
111/3 111/7 111/8

mom's [3] 18/9 18/10 29/22

moment [2] 20/19 103/6

Moore [2] 66/8 66/10

more [6] 6/21 36/8 69/10
70/18 121/2 122/15

morning [11] 18/23 18/24 19/6
34/20 35/1 41/4 41/11 67/16
93/7 103/17 104/3

most [5] 35/17 68/18 70/17
72/14 73/20

mostly [2] 73/10 81/4

mother [2] 110/5 110/10

motion [1] 79/15

motioned [1] 79/21

motioning [1] 19/24
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M

motive [1] 7/19

motorists [1] 40/10

mouth [1] 81/9

move [1] 75/22

moved [3] 47/14 71/19 82/22
movement [1] 43/17

movements [2] 48/14 48/15

moving [7] 76/22 776/23 77/1
/2 77/7 17/12 119/5

Mr. [13] 13/7 13/18 14/1
14/14 15/7 39/20 87/24 89/11
99/7 108/3 110/3 110/16
110/18

Mr. Ramos [8] 13/7 14/1 15/7
99/7 108/3 110/3 110/16
110/18

Mr. Ramos' [3] 13/18 14/14
89/11

Mr. Ufert [2] 39/20 87/24

much [6] 10/4 21/3 22/2

31/13 35/16 37/13

multiple [1] 82/21

murder [25] 5/24 5/25 7/6
7/10 7/23 8/1 8/3 8/4 8/4
8/5 11/3 11/4 17/2 17/3
38/24 38/25 65/22 65/23 85/3
85/4 88/25 91/6 91/7 122/18
122/19

must [3] 6/17 6/22 29/13
mutual [1] 6/20

my [132]

Myrold [1] 68/23

myself [8] 29/25 55/20 62/5

68/6 _776/5 93/5 101/20 102/24

N

new [1] 70/3

next [12] 16/14 19/22 38/10
59/9 71/1 72/21 79/6 81/8
82/14 90/18 99/17 120/7

night [6] 6/8 9/4 107/8
107/9 107/9 107/10

Nissan [1] 42/2

no [57]

nobody [2]

none [2]

noon [3]

75/10 114/5

52/15 105/5

93/18 94/7 95/14

normal [2] 44/6 69/14

normally [7] 35/13 50/7 50/8
51/23 89/16 92/22 108/17

north [1] 96/9

northbound [4]
112/19 120/11

not [66]

notes [1] 124/10

nothing [18] 10/22 11/20
15/20 16/21 17/19 37/14
38/18 39/15 65/16 66/13
71/23 72/8 84/22 85/19 90/25
91/23 113/11 118/6

notice [3] 10/7 28/17 89/10

notified [2] 93/13 95/19

now [45]

NRS [2] 125/2 125/13

number [16] 5/15 37/6 68/24
87/4 87/4 88/12 93/21 94/2
96/3 99/14 99/18 119/23
122/22 125/4 125/8 125/11

number 13064 [1] 68/24

Number 13BGJ137X [1l] 122/22

Number 2 [4] 88/12 93/21 94/2

41/15 56/5

name [35] 5/9 11/12 11/13
17/11 17/12 17/13 18/9 18/10
18/14 18/20 19/7 19/8 31/24
32/5 32/19 39/8 54/9 54/10
54/23 55/6 55/9 56/11 66/6
66/7 66/8 81/17 81/19 83/4
85/12 87/3 91/15 91/16 91/17
97/13 125/21

named [1] 105/19
namely [1] 7/8

names [2] 88/10 97/5
NANCY [2] 2/15 119/8

NATASHA [13] 1/8 5/13 11/8
17/7 39/4 66/2 82/25 83/3
85/8 88/12 89/20 91/11
122/16

NDOT [1] 40/1

near [1l] 68/2

nearby [1] 106/18

neck [1] 21/6

need [8] 36/16 40/11 43/8

46/13 46/14 48/3 75/24 122/6

needed [5] 45/6 59/25 68/13
68/20 104/16

negotiators [2] 77/23 80/25

neighbor's [1] 26/17

neighborhood [12] 53/22 54/1
55/22 56/24 57/11 69/2 69/8
106/18 106/19 107/18 119/24
120/17

NEVADA [13] 1/2 1/5 1/12 5/1
5/13 12/16 18/3 40/3 40/19
87/7 93/9 124/3 124/14

never [6] 20/25 26/14 47/5
81/19 112/23 113/14

119/23
Number 5 [1] 99/14
Number 6 [1l] 99/18
Number 8 [1l] 37/6
Number 9 [1] 96/3
numerous [1] 101/10
0}
object [1] 72/1

observations [1] 43/20

observe [2] 43/16 98/1

observes [1l] 114/6

obtain [1] 6/17

obtained [6] 16/3 37/23 65/1
84/7 90/6 121/13

obviously [2] 14/2 88/14

occupant [2] 9/6 43/23

occupants [2] 42/19 42/20

occur [1] 93/8

occurred [9] 95/11 95/24 96/8
97/3 99/6 103/2 105/8 117/8
120/4

occurring [6] 16/2 37/22
64/25 84/6 90/5 121/12

off [40] 23/20 23/20 24/1
24/3 24/15 25/10 25/11 25/16
28/17 40/14 41/14 43/9 44/12
44/14 46/12 46/18 47/2 47/4
47/12 48/2 48/6 52/1 53/5
53/8 53/18 53/20 56/5 58/17
60/3 61/8 62/5 69/16 72/17
94/10 106/18 106/20 119/18
119/19 120/6 120/14

off-ramp [2] 41/14 106/20

offenses [8] 6/5 10/5 11/2
17/1 38/23 65/21 85/2 91/5

offer [1] 123/5

offhand [1] 13/24

office [10] 12/3 12/7 12/19
12/25 13/11 24/25 29/24
93/14 97/11 101/12

officer [7] 66/22 66/25 68/18
95/22 96/13 117/8 117/15

officers [8] 33/21 68/18
70/13 76/2 76/17 94/11 94/19
95/5

official [1] 125/23

oh [9] 27/2 27/7 27/17 35/3
46/21 771/9 81/19 99/1 114/14

okay [47]

old [1] 45/13

once [1ll1l] 20/13 26/18 26/25
27/2 31/8 33/16 43/3 43/5
100/2 109/9 110/13

one [39] 25/18 29/19 35/5
36/7 36/20 41/13 42/5 44/21
54/18 58/18 62/17 71/1 71/1
71/5 71/25 73/10 73/21 74/18
74/18 79/24 79/25 82/17
82/20 86/15 86/22 87/5 87/24
93/25 95/7 95/23 95/25 96/13
100/6 113/2 116/16 118/16
121/2 122/4 123/3

only [9] 9/11 9/21 29/1
35/24 73/19 73/21 86/11
111/8 112/24

ooloo [1] 123/7

open [8] 30/2 30/3 30/16
45/16 98/9 98/11 110/8
112/14

opened [4]
45/4

opportunities [2]
115/12

opportunity [6] 9/15 13/3
34/5 36/12 101/9 121/3

order [1] 15/3

26/3 26/7 45/2

115/10

ordinary [1] 8/16

organs [2] 14/11 14/14
orient [1] 97/7

oriented [2] 105/6 105/11
origin [1] 119/2

original [2] 69/25 97/14
originally [5] 71/7 71/23

72/8 103/8 106/25

other [49]

our [35] 10/14 10/15 24/10
26/13 26/16 30/3 30/21 32/17
33/19 34/10 35/16 35/25 36/8
36/17 36/18 38/10 55/5 55/5
68/6 68/12 68/13 68/16 69/20
75/3 93/13 94/17 97/11 100/9
101/7 101/7 101/15 102/6
103/18 106/6 111/2

ourselves [3] 40/17 97/7
102/25

out [127]

outside [11] 9/24 26/11 34/19
35/4 35/13 35/15 35/19 44/20
75/9 77/18 109/22

over [33] 21/17 45/16 68/7
71/1 71/13 71/21 71/22 72/3
74/12 75/19 76/20 77/11 79/4
80/3 80/5 80/10 80/11 80/14
80/19 81/11 81/22 82/19
82/20 82/24 83/2 110/17
111/25 112/1 112/22 114/21
117/12 120/7 120/17

overall [1] 97/9
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o)

person's [2] 32/2 87/3
personal [7] 6/11 59/24 64/16

overcome [l] 6/18

100/18 100/19 101/6 107/14

overhead [4] 42/7 62/1 69/5 personnel [1] 101/7
93/22 persons [2] 6/21 122/11
overview [1] 96/4 perspective [1] 119/18
own [6] 53/11 62/7 79/16 pertaining [6] 11/1 16/25
87/16 88/17 121/6 38/22 65/20 85/1 91/4
owner [2] 9/6 70/19 phone [27] 25/1 41/23 43/7
P 49/9 49/10 54/14 54/16 54/20
55/9 55/12 56/12 58/9 58/10
p-m [5] 1/14 40/25 67/15 58/13 59/25 60/1 60/6 60/22

122/12 122/13

page [7] 62/7 87/10 87/20
88/9 88/14 89/10 89/19

Pam [1] 5/10

Pamela [1] 2/19

panicked [1] 31/24

panicking [1] 31/14

pants [1] 74/4

paper [1] 61/21

paperwork [1] 101/2

parallel [1] 101/25

parents [1] 36/5

park [3] 35/13 35/15 35/24

parked [2] 34/19 35/4

part [10] 54/15 72/10 87/11
87/16 89/4 96/10 101/10
101/22 101/23 101/24

participate [1] 9/14
participated [2] 9/10 9/16
particular [10] 7/17 27/15

40/22 41/1 67/7 67/11 93/5
103/6 108/19 118/5
partner [19] 67/23 68/6 68/22
70/7 75/20 75/22 76/5 80/2
80/4 80/15 80/19 81/7 81/16
81/23 82/7 92/23 92/24 92/25
93/2
partner's [1]
passenger [4]
50/21 50/22
past [6] 45/4 92/9 109/5
109/8 109/8 116/10
path [2] 112/13 113/15
pathologist [2] 12/2 12/5
pathology [6] 12/17 12/19
12/20 12/21 12/21 12/22

81/13
42/22 49/16

patrol [5] 40/2 40/7 67/18
83/1 94/14

PAUL [1] 2/14

Pecos [3] 69/13 69/14 69/15

peek [1] 20/11

pending [6] 10/20 16/19 38/16
65/14 84/20 90/23

people [12] 18/24 19/15 20/12
20/23 35/17 42/19 51/23 70/3
80/23 100/20 111/9 119/17

per [1] 77/18

percent [2] 62/11 62/18

perched [1] 71/20

perform [2] 13/3 13/14

performance [2] 7/4 7/6

peripheral [1] 81/5

permission [1] 9/5

perpetrated [1] 7/23

perpetration [2] 7/24 7/25

person [28] 6/8 6/12 6/14
6/14 6/22 7/18 8/23 8/25 9/1
9/4 9/7 9/9 9/10 14/4 68/10
73/19 73/24 74/6 74/7 89/20
105/19 109/2 117/1 117/4
117/15 117/17 125/8 125/11

61/6 61/7 64/13 64/15 64/16
64/17 99/16 107/16 107/16

phones [1] 54/19

photo [10] 4/9 4/10 37/1
37/11 62/12 62/19 87/1 87/2
87/3 119/21

photograph [10] 4/5 4/6 4/7
4/8 42/11 42/13 42/24 88/3
89/8 106/22

photographed [2]

photographic [5]
86/16 86/18 88/9

photographs [4] 62/18 87/21
87/24 99/9

photos [1]

physical [2]

physically [1]

physician [2] 12/15 12/16

pick [8] 28/20 41/23 46/18
46/20 47/3 48/3 58/15 58/16

picked [5] 24/25 58/18 58/20
59/9 62/17

picking [1]

picture [5]
75/16 78/6

pictures [1] 61/17

piece [1] 61/21

pieces [2] 97/19 97/25

pinned [1] 21/14

place [5] 24/10 69/13 93/15
97/10 124/9

placed [1] 70/13

places [1] 114/25

Plaintiff [1] 1/6

plan [3] 46/25 116/17 116/19

plant [1] 26/14

play [2] 35/24 100/1

plays [1] 96/10

Please [17] 10/17 10/24 11/11
16/16 17/10 38/13 38/20 39/7
65/12 65/18 66/5 84/18 84/24
85/11 90/20 91/2 91/14

PO2 [1] 66/19

pocket [2] 34/13 44/14

point [43]

pointed [5]
83/18 97/20

pointing [1]

points [4]
77/3

police [24] 13/8 33/21 61/10
64/5 66/20 66/22 66/24 85/25
92/7 94/15 95/3 97/1 100/24
109/18 109/19 109/22 114/6
115/22 115/22 115/25 116/5

97/23 100/9
61/14 62/4

36/17
14/3 48/14
82/

28/3
25/2 55/6 72/15

28/10 30/6 78/24

53/7
54/3 73/18 74/15

116/9 116/14 117/12

policy [4] 51/25 68/16 75/4
77/18

poorly [1] 34/25

popped [1] 103/3

position [8] 23/2 71/7 71/12
72/20 75/23 78/21 89/14
89/17

positioned [2] 31/1 78/19

possession [17] 5/23 6/2 6/17
11/2 11/6 17/1 17/5 38/23
39/2 65/21 65/25 85/2 85/6
91/5 91/9 122/17 122/21

possibly [1] 46/9

posted [1] 57/11

potential [2] 97/25 100/4

pounds [1] 46/2

preceding [1] 125/4

preliminary [7] 94/16 94/20
95/20 97/8 111/2 112/16
115/2

Premeditated [1]

premeditation [2]

prep [1] 43/11

prepare [1] 122/23

prepared [1] 76/12

presence [7] 6/12 16/2 37/22
64/25 84/6 90/5 121/12

present [5] 2/1 2/18 9/7 9/20
37/1

presented [8] 9/22 9/25 16/1
37/21 64/24 84/5 90/4 121/11

presenting [1] 122/3

presumably [1] 112/25

pretty [5] 21/3 22/2 31/13
68/20 82/2

prevent [1] 6/18

previously [1] 122/24

print [2] 50/9 125/21

prior [1] 97/23

probably [1] 69/15

problem [1] 103/21

procedure [1l] 89/3

proceed [1] 10/14

proceeded [1] 47/15

proceeding [1] 119/3

proceedings [11] 1/18 5/7
15/23 37/18 64/21 84/2 90/1
121/8 123/6 124/8 124/13

proceeds [1] 7/20

process [1] 8/8

processing [1] 13/9

program [l] 125/15

progress [l] 68/8

prohibited [6] 15/24 37/19
64/22 84/3 90/2 121/9

promise [1] 23/23

property [10] 6/12 6/14 6/15
6/18 24/11 55/1 59/21 100/19
107/14 119/1

proposed [4]
122/24

prosecute [1] 5/12

provocation [1] 7/14

public [1] 125/15

pull [4] 29/15 49/7 60/10
81/14

pulled [9] 19/16 22/23 23/4
23/5 25/15 29/15 41/18 41/20
42/23

pulling [4]
110/24

pulls [5] 79/10 80/2 80/4
80/10 80/19

punching [1] 73/1

punishable [12] 16/5 16/7
37/25 38/2 65/3 65/5 84/9

8/3
8/6 8/12

4/4 5/14 122/3

23/8 23/11 59/18
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P

punishable... [5] 84/11 90/8
90/10 121/15 121/17

purpose [3] 7/19 9/2 101/14

purse [2] 98/4 100/20

Pursuant [1] 125/2

push [2] 28/16 44/12

pushing [1] 29/16

put [14] 42/6 49/23 53/4
53/6 53/25 56/3 58/25 59/9
60/3 62/1 69/5 83/1 106/9
106/15

puts [7] 51/9 76/4 78/22
78/23 18/24 79/1 82/11

putting [4] 50/15 50/18 51/2
72/6

Q

question [5] 47/6 70/14
107/10 119/20 121/2

questioned [2] 112/12 114/19

questions [16] 10/5 10/12
15/21 36/16 37/16 64/1 64/2
64/8 64/20 83/14 83/15 84/1
89/23 89/24 118/7 121/7

quick [2] 76/7 78/8
quickly [2] 44/3 71/20
quite [2] 43/3 102/16
quotes [1] 10/8

R

R-A-M-0-8 [1] 17/13

radio [10] 49/9 49/9 68/7

75/20 79/4 81/22 81/22 82/20
115/3 115/3

raise [6] 10/17 16/16 38/13
65/12 84/18 90/20

Ramos [22] 13/4 13/7 14/1
15/7 16/15 17/12 17/13 17/16
18/10 18/12 18/15 18/18
18/21 86/19 88/23 96/7 99/7
108/3 110/3 110/16 110/18

110/18
Ramos' [3] 13/18 14/14 89/11
ramp [2] 41/14 106/20
ran [3] 30/21 51/18 112/19
ransom [1] 9/2
reach [1] 22/1
read [6] 6/6 62/4 62/5 62/6
62/10 87/15
readily [1] 8/21
ready [3] 76/24 108/3 109/16
real [1] 78/8

really [12] 21/15 22/18 24/23
28/17 35/7 41/19 47/5 51/1
81/1 112/12 113/14 116/23

rear [6] 53/5 70/15 70/20
72/7 75/5 77/20

reasonably [1] 9/12

reasoning [1] 116/6

reasons [1] 8/10

recall [8] 51/1 51/4 51/5
55/25 56/10 58/18 79/24
79/25

received [1] 9/18
recess [2] 38/11 38/12
reckless [1] 7/21

recognize [7] 37/6 61/21 69/1
86/23 94/3 98/23 99/4
recognizes [1] 89/8
recollection [2] 6/4 41/9
record [10] 11/12 17/11 39/8

66/6 69/20 70/25 85/12 91/15
123/4 124/12
recorded [1]
red [5]
71/5
refer [1]
reference [1] 93/15
referring [2] 62/14 113/21
regard [2] 118/22 119/2
regarding [2] 46/24 118/2
regards [1] 118/25
regular [2] 40/24 109/1
related [2] 97/6 103/25
relatively [1] 103/12
relayed [4] 97/4 97/7 97/24
106/4

102/7
68/17 70/1 71/1 71/3

108/17

relying [1] 27/15
remained [1] 95/10
remaining [2] 93/6 122/8

remember [15] 13/23 19/9 21/9
23/17 23/23 25/10 41/25 47/7
49/6 50/1 56/18 57/21 74/8
77/6 114/13

remove [1] 104/20

removed [2] 60/17 64/13

removing [3] 49/24 57/18

60/14
report [1] 56/14
Reported [1] 1/25
Reporter [1] 125/23

REPORTER'S [2] 1/18 124/1

request [2] 2/18 68/14

required [1] 125/11

residence [24] 70/4 70/4
70/11 71/4 71/6 71/8 75/6
80/17 96/5 96/7 96/8 97/17
98/5 98/8 98/10 98/15 98/24
99/5 100/17 100/23 100/24
101/1 107/11 120/3

residences [3] 95/25 96/14
99/2

resident [1] 9/6

residential [1] 59/10

resistance [1] 6/18

respect [1] 122/25

respond [5] 68/14 68/19 93/8
93/14 95/19

responded [2] 69/3 70/6
responding [1l] 55/12
response [1] 68/21

responsible [1] 95/4

result [2] 7/18 8/9

retain [1] 6/17

return [1] 122/13

returned [1] 122/16

returning [1] 44/15

revenge [1] 7/17

Richard [2] 13/3 18/21

ride [2] 40/18 52/1

rides [2] 40/16 51/23

rifle [1] 76/23

right [52]

rights [4]
104/9

ripping [1] 72/5

road [6] 40/13 63/14 105/18
106/5 107/15 112/17

rob [1] 106/9

robbery [20] 5/24 6/1 6/11
6/16 7/25 9/2 11/3 11/5 17/2
17/4 38/24 39/1 65/22 65/24
85/3 85/5 91/6 91/8 122/18

103/3 103/4 104/6

122/20
ROBERT [2] 2/6 64/9
rock [1] 59/10
ROGELIO [1] 2/10
roles [1l] 86/15
rolled [1] 44/10

Rollingwood [5] 69/17 120/8
120/9 120/10 120/11

rollover [1] 52/15

ROMERO [1] 2/15

roof [3] 71/1 71/3 71/5

room [27] 9/24 9/25 19/13
19/14 19/15 19/18 19/20
19/22 19/25 20/14 20/15 22/4
25/12 25/12 25/16 26/3 34/12
39/22 73/23 98/15 101/16
102/3 102/16 103/8 105/3
112/15 122/12

roommates [1] 103/20

rooms [2] 19/19 102/5

Roughly [1] 93/7

route [1] 41/1

rummaging [1] 57/8

run [4] 30/3 82/5 82/6 106/1

running [4] 54/20 58/14 74/13
114/21

runs [2] 24/17 80/1

RV [8] 30/23 31/11 31/13
31/19 31/22 33/3 33/4 33/13

39/9

11/14
75/5 77/23 80/25
48/5 76/18

40/13

45/3 119/17

S

s-C-0-T-T [1]

S-I-M-M-S [1]

S.W.A.T [3]

safe [2]

safely [1]

safety [2]

said [71]

same [21] 19/14 20/1 25/12
30/12 32/3 32/21 42/5 42/14
46/7 47/18 773/22 778/18 18/23
88/10 89/3 89/7 89/20 94/22
109/17 117/4 117/16

SAMUEL [1] 2/16

sandhill [1] 69/14

save [2] 73/4 73/4

saved [1] 82/9

saw [23] 15/6 19/15 20/20
21/25 23/1 23/9 24/22 28/22
28/23 29/8 30/16 30/25 31/6
31/7 32/19 42/12 42/16 59/7
63/9 73/23 75/23 99/10
106/22

say [37] 14/23 19/17 20/20
21/23 23/14 23/24 23/25
28/10 29/11 33/9 43/14 45/25
46/13 47/17 48/13 54/4 54/6
54/8 54/13 59/22 60/4 60/24
70/24 72/16 78/11 82/1 92/14
102/15 103/15 109/9 109/25
110/13 111/15 112/7 114/2
114/8 115/12

saying [18] 19/9 20/18 23/18
24/3 24/6 32/8 36/16 50/25
51/1 57/4 78/21 79/9 79/9
81l/6 114/14 116/2 116/6
116/21

says [15] 62/11 78/10 81/19
81/23 105/24 108/2 109/11
109/14 109/15 109/16 109/16
109/18 110/4 110/24 111/16

scan [1] 77/4
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S

scene [16] 45/3 50/2 94/9
94/11 94/12 95/8 95/13 95/14
95/19 97/8 97/8 97/21 97/22
100/9 101/8 101/11

Scott [5] 39/9 39/12 86/19
87/5 88/6

scrambling [1] 71/17

screaming [5] 82/4 110/6

110/8 110/11 111/23

screen [1] 69/9

screwdriver [20] 22/25 23/12
23/15 28/19 28/19 30/11
30/12 98/5 98/21 99/7 99/10
99/15 99/19 106/23 106/24
107/5 111/1 111/3 111/4
111/18

searching [1] 32/11

seat [10] 42/21 42/22 43/19
44/1 45/2 50/21 51/22 51/24
52/10 63/20

seated [5] 10/24 38/20 65/18
84/24 91/2

seats [3] 43/17 52/12 52/14
sec [1] 24/16

second [9] 48/23 51/13 69/20
69/23 72/9 73/3 74/6 718/15
87/20

secret [6] 15/23 37/18 64/21
84/2 90/1 121/8

Secretary [2] 2/4 2/5
section [2] 92/8 95/2
secured [1] 94/10

security [2] 125/8 125/11

see [78]

seeing [2] 10/13 58/17

seem [1] 33/8

seems [2] 62/11 62/19

seen [12] 20/23 24/24 31/11

62/12 63/1 ©3/8 79/21 93/21
109/5 112/17 112/23 112/24

sees [1] 110/3

seizes [1] 8/23

semi [1] 49/21
semi-automatic [1] 49/21
separate [2] 19/19 31/5
serious [2] 9/13 9/15

service [4] 40/2 40/7 69/25
107/2
seven [2]

several [3]

71/16 87/1
94/11 101/2 107/4

shall [6] 10/21 16/20 38/17
65/15 84/21 90/24

shaved [2] 21/3 21/5

she [301]

she'd [1] 104/19

she'll [1] 73/6

she's [26] 48/7 50/15 50/17

57/6 58/21 73/12 73/12 73/12
73/13 73/15 74/13 78/22 79/8
79/9 80/3 81/13 81/14 109/6
109/8 109/14 109/18 109/21
109/22 114/21 115/21 116/2

sheath [2] 34/17 63/5

sheathing [1] 63/7

sheet [1] 87/2

shelving [2] 52/6 52/7

shift [6] 40/22 40/24 67/11
67/14 67/15 89/16

shirt [4] 21/10 36/19 36/19
74/4

shoot [17] 76/12 81/10 81/10
81/13 81/13 81/21 82/1 82/2
83/24 109/17 115/9 115/25
116/4 116/9 116/11 116/14
117/11

shooting [7] 93/15 94/19
95/23 96/13 96/23 117/8

117/15
short [4] 21/7 73/21 74/8
103/24
shorthand [2] 124/7 124/10
shortly [1] 9/18
shorts [2] 21/10 74/5
shot [8] 25/10 25/11 25/13

25/14 25/20 25/21 82/24 99/7
shots [3] 25/17 77/8 82/21
should [3] 13/25 79/6 83/23
shoulder [9] 13/21 14/9 15/7

15/7 15/14 41/14 53/3 53/16

53/24
shoulders [1] 21/8
show [10] 61/14 61/17 73/6

86/16 86/18 89/17 93/22

98/22 99/3 119/22
showed [3] 37/11 87/5 88/23
showing [8] 37/5 42/3 61/20

68/25 86/21 96/2 99/13 99/18

shown [2] 63/16 88/14
shows [1l] 78/18
shut [3] 42/18 44/12 44/14

siblings [2] 26/25 28/13

sic [1] 96/6

side [34] 22/12 26/11 26/13
40/12 49/12 49/15 49/16
49/17 50/23 56/21 56/24
63/13 63/14 72/14 75/21 76/6
76/6 76/21 76/22 80/12 80/13
82/22 98/9 99/23 105/18
105/25 106/5 107/15 108/19
112/17 112/20 112/25 113/1
120/5

sides [1] 72/18

sidewalk [1] 109/14

sight [2] 81/4 82/16

sign [8] 57/2 57/9 57/11
57/14 60/11 87/18 88/7 89/7

signature [6] 37/8 87/13 88/2
88/5 89/11 125/19

signed [3] 37/7 89/5 89/5

significant [2] 13/17 13/23

Simms [3] 10/16 11/13 11/17

since [1] 70/5
single [2] 20/5 20/7
sir [11] 10/6 10/12 39/24

42/3 61/20 63/25 66/18 68/25
85/24 86/21 89/22

sister [11] 18/8 18/14 19/1
19/13 19/18 19/21 24/19
24/21 26/18 30/1 30/17

sit [5] 36/22 44/25 75/9
81/15 83/12

sits [2] 81/16 82/15

sitting [7] 45/22 50/21 51/21
51/22 51/24 75/17 103/10

situation [3] 74/24 77/23
115/4

six [2] 87/20 93/4

skin [3] 13/15 21/2 36/18

sleep [2] 19/22 117/24

sleeping [4] 19/4 19/5 102/11
102/19

sleepy [2] 103/9 103/12

slide [1] 26/8

slider [1] 111/19

sliding [3] 72/11 98/8 111/20

slowly [2] 44/3 78/13

small [2] 40/12 74/8

smashed [3] 98/9 107/20
111/20

SMITH [1] 2/16

so [184]

social [3] 7/22 125/8 125/11

solemnly [6] 10/19 16/18
38/15 65/13 84/19 90/22

solid [1] 45/16

some [40] 6/6 7/4 9/18 25/4
25/8 28/7 36/16 36/22 55/8
60/15 61/9 68/1 68/8 68/9
70/3 70/9 71/18 72/4 13/5
95/15 97/19 98/6 100/7
102/17 103/11 103/23 104/5
104/14 104/15 105/6 106/23
107/1 107/4 108/11 111/12
113/6 114/15 115/2 115/3
117/24

somebody [3]
110/6

Somehow [1]

someone [1]

someplace [1] 32/12

something [26] 6/25 29/14
29/25 30/6 35/25 41/23 43/11
43/15 57/7 58/9 58/10 72/5
75/8 76/25 79/9 79/10 93/7
99/17 103/20 103/24 104/21
106/6 114/18 115/6 116/18
116/20

something's [1]

somewhere [4]
108/19 110/11

son [4] 88/25 110/4 110/10
111/7

soon [2] b53/16 54/19

sorry [11l] 22/10 34/25 36/6
71/9 73/8 92/14 99/1 102/25
113/23 117/9 122/9

sort [1] 69/19

source [2] 9/25 119/2

south [3] 41/13 69/15 101/13

Southeast [1] 67/10

speak [2] 36/12 104/12

speaking [1] 103/4

specific [6] 6/23 105/24
108/6 112/12 113/14 125/12

106/3 106/3

82/17
68/10

53/21
75/24 105/23

specifically [3] 72/13 77/6
112/19

specifics [1] 105/12

speed [5] 44/6 57/1 57/9
57/13 60/11

spell [8] 11/12 17/11 18/11

39/8 55/11 66/6 85/12 91/15
spelled [3] 11/14 68/23 91/17
spite [1] 7/18
split [2] 113/1 113/3
spoke [1] 101/21
Sporadic [2] 43/17 48/15
spot [2] 42/14 15/22
squad [2] 93/3 93/4
ss [1] 124/3
stab [2] 28/18 30/13
stabbed [1] 111/3
stabbing [8] 22/24 22/24 23/6

23/12 28/23 29/8 29/10 30/9
stand [4] 69/7 70/22 83/14
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S

stand... [1]

standing [4]
73/14

stands [2] 79/11 80/9

start [5] 43/12 57/18 102/14
103/5 120/19

started [7] 12/6 28/21 45/6
103/4 103/14 103/15 111/22

119/25
23/7 50/20 50/22

starts [4] 73/1 73/11 77/4
81/21
state [14] 1/5 5/13 11/11

12/18 17/10 39/7 44/21 66/5
85/11 91/14 115/7 124/3
125/12 125/16

State's [1] 90/18

stated [13] 44/11 44/12 46/7
46/8 55/4 55/17 59/25 64/11
105/21 107/11 112/11 116/5
117/23

statement [6] 16/2 37/22
64/25 84/6 90/5 121/12
statements [8] 16/1 37/21
64/24 84/5 90/4 112/16
115/11 121/11

states [2] 47/25 108/5

stay [3] 75/23 76/6 77/13

stayed [4] 33/2 33/4 43/22
45/3

stays [1] 81/2

steal [2] 113/6 119/11

Stenotype [1] 124/7

stepped [1] 38/10

steps [2] 104/14 104/15

Steve [1] 82/7

stick [4] 107/8 107/9 107/9
107/10

still [19] 26/18 26/20 27/1

27/2 28/13 28/16 29/22 44/1
45/22 63/13 63/14 71/23
72/20 75/17 76/6 80/12 81/2
81/4 97/17
stocky [1] 14/4
stolen [6] 118/13 118/14
118/14 118/17 118/18 119/6
stomach [4] 22/9 22/17 31/2

31/6
stomp [1] 60/18
stomped [1] 59/11
stomping [2] 59/14 59/16
stood [1] 60/16
stop [10] 31/14 31/14 43/4

43/5 55/16 56/25 57/9 57/15
70/7 120/23

stopped [4] 41/16 46/10 57/16

106/13
stories [1] 74/18
story [5] 20/5 20/6 70/4

74/16 74/17
straight [1] 68/13
street [29] 18/2 18/6 26/4
26/10 26/17 29/24 30/21
32/17 36/15 57/1 69/20 70/5
93/9 93/15 94/4 94/4 94/5
96/6 96/9 96/20 98/2 98/25
99/24 107/25 108/16 112/20
120/5 120/7 120/21
streets [2] 115/9 120/6
striking [1] 122/5
struggle [10] 21/20 21/21
22/15 22/16 24/21 28/14 98/7

110/16 110/19 110/24
struggled [1] 22/20
stuff [8] 20/16 26/14 35/16
50/10 50/13 51/9 57/19 81/21
style [1] 79/1
subject [5] 47/5 96/16 96/19
106/5 120/16
subjects [1]
submitted [1]

97/2
122/24

subsequent [1] 95/11
substance [1] 8/19
substantial [2] 8/18 8/22
successful [1] 7/1

such [3] 6/16 7/8 9/15
suffer [1] 9/13

suicide [2] 81/24 1l1l6/12
supervision [1] 124/11
supervisor [1] 93/13

supposed [3] 74/25 77/19

77/24

sure [16] 24/17 33/6 36/17
44/8 46/10 51/3 54/15 54/22
55/14 57/7 62/11 62/19 63/3
81/1 120/1 122/10

surfaces [1] 13/16

68/11 71/24 172/9
77/2 79/19 80/22

suspect [9]
73/3 76/14
117/7

suspects [9] 70/5 71/11 87/25
95/8 95/23 96/18 96/23
100/24 108/16

swear [6] 10/19 16/18 38/15
65/13 84/19 90/22

sworn [7] 5/5 11/18 17/17
39/13 66/11 85/17 91/21

T

table [5] 71/19 71/21 102/6
102/11 102/21

tactically [2] 74/19 75/24

take [11] 36/19 38/11 56/4
57/19 60/15 71/12 104/14
104/15 113/8 113/11 119/11

taken [13] 1/12 82/25 93/15
96/16 100/25 106/16 107/1
107/14 107/17 113/9 115/5
117/10 117/23

takes [2] 36/6 78/23

taking [4] 6/11 6/19 59/12
95/14

talk [15] 25/22 46/4 51/2

52/3 103/1 103/14 103/16
105/7 105/15 108/12 109/12
110/20 113/5 113/17 113/24

talked [8] 36/14 106/22
107/17 109/5 115/20 116/10
117/21 117/22

talking [12] 31/14 49/11
56/11 58/8 73/13 718/20 79/7
104/1 105/12 115/8 11l6/25
120/3

talks [2] 114/5 114/20

tall [6] 21/2 45/11 46/1
71/16 71/19 80/7

tape [1] 94/11

target [9] 71/4 71/6 72/10
76/21 76/22 80/12 80/13
80/17 121/3

tattoos [2] 21/6 45/11

Team [1] 94/25

technically [1] 75/5

tell [18] 22/14 23/1 28/12

30/4 31/25 36/23 47/9 48/20
53/1 53/10 53/15 54/25 86/23
98/6 107/23 111/12 113/5
116/1

telling [9] 24/1 48/7 81/18
81/21 103/19 106/4 110/18
116/4 116/9

tells [2] 29/21 55/8

ten [3] 92/12 92/15 92/16

tend [2] 7/7 43/5

TERESA [1] 2/9

term [3] 108/16 116/13 117/4

termed [2] 107/8 108/13

terms [2] 12/9 119/1

terrace [1] 72/1

testified [6] 11/20 17/19
39/15 66/13 85/19 91/23

testify [6] 11/19 17/18 39/14
66/12 85/18 91/22

testifying [1] 41/5

testimony [13] 9/21 10/19
11/1 16/18 16/25 38/15 38/22
65/13 65/20 84/19 85/1 90/22
91/4

than [12] 9/25 53/18 56/1
57/12 59/22 62/12 62/19
62/23 63/6 63/22 118/23
122/11

thank [34] 10/4 10/14 11/15
11/16 15/20 16/12 16/23
17/14 17/15 34/11 37/13 38/7
38/9 39/11 63/25 64/19 65/10
66/9 83/11 83/25 84/16 85/15
89/22 90/15 90/17 91/19
118/6 119/7 120/25 121/22
121/24 122/1 122/25 123/5

that [568]

that's [64]

their [10] 22/14 22/16 41/19
48/6 49/24 53/3 54/18 57/18
59/21 89/16

them [46]

then [125]

there [110]

there's [30] 26/12 29/19
30/22 31/3 31/4 33/19 52/12
52/14 52/14 68/16 68/17 70/9
70/11 70/13 72/3 72/15 73/5
73/5 73/21 5/3 79/22 80/23
88/10 89/10 94/21 98/7 99/16
99/23 100/7 102/5

thereafter [1] 124/9

these [20] 15/23 19/15 20/12
34/13 37/18 62/3 62/22 64/21
70/17 74/17 81/3 82/17 84/2
90/1 96/14 99/2 99/9 100/20
118/25 121/8

they [121]

they're [25] 23/21 23/21 24/9
35/23 35/23 35/25 36/5 43/6
43/6 44/19 48/1 53/20 73/22
78/5 78/20 78/21 107/25
108/1 108/1 114/20 114/24
114/24 120/15 120/15 120/21

thin [1] 74/3

thing [10] 13/13 13/20 36/11
46/7 55/3 56/18 81/9 82/2
122/4 123/3

things [5] 63/22 79/6 103/16
104/2 107/4
think [15] 18/12 21/3 21/9

21/16 26/21 29/6 29/11 29/22
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think... [7] 43/15 45/9 69/14
69/16 88/20 119/23 120/22
thinking [3] 29/25 30/1 76/7

third [2] 88/9 89/19
this [173]
those [24] 5/22 6/5 14/18

20/23 22/17 34/14 43/20 50/1
54/3 63/22 64/11 73/10 79/25
86/22 92/10 92/16 97/23 99/4
100/3 104/9 111/19 113/13
117/11 120/5

though [5] 59/3 73/24 77/6
77/18 120/21

thought [6] 8/9 34/3 44/13
70/5 78/15 82/9

threatened [1] 8/21

threatening [1] 33/8

three [6] 8/5 29/11 29/11
44/15 71/19 72/17

three feet [1] 72/17

through [31] 12/17 13/8 14/10
14/10 14/13 14/15 14/16
14/17 15/2 28/22 29/12 29/22
30/15 30/24 33/7 70/18 70/19
71/5 72/15 72/19 73/1 13/8
78/7 79/25 82/17 99/22 101/4
101/10 114/10 114/23 122/8

throughout [4] 22/14 22/16
112/7 116/21

throw [3] 28/19 78/12 78/13

thrown [2] 71/25 72/5

Thursday [1] 1/13

time [75]

times [6] 29/11 29/16 31/11
75/12 114/25 115/13

tires [1] 40/11

Title [1] 125/23

today [8] 10/25 16/24 38/21

62/13 62/20 65/19 84/25 91/3

together [6] 19/25 32/9 47/5
73/22 78/6 116/24

told [36] 23/19 23/25 24/2
25/12 26/24 27/13 29/20
31/10 31/12 31/14 33/10
47/10 49/8 51/16 51/18 51/23
53/2 55/2 56/22 56/23 56/25
58/1 75/22 82/21 96/15 96/21
96/22 97/2 97/10 100/5
102/25 111/2 111/3 113/2
116/7 120/18

too [8] 29/16 30/1 30/3
30/23 35/15 46/10 55/14 57/7

took [12] 36/17 58/12 58/12
59/2 70/16 71/7 97/9 100/7
106/12 112/13 113/15 124/7

tools [3] 107/1 107/3 107/13

top [12] 19/15 21/15 22/7
22/11 25/15 26/15 34/12
61/21 69/20 87/11 89/4 94/5

topies [1] 105/17
totality [1] 75/3
toward [1] 7/18

towards [9] 7/4 72/14 73/22
76/22 77/3 77/5 17/5 17/9
80/2

towed [1] 118/10
Toyota [1l] 36/8
track [1] 88/17

53/11
53/9 53/17 81/22

tracking [1]
traffic [5]

115/3 115/3
training [2]
transcribe [1]
transcribed [1]
transcript [3]

125/4
transect [1] 14/13
transpired [6] 15/25 37/20

64/23 84/4 90/3 121/10
Transportation [3] 40/4 40/20

87/8
transported [2] 95/18 97/11
treated [1] 79/19
tried [3] 58/16 64/12 107/15
trigger [1] 25/16
tripod [2] 100/16 100/16
trips [1] 51/6
Tropicana [10] 41/14 56/5

56/8 56/21 57/3 69/16 106/20

120/12 120/12 120/15
truck [2] 42/24 107/19
true [2] 122/15 124/12
trunk [2] 42/16 42/18
truth [37] 10/21 10/21 10/22

11/19 11/19 11/20 16/20

16/20 16/21 17/18 17/18

17/19 38/17 38/17 38/18

39/14 39/14 39/15 47/9 65/15

65/15 65/16 66/12 66/12

66/13 84/21 84/21 84/22

85/18 85/18 85/19 90/24

90/24 90/25 91/22 91/22

91/23
truthful [1] 55/4
try [2] 61/6 82/22
trying [29] 22/19 24/17 25/14

25/15 41/21 43/8 44/5 44/6

49/11 49/23 51/2 61/5 75/21

76/13 79/5 80/22 81/14 82/4

82/5 82/7 82/8 83/23 110/15

110/17 111/6 111/6 111/9

111/9 112/10
turn [8] 53/21 53/22 54/1

56/20 56/23 56/23 120/16

120/17
turned [7] 29/19 53/7 53/8

57/1 58/6 60/2 69/16
turns [2] 79/13 108/2
TV [17] 20/15 50/2 50/18

51/15 57/22 58/12 58/12 59/1

59/7 59/9 59/11 59/17 60/19

106/16 107/17 107/19 107/20
twenties [1] 45/14
Twenty [1] 92/10
twice [1] 59/11
two [36] 6/21 19/19 19/24

19/25 21/19 22/18 23/1 29/11

29/11 35/20 35/21 36/2 42/19

44/15 51/3 51/8 54/3 56/19

62/23 63/22 64/11 67/24

67/24 70/4 72/16 74/16 74/17

77/8 79/25 94/21 96/18 96/23

113/24 116/24 118/16 120/6

12/13 12/17
5/6

124/10
1/18 124/12

101/10 106/19 113/23 116/25
117/6 117/12 119/10 120/18

unclear [1] 79/17
unconscious [1] 29/14
uncuffed [1] 102/9

under [9] 8/20 9/10 31/19
33/3 33/4 88/2 100/6 105/2
124/10

underneath [3] 31/13 34/3
43/19

undersigned [1] 125/4

understand [16] 11/9 16/10

17/8 38/5 38/6 39/5 52/9
54/22 65/8 66/3 78/21 84/14
85/9 90/13 91/12 121/20
understanding [2] 6/21 44/18
understood [2] 103/3 104/9
unfired [1] 100/13
uniform [1l] 67/20

unintentional [1] 8/2

unit [6] 56/9 93/3 95/1 95/3
101/23 101/24
units [1] 67/24

University [1] 12/18

unjustifiable [1] 7/19

unlawful [4] 6/11 6/25 7/10
7/19

unlawfully [1] 7/9

unless [3] 9/16 75/7 83/14
unloading [2] 50/17 51/7
unloads [1] 51/9

unrelated [2] 103/16 104/2
unroll [1] 44/8

unsafe [3] 45/5 47/1 56/22
unsure [1] 43/11

until [4] 28/2 77/7 98/18
102/14

up [95]

upon [14] 8/9 10/20 14/18

16/19 19/11 32/8 38/16 41/4
65/14 84/20 90/23 95/6 101/6
115/11

ups [4]
89/17

upset [3]

upside [1] 93/23

upstairs [5] 74/13 101/1
114/21 115/14 115/14

us [43]

use [37] 5/24 5/24 5/25 6/1
11/3 11/4 11/4 11/5 17/2
17/3 17/3 17/4 36/18 38/24
38/25 38/25 39/1 65/22 65/23
65/23 65/24 85/3 85/4 85/4
85/5 91/6 91/7 91/7 91/8
95/4 104/16 104/24 118/2
122/18 122/19 122/19 122/20

used [10] 6/17 8/16 8/20
8/21 8/21 98/13 108/16
111/19 116/13 118/3

uses [1l] 110/25

using [6] 30/13 64/13 77/21
109/20 110/5 111/4

usually [6] 29/18 35/23 36/5
43/9 50/8 109/2

62/4 86/16 86/18

48/8 48/11 107/19

type [1l] 98/6

U

U-F-E-R-T [1] 39/10

Ufert [6] 39/9 39/12 39/20

86/19 87/5 87/24
Ufert's [1] 88/6
ultimately [14] 12/9 93/8
95/4 96/11 96/22 100/25

\'4

vacant [2] 70/4 70/4

value [1] 100/4

van [34] 43/24 43/25 44/1
44/22 44/25 45/22 47/25

48/17 50/16 50/18 50/23
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watching [2] 28/18 79/7
water [6] 54/20 54/21 58/14

van... [23] 50/24 51/10 51/16
51/17 51/17 51/20 52/6 52/16
52/21 55/16 57/18 57/19 58/9
58/11 59/18 60/17 60/22
62/25 63/1 63/10 119/17
119/17 120/6

various [3] 75/11 86/16 89/17

Vegas [9] 1/12 5/1 18/2
66/20 85/25 92/6 93/9 105/23
124/14

vehicle [48]

versus [1] 5/13

very [7] 10/4 37/13 103/24
106/20 108/6 116/3 119/20

vests [1] 55/5

viecinity [1] 94/6

viectim [5] 75/1 76/14 88/25
95/17 99/6

victims [1]

video [1]

view [2]

violence [1]

visual [4]
99/25

visually [1] 74/10

voice [10] 31/23 32/1 32/3
39/21 48/14 74/11 110/11
111/23 112/5 112/10

100/6
102/7
97/9 119/23
6/13
71/18 75/20 82/18

vote [1] 122/15

W

W-I-L-D-E-M-A-N-N [1] 85/14
W-I-L-L-I-A-M [1] 66/8

Wagon [1] 41/2

waistband [4]
108/20 108/22

waited [1] 77/7

waiting [2] 44/16 103/11

wake [2] 102/22 102/23

waking [1] 103/12

walk [7] 44/3 46/12 46/22
47/2 48/2 48/6 99/22

walked [9] 43/24 46/18 48/17
48/18 60/8 97/8 99/23 99/24
102/24

walking [11] 31/12 33/11 44/5
47/11 98/4 107/25 108/1
108/2 108/4 120/19 120/21

walks [2] 48/22 79/11

wall [22] 26/16 30/20 30/20
59/10 71/13 71/15 71/21
75/21 76/8 76/20 77/1 77/10
77/11 80/2 80/3 80/5 80/7
80/10 80/13 80/19 112/22
113/15

wallet [1]

walls [3]
111/25

want [17]
54/22
75/25
83/13
123/4

wanted [12] 27/25 28/1 28/2
35/24 36/19 56/20 58/1 61/7
104/19 104/23 116/12 116/13

wants [2] 81/20 81/23

was [386]

wasn't [10] 21/15 33/6 36/19
46/10 55/14 105/2 105/23
112/8 112/12 115/8

108/10 108/18

55/3
96/24 111/22

18/10 18/22 24/10
58/1 58/2 59/23 70/22
76/25 777/13 79/16
94/1 100/10 105/15

60/2 104/17 104/19

wave [1] 41/17

way [18] 25/1 28/22 39/22
45/15 46/3 48/1 53/6 56/11
69/17 71/11 71/17 72/9 76/5
76/23 99/10 109/23 111/21
118/3

ways [1] 43/3
we [140]
we'll [7] 5/18 50/6 106/6

106/7 119/3 120/22 122/9
we're [12] 18/12 24/6 30/4
31/12 35/18 63/14 70/25
77/22 80/15 80/16 81/24

122/10
We've [2]
weapon [44]
weapons [2]
wearing [3]
Weckerly [2]

5/12 116/25

62/23 63/23
21/9 21/9 36/19
2/19 5/10

week [4] 109/8 116/10 116/21
116/24

weighing [1] 8/10

well [26] 12/6 12/15 13/8

13/20 18/7 27/14 40/10 55/20
60/3 68/16 75/16 75/22 778/8
80/21 82/15 83/13 94/12
96/10 98/2 98/21 107/12
109/16 110/1 113/6 115/7
118/19

went [46]

were [126]

weren't [2] 25/2 34/9

west [2] 79/23 82/17

westbound [3] 56/8 56/21
108/1

what [164]

what's [10] 9/25 13/13 18/9
18/14 20/10 26/11 82/23
110/7 114/8 120/20

whatever [4] 32/19 42/25
53/19 57/12

whatsoever [2]

Wheel [1] 41/2

when [101]

where [67]

Where's [1]

wherever [1l] 69/9

whether [6] 6/25 8/1 9/6
25/21 41/21 119/6

which [49]

while [32] 5/23 6/2 11/2
11/6 17/1 17/5 24/8 38/23
39/2 44/13 49/22 59/16 65/21
65/25 73/2 73/11 13/14 75/24
79/7 85/2 85/6 91/5 91/9
109/21 112/9 114/20 114/24
115/10 115/14 115/14 122/17
122/21

white [21] 21/2 36/6 42/2
42/3 42/9 42/23 43/1 45/17
48/18 49/3 50/11 50/17 51/7
51/10 51/16 58/12 62/15
72/23 74/3 118/10 118/22

who [37] 5/11 6/8 8/23 9/1
9/4 9/11 10/1 18/6 24/1
25/13 25/15 32/21 40/16 44/6
51/20 62/14 67/23 68/22
74/25 75/1 75/20 86/11 88/19
92/25 94/15 94/18 96/19

8/25 105/5

33/10

97/12 97/13 101/20 103/19
109/25 110/21 112/19 117/15
117/16 118/10

who's [1] 88/19
whoever [1] 76/14
whole [18] 10/21 11/19 16/20

17/18 21/21 22/3 25/2 25/23
36/20 38/17 39/14 65/15
66/12 71/10 84/21 85/18
90/24 91/22

whose [2] 36/4 88/5

why [9] 24/9 30/1 41/16 47/2
98/10 105/6 105/11 114/15
115/4

wide [2] 30/2 30/3

Wildemann [2] 85/13 85/16

will [16] 6/13 7/17 8/17
10/10 10/11 10/13 10/16
16/14 52/2 68/19 90/19
119/23 120/2 121/4 122/3
122/5

willful [1]

willfully [1] 8/23

willfulness [2] 8/6 8/7

William [2] 66/7 66/10

Williams [1] 102/25

willing [1] 104/12

Wilson [2] 101/20 102/24

window [39] 19/21 26/4 26/6
26/10 30/3 30/16 30/17 35/7
44/8 44/10 72/3 72/4 2/6
72/15 72/24 73/7 73/9 73/25
75/16 717/2 718/1 18/6 8/9
78/12 78/14 78/18 79/14
79/22 79/22 79/23 80/1 98/8
98/9 98/10 110/8 111/19
112/15 114/4 114/10

windows [3] 72/11 76/9 82/17

Winters [8] 96/19 117/1 117/3
117/6 117/12 117/14 117/21
117/22

wipe [1] 61/6

wit [1] 125/13

withdrawn [1] 123/1

within [8] 40/13 93/3 93/3
95/1 95/3 98/13 98/19 105/15

without [3] 7/13 9/5 27/10

witness [14] 9/21 10/14 10/16
16/14 37/14 38/10 64/1 83/15
87/1 88/7 88/15 89/13 89/23
90/18

witnesses [6] 3/1 86/16 89/17
97/6 112/23 122/2

WOJCIECHOWSKI [1] 2/3

woke [2] 19/6 19/7

woman [26] 20/20 23/7 24/4
24/6 24/15 27/5 28/23 28/24
30/12 32/21 33/7 34/9 35/2
45/19 45/24 49/1 49/22 52/4
54/4 55/8 59/16 59/23 61/18
78/2 97/13 110/21

woman's [1l] 98/4

women's [1] 74/11

won't [1] 23/22

wondering [1] 24/9

word [1] 10/8

worded [1] 34/25

words [2] 109/20 110/5

work [18] 39/25 40/15 40/17
40/22 49/8 49/10 50/18 52/6
52/7 59/25 64/15 64/16 67/11
67/22 92/22 92/24 93/3 106/3

8/3
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worked [7] 40/6 40/24 58/17
66/24 70/17 86/4 86/6

worker [2] 40/16 107/2

workers [1] 70/2

working [8] 12/7 12/24 40/1
67/3 67/17 86/8 92/20 92/22

works [1] 101/20

would [45]

wouldn't [2] 27/10 75/25

wound [3] 13/21 15/6 15/13

write [1] 45/6

writing [4] 37/8 43/12 61/23
87/16

written [2] 70/25 89/4

wrongful [1] 7/13

Y

yard [8] 26/11 26/13 59/10
71/8 76/1 76/11 80/16 81/2

yards [1] 43/2

yeah [37] 19/20 20/2 20/16
21/13 21/18 23/9 27/2 27/3
27/14 27/18 27/21 28/6 28/9
29/10 30/23 31/21 34/1 34/18
34/22 35/10 35/18 35/25
36/25 59/13 59/24 69/2 80/6
81/20 82/3 88/19 100/12
102/21 106/14 107/1 111/4
113/9 116/22

year [10] 16/5 18/23 37/25
39/25 65/3 67/4 84/9 86/9
90/8 121/15

years [10] 12/7 12/8 12/17
67/2 770/18 86/5 92/9 92/10
92/11 92/16

yell [1] 78/9

yelling [11] 19/7 20/17 29/21
73/3 73/13 74/11 74/14 81/9
81/13 82/3 115/25

yellow [5] 22/25 23/16 94/11
98/5 110/25

yellowish [1] 99/8

yes [136]

yesterday [1] 25/13

yet [11 71/7

you [596]

you'll [1] 6/5

you're [26] 16/12 19/24 20/14
38/7 45/22 49/22 50/20 52/9
55/21 60/1 60/6 60/18 63/13
68/15 69/9 69/19 69/23 70/22
72/12 772/20 75/15 75/25
84/16 90/15 96/12 105/11

you've [3] 63/17 92/14 92/15

young [2] 57/25 62/15

younger [2] 62/12 62/19

your [135]

yours [1l] 61/23

yourself [7] 40/15 62/6 64/6
67/22 68/15 92/23 101/17
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PHILIP ). KOHN, PUBLIC DEFENDER gﬁ e
NEVADA BAR NO. 0356 Cﬁ;« 3

309 Scuth Thivd Street, Snite 226

[ MTECE, SIS < CLERK OF THE COURT
Las Vepas, Nevada 89155
{FU23 4554685

1 Attorney for Betendant

DISTRICT COURT
CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA
THE STATE OF NEVADA
CASENO. C300032
DEPT.NOK

DATEL: September 10, 2014
T 830 AM

Plaintify,
.
NATASHA GALENN JACKSON,

Defdant,

DEFENDANT'S MOTION TO COMPEL ISCLOSURE QF
EXCULPATORY EVIDENCE

COMES NOW, the Defendant, NATASHA GALENN JAUKSON, by and through

| DAN A SILVERSTEIN, Deputy Poblic Defender, and CHRISTY CRAIG, Deputy Public

Defendesr, and hereby requests that this Cowt order the State 1o produce any and ol exeulpatory

evidence W its sctual or constrpctive possession, pursuant to Brady v, Marvland, 373 US, §3

(19631,

This Motion is made and based vpon all the papers and pleadings on file herein and
oral argement af the time set Tor hearing this Mation,
DATED this 26™ day of August, 2014

PHILIE I, KORN
CLARK COUNTY PUBL IC DEFENDER

162




£

S

..«, pa
i ¥

pa—
4%

16

i&

ARGUMENT
Prior to tral, the State must provide to the defense aay and all exculpaiony svidence in ig
actual or constructive possession.  Failure to do so violates the Due Process Clauses of the Filth

and Fourleenth Amendarints to the United States Constitution. Brady v, Marvlaad, 373 US. 83,

83 800 1194 (1963) Kyles v, Whitley, S14 ULS. 419, 115 S.C1 1555 {1993), Hervinalier this

type of exeulpatory evidence will be referred to as “Brady material” The State’s duty to provide

material to the defense applies regardloss of how the State has chosen to steacture 1y overall

distavery process. Stricklory, Greene, 527 LLS. 263, 1198.01 1936 {1999).

Brady material is evidence which iy (1) msnterial, (2) relevant to guilt or punishimend, {33

i of seone geling on

Favorahle to the aceused, and {4) within the acturl or constructive poss

belalf of the State. Brady, supri.

| 1 Mewerialivy

When the deforse mwkes a specific regquest for B
provide such material, the Nevada Suprsme Cowrt has beld that there aee grounds for reversal of a
conviction ©. i1 there existy o reasepable possibility that the clatmed evidence would have

State, 112 Nev, 81001996}, State v, Bennetl, 119 Nev, 89 2003).

Ewen 1w speetfic request has not been made, reversad is waranted i1 there exists a

reasonable probabilily that, had the evidence been disclosed, the result of the procesding would

have beew difforant,” U Bagley, 473 U8, 667 (1983), Feansylvania v, Ritchie, 480 188, 39

(1986). A “reasonably probability™ s a probability sufficient o underming vonlidence in the

SEERGEN

| outcome of the procecding, Ragley at 682,

Therefore, where, as here, o specific request for certain evidence is made, the evidenve is

| considered “material™ i thers is 2 reasonable possibility that it condd affect e factlinder’s

Pudgment.
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I Relevaney o guilt or punishment
Brady waaterial eocompasses not enly evidence which might affest the defondants guilt,

but also ineludes evidenee which could serve to mitigate a defondants sentente upon conviction,

Stake, 112 Nev. 610 (19963,

An example of this kind of evidesve might be where the victim of o robbery whe identified

the defondant as one of two people whe robbed him, also indicated that the defendant tied to keep

| the co~defendan from further injuring him, Although the vietim’s statements would actually help

establish the defendant’s puilt for the charged offense, they would also be Brady material, since

they could help mitigate the defendant’s sentence. Essentially, anything which could eonvince the

Court to impose somcthing less than a maximum seatence, or rebut alleged aggravating

cireumstines, would be refevant to punishment, and roust be provided to the defense purstant b

¥

HE Favorability te the aceused.

The Nevada Supreme Conri has defioed what pvidence is considered “favorable to the

aecused™ amd therefore proper Brady material.  In Magzan v, Warden, 116 Nev, 48 {2000), the

Lourt stajed:

Dae process does not require simpdy the disclosure of Yexculpatory™
evidence. Evidence also noust be disclosed if it provides grounds for the
defense to attack the reliability: thoroughness, and good faith of the police
mvestipation, 1o impeach the Li&ﬂiiﬁﬂlh of the state’s withesses, or 1o bolsier
the defense gase against prosecitoriad atiacks, Muihmmnm, discovery g
vriminad case s not Hmited to ovestipative leads or reports that are

® indmu eg:d not ha ehmlmdx,p::ndemi

admissible in evidence.”
awdmissilde o have been materigl” nat 67, (citations omitted)

following examples: forensic testing which was orderad, but not done, or which was eompleted bt

| did oot inculpate the defendant; erimingl records or other evidence concerning State’s witnesses

which mright show their bias (e, civil litigation), or otherwise impeach their credibility: evidenee
that the-alleged victim has been the atleged vietim of an wnusual number of erimes; investigative
teads or ordinarily appropriate investigation which were not followedsup o or completed by taw
enforcement; and, of course, anything which is inconsistent with any prive or present statemes of

3
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including prison vecords, and any information therein which bears on credibility.”

a State's witniess, incluwding the failure to previously make a statemsent which is laker made or
testified to, OF course, traditionally exculpatory evidenee such as that which could show that
someons olse commitied the charged erime or that no cime occurred, wonld alse be ncluded as

dy material,
The Ninth Circuit Conet of Appeals has held that the government hag a duly fo review and
disclose persennel files of police officers called to testify for disciplivary. action or sy other

papeschment information.  United States v, Henthorn, 931 F24d 28 :{9‘“ Cir, 181, I sddition o

- any other exculpaiory information, Henthorn reguires the government o ingpect the personnet files

of its testifying police witnesses and disclose any exeulpatory information, including disciplinary

actions and evidence of purjurious conduct or other dishonesty.  The defendant does not have a

- burden to prove mateviality before making such a request, Rather, “fthe oblisstion to exansine the

files arises by virtue of the making of a demand for thelr roduction.™ Henthern ai 31,

The State routinely adopts an overly restrictive definition of the term “excnlpatory

evidence.”™ For example, the State normally claims Gt # s only required to disclose felony

| canvictions of s witnesses, and that Brady does not mundate disclosare of the entire eririnal

recond of o witness.  This ix absolutely fadse. {1t is the State’s obligation to fun over all

information bearfng on {a] witness's credibility. This must inchude the witness's eriminal record,

Stewart, 132 F.3d 463,480 (0" Cie. 1997}
For too long, the State’s position on disclosare has been to fight each definse request tootly

and nail, keeping the defense as fgnorant as the trial ceurt will allow, This “win-at-all-costs™

approgch © Brady 33 inconsistent with the daty of 8 prossontor 1o see that justice is done in gach

and every vase. This selfevident truth has been repeatcdly recognized by the federal district
| conrts in our cirenit, who have urged an expansive, rather than @ testrictive approsch to pretrial

| disclosure:

“[The proper test for pretrial disclosure of sxculpatory evidence
should be anevaluation of whether the evidence 18 Bvorable 1o the
deferise, Lo, whether it is evideocve that helps bolster the defense
case or impeach the prosecwtor’s witnesses.,. I doubt exists, i
shinld be resolved in favor of the defendant and full disclosure made.
[TThe govermment [shondd] disclosure all evidence relating to puilt ot

4
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exenlpatory evidence, and his motive for doing 5o is inaterial® Thneoer v, State

punishment which might reasonably be considered favorable to the
defemdint’s case, even il the evidence is not admissible so lonp a3 i1 ix
reasonably ikely to fead to admissible evidence™

United States v, Acosta, 357 F. Supp. 2d 1228, 123940 (D). Nev.
2004), citing United States v, Sudikoff, 36 F. Supp. 23 1196 (G Cal, 1999),

| AV detial or constrpetive possession of the State

It is anticipated that the prosecution may agsert that it hag an “open file™ policy, and that if

the requested material is not avatlable fn bg file, the State is wnder s oblpation o producs i

This argunsent is wnavailing.  to Strickler v, Greene, 527 1LS. 283, 119 8.0 1936 (1999), the

United States Supreme Court explicitly held that o prosecutor’s open file policy does sot in any

vy substitute for or diminish the State’s obligation to tum over Bradh material, Fhe Nevada

Supreme Cowrt s in accord. "I s & vielation of due process for the prosecutor 1o swithholi

112 Nev. 610,

618 (1996).

Frasthermore, “.oeven i the deteetives withhield thele seponts without the prosecutor's

knowledge, “the stute attorney iv charged with cosstructive knowledve wond possession of evidence

| withheld by other stefe agents, such as kaw enforcement officers™ Id, 112 Nev, at 620 {citation

ty violation occurs . owhen the government fails o turn over

d

ontitted {omphas

even evidence that is "Known only to police investigators sid not 10 the prosecutor.™  Younghl

v West Virgiia, 347 LS. 867, 369-70 (2008), guoting Kules v Whitley, 514 419, 43%

| {1995),  Diefondant wonld subnit that other state agents, such s probation and paele dficdrs,

wetfare v@-n‘rkers, r;?rl‘!;‘;ﬂ&}?‘a&@i; of Chitld Frotective Servives, :;:ai! persomel, ami’simifm agents of the

I Kiiu v, Whitley, ST USRS 419, 115 800 1833 (1995), the United Stites Supreme

Court made it elear that the prosecutor has an aﬁirmm&im abdigation o obtain Brady material and

the Snpreme Court noted that “{ihe prosscution’s alfivimative duty t disclose evidence favorable

to o delendant can trace its origing o early 20 CRNtUEY strlctures aeainst nusrepresentation and i

of course most prominently associated with this Cowt's detision in Brady v, Mavsland. .
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The Kyles Courtalse made elear that this obligation exists even where the defense does not

mrake @ regoest for such evidenee. 14

The Kyles Court additionally made the following observations in finding that the State had

breached Hs duty to Kyles and discussing the prosecutor's obligations.

This in turm means that the individual prosecutor has a daty to leam
of any fevorable evidence knowan to she others acting o the govers-
wient's behaif in the case, lmludmg: the police, Bul whether the
prnseciior suceceds or fails in meeting s obligation {whother, tha
is, & ire 1 disclose is iy good faith or bad fith), the pi&)ﬁtmimn 5
rmpo*mhthw for failing to disclose known, favorable evidence rising
to a materiad level of impociance is inescapable,

The State of Louisiana would prefer an even more lenient rule, It pleads
that some of the Taveratde evidence in issue here was nol diselosed

event 1o the prosecutor uatil afler trial, and i sugeested below that it
should nut be held sccountable nnder Bagley and Brady for evidonee
kunown only 1o police mvestigators and nolio the prosecutor. To
:urcammmdate Iha: ‘Smt‘n in ﬂli‘ﬁ manner -wauirj hmw\f‘er‘, amount foa

imm ﬂ_nmy h;, sald t}mi IVEOTS duubt.& that pnhcs-w nn—*&sftigmm‘s SOHIE
fimes lail to inform a prosgeutor of all they kaow,

Bud neither is there any serious doubt that Pprovedures and
regulations can be established to carry {the prossoutor’s] burden
and 1o s communication of ail ra:ﬁ*vmﬁ' inforntation on each
case by every lawyer who deads with i1 Sinee then, the prossentor
fas the means to diseharg o the government’s Brady responsibiliy
i e will, any argument for excusing a prosseutor fmm'diafiming
what he does not happen fo know about boils down taa plea o
substitute iin ;30!1(\ im %ha pmwcuam cmll even fwr Ek cour 1*,
themselves,
ensure fair triads, Wy Em at 43 ,HjS (&ndh(}i%& mmtied ;p.\

“Exculpatory evidenve cannat be kept out of the hands of the defense jnst because the
prosecuter does not have i, where an investigating ageney does. That would undermine Brady by
atlowing the investigating sgency to prevent production by keeping areport out of the prosecudor’s

hands unil the sgency decided the proseeutar ouglt o have it United States v. Rlanco, 392 F 3d

387, 388 (9™ O 2004y, groting United States v dung-Aree, 44 F3d 1420, 1427 (9 Cir, l’@*}fﬁ}f

Additionally, " actual awareness {or lack H;rmf} of s,\m!;mmn evidenve Jn the

government’s hands... s hot determinative of the prosecution’s disclosure ablipations. Rathet, the

&
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1§ prosecution has a duty 1o Teamn of any exculpatory evidence known e others acting on the

3 | government’s behalll Because the prosecution is in a unique position to obtain informiation known
3 || 1o other ngents of the povernment, it may oot be excused from disclosing what it does not kaow
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& || has an alliomative duty to seek out the previously discussed Brady material, vegardless of whether

74 sunh material s in the hands of the prosector or in the hands of some other eatity acting on behalt

g [} of the Siate.

i Baged on the fhreg@iﬂg tave nod snalysis, the Defendant requests that the following Brady
| eterial be prodaced by the State;

130 Ao Dhselosures of oy and ol compensation, express or impHed promises of favotahle
14 treatment or lepdeney, or any ollier beosfit thay any of the State’s witnesses received
15 i exchange for their cooperation with thiz prosecution, inchuding, bat not limited
i 0, any express or implied promise made fo any withess or the legal guardiang of
17 sabd witnesses, such a3 sgreements fo piovide counseling, or any other benefit
18 | provided as a result of eooperation, and avy direct or inplicit agreement with any
10 witness with respect ta their involvenent with Child Protective Services, the Las
n Vegas Metropolitan Police Pepartment, Henderson Police Depurtment, North Las
2 Vegas Police Department, the Clark County Distriet Attoraey’s OFBee, or any other
a3 State agenoy, and copies of any Victim Informution Guide or other materials
43 provided by g State sgeney o any victing or witness in this case. This regiest
4 includes sty witness payments made from any vieting withess payment dccount
25 created purseant to NRS 43758

B4

27 B, Any and all infornvation reparding any informant or eitiven souree relied upon in
a8 this investigation, sither divectly or indivectly, incleding, but noi Himited 1o, the
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ifomant’s  crimisal Mstory, any  Coopemting  Individual  Agreement, any
Contibutor dentification Record, any Statement of Expenses, any receipts for
payment, any Informant Contaet Form, copies of all debricling reports and

informiant statements, any Denctivation Report, the Confidential Tnformant Sign-

Out Log for te informant’s tile, and any other document relating io the infermant.

Complets criminal histories of all Stale witnesses and the deceased, including, but
not fimited to, out-ofisiate arrests and convictions, unlawiul entry- fnto the United
States or other violations of the federal immigration laws, cutstanding arest
warrants or beneh warrants, and cases wh fch were dismissed o not pursued by the
prosecuting ageney, inchuding, bot not fisited to, any entries Bsted in NCIC,
SO, Trpte-d, andfor any other oriminal database accessible by Nevads law

enforcemean,

Disclosures of any and all statements made by any State witness, or any other

person, at any Hime thal are in any mamer inconsistent with the written andéor

reenrded statements previously provided to the defense, including, but not Hmited

ey any oral statenments. conveyed during preirial conferences, contasts with Child
Protective Services or any other family  services ageney, or any  other

contmucation with any witness.

Requests for andior results of any and all crimie scene analysis andfor testing

performed o this case, mehading, but not Himited o, guy and all photosraphs, the
B - y L F

resalts of any fingerprinting, AFIS (Automated Fingerprint Ientification System)

searches andfor resulis, DNA testing, CODIS (Combdned DNA Tndex Systemy

searches andfor resalts, twoolmark e ballistics testing, NIBIN  (Nasional
Integrated  Ballistics  Tofonmation Network)  enliies,  inquiries.  or  results,

toxicologival amalyses, footwear bmpressions, gunshot residue testing, trace

e

169




Exs]

k2]

Sl

&

in

IR

F.

any other database

evidence analyses, pen repister, trapfivace device, cell site lovation information,

wictap, oF  other regoest  for  Technical/Anslytical  Seciion  involvement,

preservation letfers or other like communications, auy request for forensic analysis

regandless of the outcome of such vequest, andior neurepathelogical o other
medical evatuations of the deceased, performed throughont this investigation,
imcluding any raw data, rough notes, draft reponts, recorded or otherwise
memorialized nofes relied upon by expents in rendering an opinion in this vase,
mcheding, but not hmited to, the sudie recordings matndained by the medical

exaniner during awtopsy (o assist in the prepavation of the fiual AUEOPIY PEpOH,

Disclosures of any and all sepords, documts, graphs, charls, or any other evidence
::nntm'ning administration of the polygraph test in this case, inchuding, but ant
Hmited to, Request for Polygraph forms, polygraph results, and auy training of
aperaticns manuats relied upon by the polygrapher used by the Lus Vepas

Mutropolitan Police Depactment in this case,

. Photovopies or other reproduction of any and all handwritten, recorded, or

otherwise memarialized notes produced by or refied upon by the investigating

police officers in tis case, including, but not limited to, any sates documenting

~alternate suspects, investigative leads that were not followed up o, or any ether

matter bearing on the credibility of any State witness, regsudless of the Toras in
which such notes are maintained by the State, incloding, but vot Hmited to,

clectronic matl, computerized dictation, eniries into “OnBase,™ “Premicre One,” gr

u, any recordings produced or maintained by the “Open

v
e

£

ot

Sky™ digital vadio communizations network or any similar system, and any video
recordings created by the Las Vegas Metopolitan Police Dpartment during the

investigation of this case;

Q
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Any and all impeachment information focated in the persorngl files of sny police
witness called to testify al trisl or any pretriad beariug in this matter, putsuant to

United States v, Henthorn, 931 F.2d 29 (9% Cir, 1991), including, hut not Bmited 1o,

any Statement of Complaind regarding the witness or this investigation, any
Emploves Notice of Intsrnal Tavestigation, any Tnternal Affairs Investigative Report
of Complaint, swy witness statement, sny Burcau Investigation  Sopervisory
Intervention, and any other document maintsined or generated by the Office of
Tnteossal A, the Citiren’s Roview Roard, Critleal Incidont Baview Panel, Vs of

Foree Review Board, or other investigative sgency.

Any and all Detention Center Support Section files related to this case, inchuding,
bt not Hinsited to, any andio or video recordings of the Defondant, any and all
reports concerning telephone calls made or received by the Defendant doring the
investigation or while incarcerated, including any teport generated by the Bnforcer
system, any aud all visitor logs, whether public visitation o visitation by any
member of faw enforcement, and documentation regarding any search of the

Deferdant’s person or place of uearceration.

Any and all records, veports, statements, or other documentaiion prepared by the
LVMPD Foree lovestigations Team (FIT) in cormection with the investigation of

this case,

14
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K. The enwmeration of the specifie requests sbove in no way is intended to diminish,
nov does i# diminish, the State’s ongoig obligation to affinmatively seek out and

tmmediately disclose any other excudpatory nformation not specifically delinented.

DATED this 26 day of Angust, 2014,
PHILIP § KOHN

" CIIRIY CRAIGARE N
Ieputy Public Defender

T

H

172




vt

b

L&

¥

¢
11
12

-
Tt

NOTICE OF MOTION
TO:  CLARK COUNTY DISTRICT ATTORNEY, Attomney for Plaintiif:
YOU WILL PLEASE TAKE NOTICE that the Public Defender’s Office will bring the
above and foregoing Mation on for hearing before the Conrt on the 1" day of Seplember, 2014,
&30 AML o Distriat Cowrt, Department X,
DATED this 26th day of August, 2004,

PHILIP. L KOHN
CLARK COUNTY PUBLIC DEFENDER

By s/ Dan A Silverstein.
DAN A, SILVERSTEIN, #7518
Deputy Public Defender

By &/ Christy Cradg
CHRISTY CRAIG, #6202
Deputy Public Defender

CERTIFICATE QF ELECTRONIC SERVICE

I horeby certify that smevice of DEFENDANTS MOTION TO COMPEL
DISCLOSURE OF EXCULPATORY EVIDENCE, was nuule this 26 TH day ol August, 2014, by
Eleetronie Filing 1o

CLARK COUNTY DISTRICT ATTORNEY’S OFFICE
Motiensidclarkcounlvdacom

od Abon o

vl
ang

© Sara Ru
Secretary for the Public Defender’s Oilice

12
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10 | NATASHA GALENN JACKSON,

Electronically Filed
09/02/2014 10:46:43 AM

FHILIP ), KOHK, PUBRLIC DEFENDER g,‘ A —
NEVADRA BAR NO,QSS6 Cﬁ@;‘* x

5 5 5] I b Wy i Wi ..\ y Yok A5
309 South Third Steeet, Suite 226 CLERK OF THE COURT
1 . Nevada §91

: 33
{702) 433-4685

L Attorney for Defonidand

DISTRICT COURT
CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA
THE STATE OF NEVADA,
Plaintif, CASE NO. C300032
DEPT, NOL X

DATE: September 16, 2014
TIME: 830 am.

¥,

Defendant.

DEFENDANT'S MOTION TO EXTEND DEADLINE TO FILE
PRETRIAL PETITION FOR WRIT OF HABEAS CORPUS

COMES NOW, the Diefendant, NATASHA GALENN JACKSON, by and through
DAN A, SILVERSTEIN, DReputy. Publie Defender, and CHRISTY CRAWG Deputy Public
Detender, and hereby requests that this Court grant an extenston of the sttutory deadline to file a
prefed petition for g il of habeas corpus set Torth i NRS 3470001 a).

This Motion is made and based upon all the papers and pleasdings on file herein, the
attached Declantion of Connsel, and oral arguiment al the time set for hearing this Motion,

DATED this 2% day of Seplembar, 2014,
| BHILIP 1. KOHN

VHRISTY CRY i
PEputy PublicDefende

B x?;f

<
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DECLARATION

DAN A, SILVERSTEIN makes the following declarations

L | am s attorey duly licensed to practice law in the State of Nevads; 1 am
the Deputy Public Defender assigned 10 represent the Defendant in the inslant matter, and the
Defendant has representad the following facts and eircumstances of thig case,

2, Thai pursuant 10 NRS 3470001 (a), a pretrial petition for g wril of habeas

| corpus must be fled within 21 days of the defendant’s ficst appearance in distsict cowt. Nugagha
| Jackson's initial arvaigrament in district court took place on August 18, 2014, Consequertly, the

wdeadling for filing her preteial petition is September 8, 201,

1 That one of the ¢laims iy Jackson's petition will assert that the prosecution
thiled o present covtain exculpatory evidence to the grand jury, n order to present this clain, the

detonse must be in possession of all of the discovery that was in the possession of the State t the

titme of the grand jury prescatment.  Without this discovery, Jackson cannot identify which

exculpatory facts, if any, were withheld fram the prand jury,

4, Pursuant to NRE 34700{3), this Court has the suthority to extend the

statatary writ deadiine on a showing of good canse, The Defendant respectfully reguests that the

stattory wiit dendline be extended wntil 21 days after the State provides to the defense all
distovery that was in ity possession al the tme of the grand jury presentmient, inclading, but not

Hraited Lo, all police reports, autopsy veports, and withess stiafernonts.

Fdeclare wider penslly of pegjury that the foregoing is true and corect.  {(NRS

| 53.045).

KECUTED this 2% day of September, 2084,

Yoo
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NOTICE OF MOTION
T CLARK COUNTY DISTRIOT ATTORNEY, Attorney for Plaintift:
YOU WILL PLEASE TAKE NOTICE that the Peblic Defender’s Office will bring the
above and foregoing Motion on for hearing before the Court on the 10th day of September, 2014,
at 830 aum.
DBATED this 2md day of September, 2014,

PHILIP ) KOHN
CLARK COUNTY PUBLIC DEFENDER

B’ Dan 4 Sitverstein _
AN A SILVERSTEIN##FIME
Dreputy Public Defeuder

CERTHICATE OF BLECTRONI SERVICE
I hereby certify that service of DEFENDANT'S MOTION TO EXTEND

DEADLINE TO FILE PRETRIAL PETITION FOR WRIT OF HABEAS CORPUS, was made

thig

CLARK COUNTY DISTRICT ATTORKEY S GFFICE
Motiomdclakeountyda.com

4

Rara Ruang
Secreiary Tor the Pablic Defender’s Office
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Electronically Filed
09/03/2014 07:00:20 AM

OPPS Qi b B

STEVEN B. WOLFSON

Clark County District Attorney CLERK OF THE COURT
Nevada Bar #001565

PAMELA C. WECKERLY

Chief D%)uty District Attorney

Nevada Bar #006163

200 Lewis Avenue

Las Vegas, Nevada 89155-2212

(702) 671-2500

Attorney for Plaintiff
DISTRICT COURT
CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA

THE STATE OF NEVADA,

Plaintiff,

-Vs- CASENO: C-14-300032-1

NATASHA GALENN JACKSON, :
#1921058 DEPTNO: X

Defendant.

STATE’S OPPOSITION TO DEFENDANT’S MOTION
TO COMPEL DISCLOSURE OF EXCULPATORY EVIDENCE

DATE OF HEARING: SEPTEMBER 10, 2014
TIME OF HEARING: 8:30 AM

COMES NOW, the State of Nevada, by STEVEN B. WOLFSON, Clark County
District Attorney, through PAMELA C. WECKERLY, Chief Deputy District Attorney, and
hereby submits the attached Points and Authorities in Opposition to Defendant’s Motion To
Compel Disclosure Of Exculpatory Evidence.

This Opposition is made and based upon all the papers and pleadings on file herein, the
attached points and authorities in support hereof, and oral argument at the time of hearing, if
deemed necessary by this Honorable Court.

1
/
1
1

W:R2014F\120124\14F 12024-OPPS-(JACKSON__ NATASHA)-001 DOCX
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POINTS AND AUTHORITIES

Defendant Jackson has also filed a Motion to Compel Disclosure of Exculpatory
Evidence. Inthe Motion, Jackson asks this Court to the State to produce a list of items. Some
of the requests are overbroad and not supported by Nevada statutes on discovery in criminal
cases.

The Nevada Revised Statutes ‘provide the discovery obligations for the State. NRS
174.235 outlines what discovery is to be provided by the State of Nevada. It includes:

1. Written or recorded statements or confessions made by the defendant or
any witness the State intends to call during the case in chief of the State, within the custody of
the State or which the State can obtain by an exercise of due diligence. (1)(a).

2. Results or reports of physical or mental examinations, scientific tests or
scientific experiments made in connection to the case, within the control of the State, or which
the State may learn of by an exercise of due diligence. (1)(b).

3. Books, papers, documents, tangible objects which the State intends to
introduce during its case in chief, within the possession of the State, or which the State may
find by an exercise of due diligence. (1)(c).

The statute makes clear the defense is not entitled to any internal report, document or
memorandum prepared by the State in connection with the investigation or prosecution of the
case. (2)(a). Nor is the defense entitled to any report or document that is privileged.

In addition, the State notes that pursuant to NRS 174.234 (3) (b), after complying with
the provisions of subsections 1 and 2 (dealing with witness and expert witness notices), each
party has a continuing duty to serve upon the opposing party:

Any information relating to an expert witness that is required to

be disclosed pursuant to subsection 2, (the provision regarding

expert witnesses). A party shall provide information pursuant to

this paragraph as soon as practicable after the party obtains the

information. The court shall prohibit the party from introducing

that information in evidence or shall prohibit the expert from

testifying if the court determines that the party acted in bad faith

by not timely disclosing the information pursuant to subsection 2.

1
I

W:2014F\120\29\1 9F 12024-0FPS-(JACKSON__NATASHA)-001.DOCX
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In addition, the State has obligations to produce exculpatory evidence pursuant to Brady
v. Maryland. The rule of Brady v. Maryland, 373 U.S. 83 (1963), which requires the State to

disclose to the defendant any exculpatory evidence is founded on the constitutional
requirement of a fair trial. Brady is not a rule of discovery, however. As the Supreme Court
held in Weatherford v. Bursy, 429 U.S. 545, 559, 97 S.Ct. 837, 846 (1977):

There is no general constitutional right to discovery in a criminal
case, and Brady did not create one... ‘the Due Process Clause has
little to say regarding the amount of discovery which the parties
must be afforded....” Wardius v. Oregon, 412 U.S. 470, 474 [93
S.Ct. 2208, 2212, 37 L.Ed.2d 82] (1973).

In addition, Brady does not require the State to conduct trial preparation and

investigation on behalf of the defense. The requirement is to produce exculpatory information
which the defense would not be able to obtain itself in an ordinary exercise of diligence.
Jackson’s request for essentially anything that might become helpful to his defense is both
overbroad and not supported by law.

Giglio v. United States, 405 U.S. 150 (1972), requires that certain impeaching material

be disclosed as to those persons actually called as witnesses.

None of these cases or statutes provide for the sweeping, overbroad requests by the
defense. Some of the requests of Defendant Jackson includes records that she can subpoena
herself or material that she is not entitled to under the law.

1. Disclosures of Compensation for Testimony. The State is aware that it

must disclose any benefit given to a witness in exchange for an agreement to testify.
Defendant Jackson also request any benefit from any other state agency. The Office of the
District Attorney is the only agency that can premise compensation on an agreement to testify
in the instant case. A police agency could compensate an individual for information. If that
witness testifies, the compensation would be potentially discoverable. The State has no
opposition to the request to the extent mentioned above. However, if the family of Mr. Ramos
received other donations or assistance because their family member was murdered by Ms.
Jackson and her co-conspirator, the donation would not fall under Giglio.

/

W:2014F\12024\14F 12024-0PPS-(JACKSON__ NATASHA)-001.DOCX
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2. Citizen Source Information. Defendant Jackson requests all informant
information, but cites no law for such a request. If a witness, not simply a source of
information, receives compensation for information and later testifies at trial, the
compensation is arguably discoverable under Giglio. However, if the individual does not
testify, the information is not discoverable.

Unless an informant offered exculpatory evidence or is a testifying witness, the State

has no obligation to produce such information. See United States v. Green, 178 F.3d 1099,

1109 (10® Cir. 1999) (holding that Giglio did not apply when the government “did not ever
call” its confidential informant as a witness); United States v. Mullins, 22 F.3d 1365, 1372 (6'

Cir. 1994) (finding “no authority that the government must disclose promises of immunity
made to individuals the government does not have testify at trial,” and holding that a grant of
immunity could not be ““‘favorable to the accused’ as impeachment evidence because the
government did not call [the witness] and, thus, there was no one to impeach”); see also United
States v. Pena, 949 F.2d 751, 758-59 (5™ Cir. 1991) (impeachment evidence regarding a non-
testifying witness is an insufficient basis upon which to grant a new trial); United States v.
Storey, 956 F. Supp. 934, 942 (D. Kan. 1997) (holding that while impeachment evidence falls
within the Brady rule, “[s]uch evidence as it pertains to an informant, however is only

discoverable if the informant testifies™); Kowalczyk v. United States, 936 F. Supp. 1127, 1149

(E.D.N.Y. 1996) (holding that “[t]he Government was not obligated to produce the Janis arrest
record, assuming the prosecution was in possession of such information, as Janis was not a

witness at trial””); United States v. Hill, 799 F. Supp. 86, 90 (D. Kan. 1992), (denying defense

request for any information which could be used to impeach nonwitnesses);

3. Criminal Records of Witnesse and the Murder Victim. Defendant

Jackson requests the adult and juvenile, felony and misdemeanor, convictions and arrests of
every witness. This request is overbroad and not supported by statute. Felony convictions
and crimes of moral turpitude are the only relevant information that must be provided by the

State. See NRS 50.095, NRS 50.085, Bushnell v. State, 95 Nev. 570, 572, 599 P.2d 1038

(1979) (credibility may be attacked by showing of a felony conviction, not mere arrest).

WA2014F\12024\14F12024-0PPS-(JACKSON__NATASHA)-001.D0CX
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In addition, Defendant Jackson request the Court order the State to run NCIC on every
witness and the murder victim, Mr. Ramos. This is not permissible. The Office of the District
Attorney has access to NCIC and SCOPE by virtue of its status as a criminal justice agency.
The Office of the District Attorney has a contract or user agreement to maintain this access.
The Las Vegas Metropolitan Police Department (LVMPD) is the administrative agency for
SCOPE. Under the agreement with the LVMPD, the Office of the District Attorney is
specifically prohibited from disseminating any SCOPE information which it did not
contribute. The defense may request a SCOPE of an individual by obtaining a court order
which directs the LVMPD to produce the SCOPE.

With regard to NCIC, the Office of the District Attorney maintains its access to the
database by agreement and through its status as a criminal justice agency. According to Title
28 U.S.C. Section 534 and 5 U.S.C. 552, generalized NCIC searches cannot be done. A judge
may order disclosure of criminal history files if they are included in the prosecutor’s file. The
Court’s order must specify which prosecutor is disseminating the information and to whom
the information is to be provided. A copy of the order must then be logged by the Office of
the District Attorney for one (1) year for audit purposes. According to statute, a judge may
not order that an inquiry be run on a subject by the State. Thus, the State objects to this request.

4, Disclosures of Inconsistent Statements by Witnesses. Giglio, governs

what impeachment the State must provide. The State asks the Court to hold it to that
constitutional standard. Defendant Jackson’s request is worded in an overbroad manner to
encompass immaterial statements about which the State has no knowledge.

5. Scientific Testing. Defendant Jackson’s request is overbroad. NRS

174.235 (1) (b) provides for discovery of scientific data. It requires the State to allow the
defense to inspect and copy results of physical or mental examinations, scientific experiménts
made in conjunction with the case in the custody or control of the State or which could become
known to the State by an exercise in due diligence. The State asks the Court to adhere to the
statute and order the State to comply with the law as provided by statute rather than Jackson’s

overbroad request.

W:AZ014R120024414F12024-OPPS-(JACKSON__NATASHA)-001.00CX
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In addition, the State of Nevada does not represent the Clark County Coroner. The
Coroner investigates all deaths in Clark County, criminal, accidental and suicide and some
natural deaths. The agency is a county agency, not a police agency. To the extent that the
defense secks early drafts of reports from this agency or other information, the defense must
serve the agency. The State has no ability to dictate to the Coroner’s office what notes, testihg,
data, recordings must be maintained by that office.

6. Polygraph Testing. At this time, no such testing has been performed and

thus, the request is moot.

7. All Notes. Defendant Jackson requests the notes of all police officers in
the case. This request is not covered by a single line of any discovery statute. If there is
exculpatory information, the State obviously must produce it. However, there is no
requirement that the notes of all officers be produced.

&. Officer Personnel Files. In the Ninth Circuit, the obligation for the

prosecution to examine an officer’s file is triggered by a defense request with no requirement
that the defense make a showing that a file is likely to contain helpful information, United

States v. Henthorn, 931 F.2d 29, 31 (9 Cir. 1990) (holding that the “government is incorrect

in its assertion it is the defendant’s burden to make an initial showing of materiality” and that
the “obligation to examine the files arises by virtue of making a demand for their production™);

United States v. Santiago, 46 F.3d 885, 895 (9" Cir. 1995) (Under Henthorn, the government

has a duty, upon defendant’s request for production, to inspect for material information the
personnel records of federal law enforcement officers who will testify at trial, regardless of
whether the defense has made a showing of materiality).

This, of course, does not mean that files are produced for the defense. Henthorn
explains that following that examination, “the files need not be furnished to the defendant or
the court unless they contain information that is or may be material to the defendant’s case.”
Id. Thus, the only time disclosure is required is if the State finds information that qualifies as
Brady material. If the prosecutor is unsure, the information should be provided to the court

for review. As the court explained:

W:\2014F\120\24114F 12024-OPPS-(JACKSON__NATASHA)-001.DOCX
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We stated that the government must ‘disclose information
favorable to the defense that meets the appropriate standard of
materiality . . . . If the prosecution is uncertain about the
materiality of information within its possession, it may submit the
information to the trial court for an in camera inspection and
evaluation. . . . As we noted in Cadet, the government has a dut
to examine personnel files upon a defendant’s request for their
production.

Id. at 30-31.

Different than Henthorn, the Nevada Supreme Court issued an opinion that requires
some showing of materiality on the part of the defense before it could gain access to a
personnel file. The file concerned an officer who was murdered and obviously would not be

testifying. Sonner v. State, 112 Nev. 1328, 930 P.2d 707 (1996). The defense made no

showing that there may have been favorable information in the file. Instead, the defense
asserted a general right to search the file. The court rejected this assertion of a right to a
generalized, unfocused search, but allowed for the possibility that a file could be accessible
under some circumstances. The court reasoned, “[i]f Sonner had presented a foundation for
believing that [the victim] had a reputation for being an ‘aggressive’ trooper Who, consistent
with his reputation, provoked Sonner’s action, this might have been sufﬁcient to warrant
discovery of corroborating evidence” in the file. Id. at 1341, 930 P.2d at 716. This reasoning
suggests that if that type of evidence had been in the file, the State would be required to
prodﬁce it.

9. CCDC Video and Phone Calls of the Defendant. NRS 174.235 (1) (¢)

provides that the State must allow the defense to inspect, copy or photograph items of
evidence. The State is not required to acquire evidence for the Defendant regarding her record
at the detention center. The defense can subpoena such information.

10. LVMPD FIT Investigation Reports. The State has no objection to

providing this information.
//
1
1
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CONCLUSION

Based on the foregoing, the State respectfully asks this Court to apply the well-
established law in Nevada and deny the instant motion.

DATED this 3rd day of September, 2014.

Respectfully submitted,

STEVEN B. WOLFSON
Clark County District Attorney
Nevada Bar #001565

Chief Deputy District Attorney
Nevada Bar #006163

.CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE
I certify that on the 3rd day of September, 2014, I e-mailed a copy of the foregoing

State’s Opposition To Defendant’s Motion To Compel Disclosure Of Exculpatory Evidence,

to:
DAN A. SILVERSTEIN & CHRISTY CRAIG
Deputy Public Defenders
pdcler @clar[countyNV gov
Secretary or the District Attorney’s Office
PCW/tj/M-1
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Electronically Filed
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PHILIP 1. KOHN, PUBLIC DEFENDER s
NEVADA BARNO, 0356 %t‘

39 South T hmj Street, St
Las Vegas, Novada 89153
(T2 4554685

CLERK OF THE COURT

‘*\tmmu forr ihfuadml

DISTRICT COURT

CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA

THE STATE OF NEVADA,

CASE NO. C300032
DEFT. NG, X

DATE: September 18, 2014
TIME &304

Platntiiy,

¥,

efendun.

DEFENDANT'S REPLY EN SUPPORT OF MOTION TO COMPEL
HSCLOSURE OF EXCULPATORY EVIDERCE

COMES NOW, the Defendant, NATASHA GALENN JACKSON, by and through
DAN Ao SILVERSTEIN, Deputy Public Defender, aad CHRISTY CRAKS, Depaty Public
Defender, snd hereby files this Reply in support of her provionsly filed Muotion o Compel
Disclosure of Exculpatory Evidence.

This Reply is miade and based wpon all the papers and pleadings on file herein and
ol srgnment @t the time st for hearing this Motion,

DATED this 4™ day of September, 2014,

(V‘T‘fim Y E*ﬁfsiu ST
Deputy Public Defender
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| exculpatory evidence pursuant to |

ARGUMENT

The State is fargely in agreement with the evidentiary requests set forth ju the Defondant’s

| orfginal motion o compel. As the Stale concades, .. the Stale has obligations o produce

reland, 373118, 83 {196‘3}.“ State’s Opposition, p.3

-2 Generadly, the State does not contest its obligation to produce any sud afl favorable

evidanee to the defense. Several points in the State™s opposition, however, huproperly rastrict the

A Biselosures of compensation or ather benefits in exchonge for testimony:

The State acknowledges that ™. . it miust disclose any henefit given to 9 withess inochangs

for an sgresment 1o testify”  Stle's Oppa pd 119-200 The Defendant’s request should be

grantud:

B Disclosure of citizen sowrce formation,

The State opposes request on the basis that i a witness does not testify ot irial, the

Stade iy not required to disclose impeachment evidenve relevant to that witness, The State argues,

.l the individoal does not estity, the information is aet discoverable.” State’s Opp., pd 14:5,

- This is simply not true. 1P an individeal provides exeulpatory information about this tase o the

State, the State cannot shield the fvorable information frams distlosure by not calling the witaess,
IF the State -- cither through the district attorney’s office, the police departient, or any other Stale
agency ~ reCeives exculpatory information about thiz case from a confidential informant, that

information must be disclosed to the defense whether the State has any intention of callivg tha

| witness to the stand oF ot

. Biscloxure of crimingd history information,

With respeet to the Defendant’s request for the disclosure of complete crininal histories of
all State witnesses and the deceased, the State incorrectly elaims that “{fjelony convictions and
erimes of moral turpitude are the only relevant information that must be povided by the Stae”

State’s Oppu, pad 2527, The State vites to Bushnell \{f.f%tgii;;? 95 Nev, 570 (1979), however, this

case says nothing of the sort.

1d
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While Nevada law Hmits the use of criminal history information as ¢ pensral attack on

1 makes olear that the e

- of criminal hizsim}*‘ inforsation fo expose biag or reasons o color testimony s much beoader thay

the State's opposition asseits.  “The trisl cowrt’s diserction [io Hmit cross-exanination] 13 wore
narow where bias is the object te be shown, and an examiner soast be pernitied to elicit any facls
which might color a witness's testimony,” Bushnell i 572,
While the Biate s vorreet that NRS 300093 Hmits gendral altacks on @ witness's credibility
o felony convictions and erivies. of moral tepitude, Nevada I places no such Butiations on
.

cross-examingiion whore a wilness's criminal history s refevant o cxpose that witness’s hias.

Purthermorg, ever it g witness's prior eriminal history may not be independently admissible at

| triad, L fdliscovery in @ orinsinal case s not Hmited W investigative feads o reports that are

admissible in evidence” Mazzan v, Warden, 116 Nev, 48, 67 {2000), citing Hininee v, State, 112

Nev, 610, 620 (1996). Frior criminal history information on 8 witness, even though not
indepenstently admissible, may fead to the discovery of witnesses or othey information that can
form the basis toattack the credibility or reputation of that witness, For example, # police report in
for a domestie viokenge charge that was eventuadly dismissed would nevea] the name of the victim

o1 that weident, or other witoesses, wha could offer testimony regarding the reputation for vielence

v even if thewnderving

SR

aof the subject of the report. This report wonld be discoverable under §

donestio violenee arfest was nod admissible ot (sl boestse # Sontainsy Doty relevant o

Impeachment. § bears repeating that “Beady oblizes a proseonter 10 veveab evidenee Tavorabls 16

i\

the defense when that evidenee is material o guilt, pusistiment, or impeachaen.”

Warden, 114 Nev, 48, 66 {3000 {emphasis sdded).

The Srate iy clearly i'ﬂﬁ()‘f‘i"ﬁ’ﬂ when it argues that its obligaticss snder Brady is Hmired

NES 50095, I?I}awzuipaim}f information 5 discoverable oven whore # s not admissible,

With respect to information contained fn SCOPE, NCI, or other compaterized databases

| available o Jaw enforeement, the State concedes that ™. judge may order disclosure of eriminal

history files i they are inchy fs.d i the prosecutor’s file State’s Oppe, S I3, The

3
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| swould only

Uefendant respeetfully requissts that it be granted squal qocess to SCOPE, RCIC, or other eviminal
history infommation in the possession of the State.  Nothing in the prosecutor's eostraciua
sgreements with the providers of these services requires otherwise, 11 this information is in the
possession of the State, i must alze be provided fo the defense,  The defonse requests nothing
HIOIC,

O Discloswres of Inconsistent Witnesy Stedementy

The State agrees with its constitutional obligation to inform the defense of any exculpatory

information obtained from Hs witnesses. State’s Opp., p.5 1118-20. The State takes issue with the

suggestion that i is slso being asked to provide statements abiout which it hay no knowledpe,
Siate’s Umm pS H2R21 In the event the Defendant’s ariginal vequest is unclear, the defense s

not veguesting access to information of which the State s fgnorant.  Thiy request i mesnt e

| cucompass statements  made during pretrial  conferences, nnrecorded  conversitions  with

prosecutors or police offtcers, orany othey excalpatory stenient that s stherwisd not recorded o

ity dowar, A fatlure o record exculpatory information is not & Heense for noadiscloswe, ifa

witness provides a matetial inconsistency to the prosecwtor duving a pretrial conforence, the
prosecutor has an obligation o inform the defense.
& Lisclosures of Scientific Testing.

The State-argues that with respect to aime scene analysis o other sclentific esting, its

obligations under Brady should be equivalent with the provisions of NRS EN J35(1xKby Swie's

Opp., p.3 L2228, This is simply not the easec A hypethutical example will demonstrate why:
when the State enters a fingerprint inte AFIS {the Awtonsted Fingerprint Identification System),

AFLS provides 4 list of potential matches to the print, much Bke the way entering search ferms into

| Google retumns a list of potential websites that miatch the keywords, By the State’s lopie, only the

Binal result of the testing would be discoverable to the defiase: v other words, the State believes it

>,

red tor disclose the singhe vame that the Las Vegas Metropolitan Poliee Department

determings 1o be a "match” Under Brady, howevar, the complets Hist of possife matches votorned

by the AFIS svatem would be discoverable, because every nane on that Hst would be g povsible

aliernate suspect. Thus, the State’s obligations wnder Brady are far browder than the statutory

4
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obligations set forth in NRS 124.235(1)(b).  Limiting those disclosure ohligations w the strict

R¥

Adiditionally, the Seate makes the curfous clainy that the coroner’s office i3 separate and
distinet from the police departimont and the prosecutor’s vifice, and that Brady's reach ends o the
doorstep of the Clark County Coroner. State's Opp, pf L6 This is also oot true. | Thhe

individual prosecutor hag a duty 10 tearn of any favorable evidence known to the others acting on

the povernment's behalf in the case™ Kyvles v, Whidey, 514 LS 419, 437 ¢ I’}‘)‘c) It doss not

matier whether the State characterizes the coroner’s office ay & “eounty agewey™ or a “police

ageney,” State’s Opp., 16 L3, the Clark County Coroner is every bif an arm of the govermment

prosecuting Natasha Jackson as is the Las Vegas Metropolitan Police Department or the Clark

Conty District Attoraey™s Ofice, See, e, Morgles v Coyle, 98 F.Supp.2d 849, 902 (N.D.Ohio

2000} (accepting without argument that corener’s reports wore within the seope of Brady v,

| Marvlandh State v, Byais, 463 S0.2d 673, 675-676 (4" Cir, 1985) (failure 1o submit onredacted

cotoner’s report forin-camera review violated Brady).
Fo Diselosures of Folygraph Testing

The defense will secept the Stale's representations that no polygraph testing has been

| performed in this case, consequently, this request is moot.

(. Bisclosures of Officers” Notes

The State concedes that *. 0 there is excolpatory information, the State abviously must
produoe LT State’s Opp, p6IL10-1E The defense agiees. I the State refuses fo disctose this
informaiion to the defense, the defense would request that the officers’ meotes be subanitted o the
Court in-camera and Hled nader seal, so that an independent assessment of the exculpatory vahae

of the potes can be made belore they are destroved by the State.

HL ftkeer Personne] Filex

Apain, the State sgrees that .. adisclostre is required. . i the State finds informion that

guattifies as Rady material™ i the persomied files of the testifving officess. Stae’s Opp., p.6 126
2. Fhe Defendant’s motion requests the disclosare of information that s nsandated 1o be provided

v, ad nothing move,

Sy
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1§ L CODC AadinVideo Recordings of vhe Defindant.

The State claims that it s not requiréd 1o acquire such evidence, however, any reeorded

3
3 || statements of the Defendant matntained by the Clark County Detention Conter 18 uuguestionatdy

3 | discoverable under NRS 174.235(1) as "written or recorded statenents of the defendant, .. within

the eustody of the State,” oven if it is not fadependently discoverable pursiant to

Ay

& I Therefore, the State should have no objection to providing this information,

3 & Farce fvestigation Team Reporis.

8 The State has ne dpposition to providing this information,

0 DATED this 47 day of Septenther, 2014,

i PHILIP J, KOHN
CLARK COUNTY PUBLIC DEFENDER

C K\m
6  CHRISTY TG
& Dieputy Fuhlic Defend:

H
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i CERTIFICATE OF ELECTRONIC SERVICE
I hereby cortify that service of DEFENDANT'S REPLY IN SUPPORT OF

Foat

MOTION TO COMPEL DISCLOSURE OF EXCULPATROY EVIDENCE, was mgde this Hh

P

4 i day of Septentber, 2014, by Electronic Filing to:

Lt

CLARK QOUNTY DISTRICT ATTORNEY'S OFFICE
Motions@liclarkeountyda.com

{]
PAMELA WECKERLY, Chief Depudy District Attoaney
E-Mail: pamelaweckerly@clarkeonntydicon

3

P

oy T Mgy TR
e < e i { Lo
o Rars Ruaho
U Secretary for the Public Defender’s Office
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THE STATE OF NEVADA,

Electronically Filed
09/15/2014 02:41:11 PM

?f‘m ‘i Cﬁ% b _&54.«‘«,-—

CLERK OF THE COURT

Aimrsm or Iigim\!am

RISTRICT COURT

CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA

CASE NOL C-14-300032-1
DEPT. NO. X

Plainn it

NATARHA GALENN JACKSON,

Prefondant.

e NS st S i S S

EX PARTE ORDER FOR TRANSCRIPT
Upon the ex parle application of the abovenamed Defendant, NATASHA
GALERNN JACKSON, by and through, DAN A, SILVERSTEIN, Deputy Public Defender, and
good canse appearing therefore,
ITIS HEREBY ORDERED that the cetified Court Recorder VICTORIA BOYD,
prepare ot State expense, a transeript of the proveedings for Sase C-13300032-1 heard on

September 1 3014 in Distriet Court Diepartracot 10,

Dl‘sff{l(‘;f‘( QURY .R ij(\ﬂ‘ ¥y

; \uhmﬂtui by

PHILIP . KOUN
CLARK COUNTY PURLIC DEFENDER

el

Deputy Public Defender
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Electronically Filed
10/06/2014 04:57:39 PM

| PWHC L0 ‘
PHILIP §. KOHN, PUBLIC DEFENDER v, 78

FVADA BAR NO. 655
S’EN A, ‘}H-ﬁ}RRﬁ ﬁf\? ‘ CLERK OF THE COURT
§”J z ;

309 South “l‘hircii Sif{fﬂty Suite #2
Las Vepas, Nevada 89155

(P23 4554685 ‘

Attorney for Defendant

STRICT COURT
CLARK COURTY, NEVADA

s the Matter of the Application of,
CASENG. C-14-300032-1

j

)

) BERFT.NO. X
Natasha Galenn Jackson, )
for 2 Wit of Habeag Corpus. 3 DATE: Qutober 22,2014
3 TIME: 830 am.

AAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAA )
PETITION FOR WRIT OF HABEAS CORPUS

TO: The Honoable Judge of the Eighth Judicial 9

iet Court of
The State of Nevads, i and for the County of Clark

The Petition of Namsha Galesn Jackson subnsitted by DAN A, SILVERSTEIN,

Deputy Pubtie Defendor, and CHRISTY CRAIG, Deputy Public Defender, as attorneys for the

above-caplioned fnsividual, respeetfully affiomy

I, That hefshe is a duby qualified, prasticing and lvensed attorney in the City of
Las Vegas, County Q_ifi?ié:rkp State of Nevada

2, That Petitioner makes apphication for 2 Wit of Habeas Corpus; that the place
where e Petitioner is imprisoned actually or coustroctively imprisoned sud restrained of ber hberly
is the Ulark County Detention Center; that the officer by whom she is imprisoned and restrained 3
Lroug Gillespie, ShertfY
P

:'J‘ .') !
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1. That the lmprisonment and restratnt of ssid Petitioner s onlawal in thaty (A

| Count 1 and Count § of the Criminal Indictment gre not supported by sufficient evidence; (B) the

| State vielaled NRY 17213 IS(2) by failing to introduce Natasha Tackson’s reconded statement,; ¢ L}

the State vielated NES 172 143Q2) by failing fo introduce Natasha Jackson’s reconded staloment; and

(12} the State incorrectly instroeted the grand jury on the felony-murder rale,

A That Petitioner waives her right (o be brought o trisl within 60 days.
N That Petitioner consents that i Petition is not unudn,d mihm 1§ days beforg

the date set for triad, the Cowtmay, withowt notice of hearing, continue the irial inde finitely 1o a daie
destpnated by the Coutt,

6. That Petiticoer personally  authorized by aforementioned  attorpeys g
conpmense this action,

WHEREFORE, Petitioner prays that this Honorable Court miake an aeder directing

the County of Clark o dssue & Writ of Habeas Corpus diveeted to the swid Doug Gillespie, Sherilf,

commanding hing o bring the Petitionsr before your Honor, and retwen the cause of ber
Huprisonment.
DATER this 6th day of Octoher, 2014,

PHILIE 3 KON
CLARK COUNTY PUBLIC DEFENDER

s Do, Silversecin
Q»’x\? A, SILVERSTE IN F75 )8
Deputy Public Defender

By: 4 Christy Cralg
CHRISTY CRAIG, #6262
Dieputy Fublis Defender

Sk
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DECLARATION

AN AL SILVERSTEIN makes the following declarstion:

1. I an aticraey daly licensed to practive law in the State of Nevadg; Lam the
Digputy Public Defender assigned to represent the Defendant in the instant matter, and L o familiar
with the facts and circumatances of this case,

2 That Tany the attemey of record for Petitioner iu the above matter; thai T hawe
resd the foregoing Petition, know the contemts thereof, and thai the sawme I8 true of my own
knowledge, except Tor those matters therein stated on information and beliel] and 28 o those matters,
I beheve them to be tue; that Petitioner, NATASHA GALENN JACKRON, personally authorizes
me to comnnence this Writ of Habeas Corpus action,

Pdeclare under pesalty of perfury that the foregoing iz tue and correct. (NRS

b
4wk
=
[
L
Mo

!EKECU‘I‘EE) this 6th day of Qciobe v WA,

& Dan d Sibverstedn
DAN A, SILVERSTEIN
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| Transeript thereatter “GIF) 1911416, According to Dominic Ramos, Richand Ramos had “Havoe®

MEMORANDUM OF POINTS AND AUTHORITIES
IN SUPPORT OF PETITION FOR WRIT OF HABEAS CORPUS
COMES NOW the Petitioner, NATASHA GALENN JACKSON, by and through her
counsel, DAN A, SILVERSTEIN, the Clark County Public Defender's Office, and submits the
following Points and Authorities in Support of Defendant's Petition for a pre<trial Writ of Habeas
Cerpiis,
STATEMENT OF FACTSR
B the early marning houes of July 29, 2014, Cody "Havoe™ Winters and his ghlfviend at the
e, the Defendant, Natasha Jacksoen anived at the residence of Richsed Ramos at 3930 Antumn
Street, i Las Vegas, Nevada,  Richand’s son, Dominie, testified that he woke to find hig father

K

gele with “Havoe,”

engaged 1@ shrugg arud his mother in & strogple with Jackson.  Grand Jury

5

pinned on the ground, slamming his head into the oo, a5 they fought over g handgan, GIT 21 1H-
I8, Eventually, Dominie saw his fther goin comrol of the weapon.  GIT 22:16-19.

t

Contemporancously, Dominic saw Natasha Jackson pulling his mether’s bair while assaulting her
with & screwdriver, GIT 22:23-25. Dominic was able to pull Jackson sway from his mother, GIT
231920, Donsinic’s mother, Julie Ramos, exclaimed that "Havee™ and Jackson “{are] going to kil
us, They're poiog to Kill s GIT 23:20:22. Jackson responded, “We won't. We promise.” GIT

232323, Doninit fostified that Jackson vever domanded say properiy from them. GIT 340103,

At some point durdng the strogple, Dominie hoaed g single punshot, bul was not dear

| whether the gun had been fived by “Havoe” or his fathey, GIT 25:11-16, “Havee™ begin stabbing
Il Bromsivic's father with the serewdriver that Dontimic was able o wiest away from Jackson. 3T

| 28:15-22. “Havoe” then took the handgun away from Dominic’s fither, aimed it st Dominie, and

demandest the keys to the family™s car, GIT 29:12-18. When Daminie left “Havoe™s presence to
fook for the car keys, he noticed an open.bedroom window and exited the house. GIT 29:18 - 30:5.

Dominie hid bebind a nearby RV with his younger sister, Jagmine, who had also managed 1o feave

iy

the house durdng the struggle. GIT 3100-15. While be was hiding, Doninie heard “Havoe™

shouting Natasha's nanie, presumably unable o find her. GIT 31:23-25, 32:3-13. Dominic lefl his
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1 hiding place o see if "Havoe™ was still svound, but instead, be s Natasha Jackson approaching

3 I himg alone. GIT 3205200 Dominde testified that he “kind of ignored the woman Jackson]. .

3 | beesuse she didn’t scem threatening ab the tme™ GIT 3388,
4 | After “Havoe™ and Tackson Ieft, and police had arived, Dominie re-entered his house and
5§ noticed a pair of balt cutters and a sheathed pocket knife that be did not recognize. GIT 34:10-15,

Cody *Havoe™ Winters was cventually shot and killed by officers of the Lax Vegas

Metropolitan Police Departoent,  Natasha Jackson wag placed under amrest and charged with

multiple felonies, nclading Burglary While s Possession of & Fireanm, Atterapted Robbery With
9 Useofa Deadly Weapon, Pirst Degres Kiduapping, and the First Degree Murder of Richard Ramuos,
1 A grand jury returned an Telictment spainst Jackson for cight separate criminal offenses that was
11 | filed on Augost 8, 2004, On September 2, 2014, Jacksas Bled a Motion to Extend the Deadline to
iz | File a Pretvial Petition for Writ of Habeas Cuorpiis based on the fet that the State had not provided
3 [ any diseovery. The State did not oppoese the extension; and subsequently provided discovery o
14§ Sepianber 16, 2004, Parsuant o an electronic madl sepl on Seplember 16, the State noted thay it

15 | would agree that @ petition filed by Outober 9, 2014 would be considerad timely.

17 ARGUMENT

18 § A Jasufficient evidence way presented to support Count 1, Burglary Whils in Possession of «
19 | Firearn, and Cownt 8 Burgliary While in Possexsion of a Deadly Weapon,

24 In Comnt 1 oof the Indictment, Natasha Jackson s charged with the direet commission of |

21 | burglary of the Ramos résidence at 39340 Autinnn Street whife in possession of a firearm, In Count 8

2y i of the Indictosent, Jackson is charged with the direct commission of burglary of an abandonid
2% | residence at 3909 Almondwood Drive while in possession of o fircarmy andéor knife, It is important

24w onote at the putset that with respect 1o these connts, Jackson 13 not charged with having entered into

5 8 g conspiracy with Cody “Havee™ Winters to commit the offenses; nor is Jackson charged with aiding

26 | and abetling her co-defendant in the commission thereof, as she is fa Counts 2, 3. 4 and 7. In Count

38 || during the commission of the crime fof borglary] andfor before leaving the structure” Indictment,

....................................................... 5\
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3-8 I Count 8, the State alleges that Jackson, herself, did divectly . possess andfor gain
YRR ¢ b e ‘E"»"xg'- JEITR PN TRVLE LI [N ‘I AR st e T {‘ ; fo EEEETRE :(i:r
possession of, a fircarm andfor knife, a deadly weapon, during the commission of the erbine andfor
boefore leaving the structwre.”  Indictment, $:7-9. These is simply no evidence, however, that
Jackson ever had possession of a fircarm, either before entering the Ramos residence or during the

&

commission of the burglary.. Nor is there any evidence Jackson possessed a weapon vither before

- entering the abandoned house or during her fime inside. A the grand jury hearing, only one witness
offered testimony regarding what happened instde the Ramos residence, and that witness was

| Dominie Ramos. Based on this lestimony, iUis clear that “Havoe” bronght the only firearm into the

residence. Natashe Jacksow never had control of the firearm; in fact, from the testimony pregented,
there s no evidencs that Jackson even lonched the firgarm,
The first mention of & fireanm during Dominic Ramos™iestimoay reveals that Deaminie saw

“Havoe® snd his Boher, Richard Ramos, on the fleor Sghting over the weapon,  GIT 21:4-08

| Pominic testified that during the encounter, "Havoee™ and Richand Ramos ¥, were both in g strapgle

| the whole thme for that gun” GIT 20:21-22 At some point during the straggle, Richard was abde o

eet control of the weapor, GIT 20:16-17. Moments later, Dominte beard a single shot ring oot, but
was sneertain whether H had been fired by his father or by “Havoe,” the male intruder, GIT 25:11-
. Bmuiﬂie: testified that “Haver” >, was able o get the gun from sy dad... He pulled it up,
wimed it alme... and said, *Al right, give me the car keye™ GIT 2912418, At no tme during
Bominic’s testimony does he stade that Natisha Jackson ever had possession of the fieearp. She
neither entered the residence with a gun, aor did she ever pain possession of the gun during the
encounter inside the hopse,  Additionally, there is no evidence that Jackson possessed a weapon
before entering or during her thme inskde the abandoned home she entered Tater with “Havee,”

Connt § is defective for an additional reason. The Stale presented e evidence o
demonstrate that Fckson had the requisite ntent for the erimie of burglary at the moment she entersd
the abandoned home. While the State vertainly presented evidence of “Havoo™s eviminal istent,
Jackson's culpability iy Count 8 is premised on ber own intent. The State presented no evidence that
Tackson herself had the fntent to commit ™. ..assault and/or battery andfor a felony, to wit murder” at

the time she entered the abandomed home. Tn oot the only evidensce in the record regarding bar
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{ | entry dnte the abandoned home is that she was forced to enter by “Havoe™ GIT 11401118, In facy,

2 [ the Las Vegas Metropolitan Police Diepartment originally believed that Jackson was a hostage, not a
3 I swspect. GIT 74-75, “Havor” was seon inside the abandoned home with & gon fo Jeckson's head,

4 | forcing her to her knees, and placing the gun to her head, GIT 78:20:24. One of the first responsding
5 || police uificers, secing Jackson inside the abandoned home with "Havoe” aller having # gun put
& 4 her head, westilied . ave didn’t know i she was g hostage o a suspeet or whial was going on, 50

: treated her ag a hostaee st the e, sspectally after what | had Justsewy. Y GIT 721921 There is

§ [ noevidenee that Jackson entered that abandoned home with the intent (o commit a eriming] offense,
g | She wag seen inside the bome, oo her knees, with a gus © her head.  Based on the evidence
10§ presented ot the grand jury, Natasha Jackson did not enter that home to commit & erime. She entered
11| ‘the homne and Beeame the victim of o,
13 This petition should be granted, and Count 1 and Count 8 of the Criminal Indictment
13} charging Jackson with the direet commission of burglary while in possession of a firenrm should be

14 | dismissed.

w8 The State violated NRS 172.13502) by wot iniroducing Js:‘;‘;?!ﬁiﬂ}ﬁ wrecorded statement,

{7 “The grinnd jury can recelve none but legal evidence, and the best evidence in degree, to e
18 || exclusion of hearsay and secondary evidence™ KRS 1711382} (emphasis addedy.  The “best
19§ evidence” rude ds codified in WRS 32235, and dircets that ™ to prove the content of ¢ witling,
20 recording, or photograph, the original writing, recording or photograph i3 required.™ NRS 32258
21| codifics thé exceptions to the “best evidenve® role, The eely cirvumstances in which the original

32 | recording i3 not necessary to prove the dontents thereof are where:

23 (1Y Al originals aee Jost or have been destroyed, anless the loss or destruciion

14 restbied from the fraudolent ot of the pra ponent;

T {2} Neorigingt can be obtained by any availtable judictal process or prevedure;

25 {31 Atatime when the oniginal was under the controf of the party against whom
offered, he was put on aotice, by the pleadings or otherwise, that the contents

26 wonld be a subject of proot at the heariog, and he does not produce the onginal

at the heanng; o
{4 The writiog, reeording
2% controlling issue.™

v photograph is not closely related to g
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Detective Jason MoCarthy was allowsd to testify at length to the contents of the
surreptitionsly recorded statement provided by Natasha Jeckson. GIT 102-118. An aciual audio
recording of this statement existed, and a tanscript bas been prepared by the Las Vegas

>

Mewropolitan Police Department. Under Nevada fowy, where a recording exists of a statement, the

| Stade mast intreduce that recording. NRS 32235, None of the limited exceptions set forth in NRY
| 52255 have been established in this case, T0was baproger for the State to present nothing more than

| a detective’s s personal interpretation of the defendant’s statemnent where @ recording of the statement

£X1515,

Detective: MeCarthy's ongsided presemtation of  Jackson™s  staloment  mismepresented
significant details of that statement in a nuniber of ways, He opens s westimony by deseribing the
incident with Scott Ufedt, the NDOT driver; by saying that Sokson ackaowledged ¥, knowing that

Havoe, fater Wdentified as Cody, was, you know, basically going te rob him or put & gan to his head,

| which eventually he did GIT 106:6-10. Thig is not an securite recotmting of Jackson's statement.

Nowhere in fackson's 66-puge statement o police does Jackson claim knowledge that *Havee™ was
going o pul a gon o the driver's head.  During her statement, Jackson tells police that she tried to
gei the deiver to “go away,” and while she was ™, \.‘gz‘xﬂmring alt of vur things. . ["Havoe"] put & gun
to his head ™ Jackson's Statement, p.16. Had the grand purors had the opportunity 1o review the
words of Jackson’s actual statement rather than forced o rely on Detective MeCarthy's summary,
ghey coulid have seen for themselves that Jackson never admitted to knowledee that “Havoe™ plaaned
to threaten the NDOT doiver at punpoint. By withholding the contents of Jackson™s statement -
contents that must be presented vnder NRS 52,235 —the Siate vrputed actual knowledge to Jackson
that she never actually iputed o herselfl Whoen specifically asked about “Havoc™s plan that day,

Jackson tells police ¥ don't know.” Jeckson™s Statement, pA47, Detective MeCarthy’s lestimony to

the grand jury tmplying that Jackson conceded forcknowledpe of some plan to terrorize

neighborhood was not an sccurate reflection of Jackson’s actual sttements,

Detective MeCuarthy selectively edited Jackson's version of events regarding the encounter

with the NDOT driver. MeCarthy tells the prand jurers that *.. . She grabbed her backpack. .. Cudy

R 5

had pui the gun o this guy’s head, she arabbed her backpack. .. they afl got fnte hix vehicle and
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ted him to get off the freeway and drive inle & newrby seighborhood, " GIT 106:14-18

tarthy's testimony fgnores significant portions of Jackson's statement that the grand jurors were
denied the opportunity to learn for themssebves.  In Jackson's actval statement to the polive, she
makes clear that she .. .didn't say shit” during the incident in the NDOT vebicle, Jackson's
Statement, w17, Jackson alse tells police that "Havoe” divected Jackson to “Get ready.” and

Juekson reasonably believed that if she did pet do what “Havoe™ wold her, he would shoot her,

| Jackson's Stmenmwent, 2021 MeCarthy purpossly minimizes this exchange during Jeckson’s

statement, & key vomponait of her duress deliise to most of the chargess
S0 What did you take that as when [P Havee"] said, *Get ready?
Ao I vor don™ fueking follow s Dwill shoot you™
Jackson's Statement, p.2 1.
Whike Dotective MeUnrthy dook deseribe this stalement 1o the grand jurors, be shades it with

his personal opinion that Fackson wag merely munimizing ber wvelvenent iy the erime by
recounting the threats made to her by “Havor,” Dutective MeCarthy nvakes clear that this s simply
his personal ophaion, and actoally testifies, "She mimimizes when she says, o £ folt wopsvay, that she

says well, Cody says “get ready, you can come with me or Pl shoot yvou™ GIT 109:15:17,

Retective MeCarthy again substitaies his personal opinion for an unbissed recounting of Jackson's

| statement when he speealates that Jackson had opportuities to esvape from “Havoee.” McCarthy

testifies that Jackson ~. . had » ot of opportunitics while in that house f just fegve,” GIT 115010,
and adosits that this conclusion s stoply 2 matter of bis personal oplston (03 So that was vou

drawing that conchusion based on what she said? Ar Correet,™y GIT S 1719, During the grand

Jary preventment, Detective MeCarthy's personal opinions were interspersed with fictual detadls of

Jackson's statement to impute @ much greater degree of celpability 1o Jackson than she fruly

admitted 1o during her statement.  The best evidence rule should bave peotecied against this

| ufatiness,

By mischaracterizing Jackson's statement and removing or dowaplaving facts that would

| tend 10 support the notion that Jackson acted under dusess from “Havoe™s coercion, Detective

MeQarthy paints & wvery different pleture for the grand jury than they would have gotten for

themselves hiad they been allowed to read Jackson's actual statesient, as NRS 52,2335 requires,
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While the State correcily instructed the graod jury on the elements of the duress defense, GIT 99+
16, it withheld critical facts supporting that defense by presenting Jackson’s statement © the grand
| jury through Dietective MeCarthy's biased account, This is the reason for the best evidence rale:

| assure that facifinders get the full detail of a wriling or recording, rather than an adverse pariy’s

echitedd version of that evidenes,
During her statenient o police, Jackson tells police that while she was foreibly dragged along

during “Havoes orime spree, Jackson " didn™t want anybody else, T dide’t want anybody to get
It Jackson's Statemsant, p 38, Y1 don't want all these people huet.” Juckson’s Stadement, p39,
| She tells police that “Havoe™ *. had a fucking gun pointed at {her] the whole time and then be said,
‘Gt your ass over here ne---v"" Jackson's Slatement, p. 38, Jackson divectly conteadicted Detective
MeCarthyy"s imphication (o the grand jory that she acguieseed to “Havoe s viokast plan, telling police
that she did net want any mnocent bystanders to be shot. Jackson's Statement, p4%. Detective
MeCarthy's testimony simply ignored all of these facts. Rather than present a complate and accurate
versiony of Jackson®s statement o the grand jurors, the State cherry-picked the details that would
paint her in the guiltiest possible light, and sither nwinimized or refused to acknowledue anything that
contradicled that image.  There is & substantisl differcncs between Jackson's statoments and the
| version of those staterments prosaited by Deteetive MeCarthy, and NRS §2.235 prechudes the State

from prosenting the fatter o the exclasion of the former. The grand jury showld have been given the

opporiunity to review fackson’s statement for themselves parsuant to NRS 52.2

33, anad the failure o
provide thit statement was evor.  The State presented nine separate exhibits to obtain this
tndictment, GIT 4, and there s no reason why they could sot have prescated a tenth: the vanseript
' or other reeording of Jackson's actual words to poliee. The State had the sbligation to present the

| best evidence of Jackson’s statenent, and that obligation was vielated. This petition showald be

granted, the present indictment dismissed, and the State showld be ordered that any subseguent

indivtment st onor the evidentiary rules codified 1 NS 32 335,
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I The State's fatlure to present Jackson’s steadement olso violated NRS 173.443¢2)

NRS [T2.14502) states that S the district sttorney {s aware of any evidence which will

¥

explain away the charge, the district stiorney shall subnsit i to the geand jury.” Nevada law s clear

ihat the statements of a defendant are ineluded within the reach of this statate, and that where a

da A

defendant’s own statements tend to explain away the charges against themy, those stalements must be

L]

§ | statements repnrding the nfTense, the State not only vielated the best evidence rule as set forth above
g | in Section B, but alse viclated its ehligation to present all kuown exculpatory evidense to the grand

10 | Jury

14 | concluded that the defendant’s statement to police supporting the defense of consent was
1% Lmq,uf;ﬁti(‘.»uébiy exenlpatory, In that i 7. had ‘o tendency to explain away the chargefs]™ of sexual
16 B assault and cosrcion.”  Qstmgn st 363, The Court granted the defendant’s petition for a writ of
17§ mandamus, raling that the State had the obligation to pressat the exeulpatory statement o the grand
{8 [ harw,

{4 Similardy, here, as outlined in Section B, Jackson's statement to police had @ tendeney to
2 I explain away most of the charges sgainst her by laying onta defense of duress. Jackson’s statement
21 supported this defense v o way that Detective MeCathiy's blased recounnting of her statement did
22 | ot By calling Detective MeCarthy fustead of introducing Jackson’s own statements, the State
23 | neplected to inroduce some of Jackson's exculpatory statements and mininvized those that it dil,
24 | While the State correctly instracted the grand jurors o the elemnts of the duress defense, GIT 9%
35 | 16, i improperly withbeld the. faets supporting that defense by presenting Delective MeCarthy
26 || instead of introducing Jackson's own statements.  Separate from the viokation of the best evidence

37 I rule described in Section B, above, failure o present Jackson's statement afsn violated the State's

a8 || daty to presemt exculpatory evidence pursuant to NRS 172345(2), Jackson’s statement supported @
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| is respeetiully reques

defense duress i the same way the defendant’s statement suppotied a-consent defiase i Qg
There 15 no rational distinetion between the twe situations, and the State was obligated to presunt
Tackson's actual statement as exculpatory evidence. Beeause the State violated NRS 17214502}, &t

«f that this petition be granted, the currend lndictment be dismissed, and the

| State be ordered that any subsequent grand jury presentient must inchude Jackson's statement being

introduced to the grand jury.

D, Fhe State failed to properly instract the grand fuvy regarding the felony-mivrder rade.
In Wovada, “rlobbery does oot support fdony niwrder where the evidence shows that the

acvused kills & peeson and oaly later forms the intent to b thet persem.” Nay v, State, 167 F.3d

A30, 438 2007y I order for the underdying felony of robbery 1o supply the malice for munder,

b aconsed must ivtend te eomait the robbery at the thine of the killing.™ Id at 434, The faflure

The grand jury that indicted Natasha Jackson was not propesly instructed on the Jaw
regarding the felony wurder rule, The only instraction the fury received on the felony murder rale

wan the following:

& mrorder which & perpetrated or which is commitied during the
perpeiration or attempied perpetration of o robbery or & burglary or
a home invasion is murder of the first degree whether the killing was
entional unimtetional, of acckdental®

GIT 13 - &2,

The State erred in not fully and scowately instructing the grand jury on the applicable law

| governing felony murder in Novada,  “hurors should neitber be expected o be legal experts nor
| miake legal inferences with respect fo the meaning of the Jaw; rather, they should be provided with

applicable fegal principles by aceurate, clvan, and complete structions specifically talored 1o the

facts and eivamstances of the easel” Crawford v, Stste, 131 Nowo W4, 754 £20058), Dismissal of an

indickment is the appropriste romedy where the grand Jury is insccurately Instructed with respeet

its deliborations.  People v Miller, 524 NOY S 622 (1988) (failure to Instruct jory on scientsr

requirement of eriminal statui® mandated diamissal of indiciment).
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It iy anticipated the State will rely oa Hyler v, State, 93 Nov. 361 {1977), which held that

| proscomtars need not instruct the grand juey o the law af eff. This ease is inapposite. Whether the

Il prosecutor had any obligation to present instructions o el is @ very different question as to whether

prosecutors can partially fnstroct on the faw, providing the grand furors with the aspects of the law

that faver the State’s chosen outcome, and omitling the aspeets of the taw that could lead v a

different one.  Had the State chosen not fo provide any instructions on the Slony-murder rale at all

e she now sits,

Nothing  Hyler sugpests that the Siate con provide Incomplete instructions which, by theie

sauission, il the scales in favor of Indictnent.

Had the grand jury been properly instructed that the felony munder rule does not apply where
the intent to lake property forms after the killing, they would not have vetumed an indicinent
including a felony murder theory of Hability. The inadequate instructions provided to the grand jury
left the mistaken impression that any robbery, regavdiess of when the intent o commit the crime was
formed, can suppont & felony murder theory. Because the fncomplete legal instructions interfered
with the factfinding process, the resulting indictment swst be dismissed, or, in the altermative, the

felony wivrder theory of Hability must be stricken from the tndictment.

DIATED this 6th of October, 2014,

PHILIP ) KOHN
CLARK COUNTY

PUBLIC DEFENDER

By: & Dan o Sihwerstein
IRSTEIN, #7518

DAN A_SI

By v Lorals
CHRISTY LCRANG, $0202
Deputy Fublic Defender
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NOTICE
TO:  CLARK COUNTY DISTRICT ATTORNEY, Attorney for Plaintifh
YOU WILL PLEASE TAKE NOTICE that the foregoing PETITION FOR WRIT OF

| HABEAS CORPUS will be beard on the 22nd day of October, 2014, at 830 am. in Depariment

| No, X, District Cont,

DATED this 6th day of Qutober, 2014,

PHILIP J. KOHN
CLARK COUNTY PUBLIC DEFENDER

By 0 Dan A, Silverstein
DAN A, SILVERSTEIN, #7518
Deputy Publie Defendsr

By: &/ Dan A Sibversteln
CHRISTY CRAIG, #6262
Deputy Poblic Defender

CERTI FICATE OF ELECTRONIC SERVE

| hereby cartity that service of PETITION FOR WRIT OF HABEAS CORPUS, wis

N

- mrade this 6th day of Quteber, 2014, by Electronic Piling to:

CLARK COUNTY DISTRICT ATTORNEY S OFFICE
Matlonsfelukeountvda.com

By: 37 Sara Buane
Sura Ruane
Seerctary for the Public Detender’s Office
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Electronically Filed

10/16/2014 01:20:35 PM

ORDR %‘ » [5@.»»_-
PHILIP J, KOHN, PUBLIC DEFENDER

NEVADA BAR NO. 0556 CLERK OF THE COURT
309 South Third Street, Suite #226

Las Vegas, Nevada 89155

(702) 455-4685

Attorney for Defendant

DISTRICT COURT
CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA
THE STATE OF NEVADA, )
Plaintiff, % CASE NO. C-14-300032-1
V. % DEPT. NO. X
NATASHA GALENN JACKSON, ))
Defendant. %

ORDER

The Petition of NATASHA GALENN JACKSON submitted by DAN A.
SILVERSTEIN, Deputy Public Defender, as attorney for the above-captioned individual, having
been filed in the above-entitled matter,

1T IS HEREBY ORDERED, ADJUDGED AND DECREED that you, STEVE
GRIERSON, Clerk of the Eighth Judicial District Court of the State of Nevada, in and for the

County of Clark, issue a Writ of Habeas Corpus.
DATED AND DONE at Las Vegas, Nevada, this |S of October, 2014.

C;)//Mui N Sakatn

Dg’f RICT COURT JUDGE \n

Submitted By:
PHILIP J. KOHN
CLARK COUNTY PUBLIC DEFENDER

=
DAN A. SILVERSTEIN, #7518
Deputy Pubtic Defender

By
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CERTIFICATE OF ELECTRONIC SERVICE

I hereby certify that service of ORDER, was made this 16TH day of October, 2014,

by Electronic Filing to:

Case Name:
Case No.:
Dept. No.:

CLARK COUNTY DISTRICT ATTORNEY’S OFFICE
Motions{@clarkcountyda.com

JERRNES S

- . =
ara Ruano -
Secretary for the Public Defender’s Office

NATASHA GALENN JACKSON
C-14-300032-1
X
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Electronically Filed
10/22/2014 09:16:29 AM

WRTH Qe b S
PHILIP J. KOHN, PUBLIC DEFENDER

NEVADA BAR NO. 0556 CLERK OF THE COURT

309 South Third Street, Suite #226

Las Vegas, Nevada 89155

(702) 455-4685

Attorney for Defendant

DISTRICT COURT
CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA
THE STATE OF NEVADA, )
)
Plaintiff, ) CASE NO. C-14-300032-1
}
) DEPT.NO. X
)
NATASHA GALENN JACKSON, )
)
Defendant. )
)
WRIT OF HABEAS CORPUS
To:  Clark County Sheriff
Clark County, Nevada
GREETINGS:

We command that you have the body of the above-captioned person, by you
imprisoned and detained, as it is alleged, together with the time and cause of such imprisonment and
detention, by whatever name said above-captioned person shall be called or charged, before the
Honorable Jessie E. Walsh, District Court Judge, at her chambers or her courtroom in the County
Courthouse Building in the City of Las Vegas, County of Clark, State of Nevada, on November 10,
2014 at the hour of 8:30 am., to do and receive that which shall then and there be considered
concerning the said above-captioned person; and have you then and there this Writ.

DATED AND DONE this go of October, 2014,

STEVE GRIFERSON, COUNTY CLERK

y
- l—\ DIANA MATSON

By:\,

PU
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CERTIFICATE OF FACSIMILE SERVICE

I hereby certify that service of WRIT OF HABEAS CORPUS, was made this FAND
day of October, 2014 to:

CLARK COUNTY SHERIFF - DETENTION CENTER
FAX #: (702) 671-3763

ByDW -?27 /f\;”‘h‘t-—-’

Secretary(for the Public Defender’s Office

CERTIFICATE OF ELECTRONIC SERVICE

I hereby certify that service of WRIT OF HABEAS CORPUS, was made this

day of October, 2014, by Electronic Filing to:

CLARK COUNTY DISTRICT ATTORNEY'S OFFICE
Motions@clarkcountyda.com

By: &W TN ano—

Sara Ruand
Secretary for the Public Defender’s Office

Case Name: NATASHA GALENN JACKSON
Case No.: C-14-300032-1

Dept. No. X
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RET

STEVEN B. WOLFSON

Clark County District Attorney Electronically Filed

I;XX}%iBAa%)gEgﬁLY 10/24/2014 03:53:28 PM

1(\:Ihiefd De ut;; (])%)165?61? Attorney .
evada Bar

200 Lewis Avenue m ikg‘“‘"""‘

Las Vegas, Nevada 89155-2212

702) 671-2500 CLERK OF THE COURT
gtate of Nevada

DISTRICT COURT
CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA

In the Matter of Application,

of
NATASHA GALENN JACKSON, CASENO:  C-14-300032-1
#192108 DEPTNO: X

for a Writ of Habeas Corpus.

RETURN TO WRIT OF HABEAS CORPUS

DATE OF HEARING: NOVEMBER 10, 2014
TIME OF HEARING: 8:30A.M.

COMES NOW, DOUGLAS C. GILLESPIE, Sheriff of Clark County, Nevada,
Respondent, through his counsel, STEVEN B. WOLFSON, Clark County District Attorney,
through PAMELA WECKERLY, Chief Deputy District Attorney, in obedience to a writ of
habeas corpus issued out of and under the seal of the abofle-entitled Court on the 22nd day of
October, '2014, and made returnable on the 10th day of November, 2014, at the hour of 8:30
o'clock A.M., before the above-entitled Court, and states as follows:

1. Respondent denies the allegations of Paragraph(s) 3 of the Petitioner's
Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus.
i
1
1

W:\2014F\120\24\14F 12024-RET-(JACKSON__NATASHA)-001.DOCX
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2. Paragraph(s) 1, 2, 4, 5 and 6 do not require admission or denial.

-3 The Petitioner is in the actual or constructive custody of DOUGLAS C.
GILLESPIE, Clark County Sheriff, Respondent herein, pursuant to a Criminal Indictment, a
copy of which is attached hereto as Exhibit 1 and incorporated by reference herein.

Wherefore, Respondent prays that the Writ of Habeas Cdrpus be discharged and the
Petition be dismissed.

DATED this a l ﬂ(day of October, 2014.

Respectfully submitted,
STEVEN B. WOLFSON

Clark County District Attorney
Nevada Bar # 001565

BY \_IP}QME Ifﬂﬁ jw/w,//{m

Chief Deputy Dlstrlct Attomey
Nevada Bar #006163

STATEMENT OF FACTS

On July 29, 2014, Scott Ufert worked for the Nevada Department of Transportation.
GJ at 40. He was assigned to freeway service patrol, meaning that he assisted stranded
motorists alongside the freeway. GJ at 40. The hours he worked on the 29" were from 4:30
a.m. until 1:30 p.m. GJ at 40.

At 6:34 a.m. on the 29", Ufert saw motorists one half mile south of Tropicana on the
95 freeway. He pulled up behind them. The motorists had a white Nissan Altima. GJ at 41-
2. A male was in the driver’s seat and a female was in the passenger seat. GJ at 42. Ufert
pulled up behind the vehicle and saw movement in the front seats: constant looking down,
looking left and right, under the seats, and in the center console area. GJ at 43. The male
driver approached Ufert and stated that he was looking for a car key. GJ at 44. The male
returned to the vehicle and the female then approached Ufert. GJ at 45.

The female, later identified as Petitioner Natasha Jackson, told Ufert the same story as
the male: that they were looking for keys. GIJ at 46. The female did not ask Ufert for help.
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She did not say that she needed to get away from the male. Instead, she said a friend was
going to help them. GJ at 46. Ufert told her that it is unsafe for the two to walk on the freeway.
Jackson returned to the white vehicle. GJ at 47. Jackson returned to Ufert’s vehicle and said
that they did not need Ufert’s help. GJ at 48. Ufert again advised that it was unsafe to walk
on the freeway. Jackson was not crying or upset, but she was fidgety. GJ at 48. Jackson
returned to the car with the male.

The male then approached Ufert. He pulled a gun on Ufert and told him to get out of
the vehicle and produce his work phone and radio. Ufert complied. GJ at49. As the male did
this, Jackson was removing items from the white car. GJ at 49. Those items included a TV
and a black bag. Once she unloaded them from the white car, she put them into Ufert’s van.
GJ at 50. Jackson had to make two trips between the vehicles. When she returned the second
time, the male ordered Ufert into the van. Jackson got in as well. GJ at 51. At this time, she
had what looked like a machete in sheathing. GJ at 63. Ufert was in the driver’s seat. GIJ at
51. The male and Jackson sat behind Ufert. GJ at 52. Ufert told the male and Jackson that
there was GPS on the van and that he was not able to go more than a half mile off the freeway.
The male said that was fine and directed Ufert to drive into the first neighborhood. GJ at 53.

The male asked Ufert for his name and told Jackson to look it up on a phone, different
than the one Ufert provided. GJ at 54. Ufert told them that he did not carry a wallet. GJ at
55. The male told Ufert that if he called the police, he would have his friends come and kill
Ufert and his family. GJ at 55. Ufert drove the two to a nearby neighborhood. GJ at 56.
Once he stopped, the male got out of the van and Jackson and hé started removing the items
Jackson had transferred to the van: the TV and backpack. GJ at 57. As the male removed the
TV, Jackson’s phone fell out of her hand and into a gutter with water. She picked it up and
put it into the black bag. GJ at 58. The male dropped the TV and it broke. The male then
stomped on the TV. GJ at 59. As he did this, Jackson removed other items from Ufert’s van.
GJ at 59.

Ufert asked for his phone back. GJ at 59. The male said he could not have it back
because his just fell into the water. GJ at 60. After the two unloaded all of their items, Ufert
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was allow to leave.

On that same morning, Dominic Ramos was at this residence, 3930 Autumn Street,
Las Vegas, Clark County, Nevada. GJ at 18. He lived there with his mother, Julie Ramos,
his father, Richard Ramos, his sister, Jasmine, and his younger brother, Michael Ramos. At
6:30 a.m., he awoke to his mother yelling his name. She screamed, “Help, Dominic, help!”
Dominic came out of his room. As he did so, he saw Jasmine come out of her room. Dominic
went into the living room, while Jasmine stayed in the hallway. In the living room, Dominic
saw his dad fighting with “the guy and my mom getting her hair pulled by that lady.” GJ at
19. He had never seen either of these people before. GJ at 20.

Dominic could see his dad and the man ﬁghﬁng over a gun. GJ at 21. Meanwhile,
Dominic saw his mom “getting her hair pulled” and “that lady was stabbing my mom with
the yellow screwdriver on her back.” GJ at 22. Dominic pulled “the lady,” later identified as
Natasha Jackson, off his mother. GJ at 24, 37. Dominic’s mother ran to go check on her
other children. Dominic was left in the living room with the two intruders and his father. GJ
at 25. Dominic was able to get the screw driver away from Jackson, but the male picked it
up and used it to stab Richard Ramos in the back. GJ at 28. Dominic heard a shot go off. GJ
at 25. The intruders demanded gun back, “[t]hey would not leave without it.” GJ at 27. The

[1%]

male picked up the gun, pointed it at Dominic and said, “’car keys.”” GJ at 28. Dominic
proceeded to the usual location of the car keys and reported that he could not find them. The
male started yelling at him. GJ at 29. As this occurred, Dominic could see his mother had
exited the house and was across the street. GJ at 29.

“[S]o I’'m thinking to myself I’'m going to die or something. And I see my sister right
there too thinking why didn’t she go with her. But then I see my bedroom door wide open
with the window wide open too so that’s our chance to run out because we’re not going to go
back and tell him we can’t find the keys.” GJ at 29-30. Dominic and Jasmine fled out the
window and ran down the street. GJ at 30. The hid underneath a neighbor’s parked RV.
Jasmine was panicking and Dominic told her to stop talking. GJ at 31. They heard the male’s

voice, calling the Jackson’s name. GJ at 31. It appeared the male was searching for Jackson.
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Dominic came out to see if the male was coming. He saw Jackson alone on the street. GJ at
32. Dominic went past her, got Jasmine, and the two kids went back to their house. The police
had arrived. GJ at 33. Dominic did not know where his little brother, Michael, was, so the
police let him go back inside. Michael was not there, but Dominic noticed bolt cutters and a
knife on his bed that had not been there before. GIJ at 34. The police also let him get the
family’s dog out. GJ at 36.

Las Vegas Metropolitan Police Officer William Moore was working on July 29, 2014.
GJ at 67. He responded to the Autumn Street area that morning. GJ at 69. The original call
originated from the Ramos house, but when Officer Moore arrived, he was given information
that there were two people in a vacant residence who were suspects, so he responded there.
GJ at 70. As Officer Moore arrived, he went to the adjacent house in the backyard. GJ at 71.
He was looking over a wall into the target house. GJ at 71. Eventually, Officer Moore saw a
white male in the vacant house break a window. GJ at 72. Moore heard Jackson yell, “Help!
Help! Save me! Save me!” GJ at 73. He saw her appear in the window and then move to
another area. She looked at Moore and yelled at him, asking for help. GJ at 73. Moore
observed that, at various points in time, the male was not with Jackson. GJ at 75.

Officer Moore decided to go over the wall into the backyard of the target residence.
GJ at 76. The male suspect jumped out of the window and pointed a gun at Officer Moore.
GJ at 77. Moore shot twice, but missed, and the male jumped back inside the house. GJ at
77-8. The male said, “Give me a chance.” Moore directed him to throw the gun out the out
of the window. The male did not comply. Instead, the male and Jackson appeared at a
window with Jackson on her knees and the male pointing a gun at her head. GJ at 78. The
male and Jackson spoke and he pulled the gun away and she stood up. GJ at 79. Officer
Moore motioned Jackson to come out of the house. GJ at 79. Jackson jumped out the window
and ran toward the wall between the houses. Officer Moore’s partner pulled Jackson over the
wall. As Officer Moore’s partner pulled Jackson over the wall, he asked Jackson if there were
others in the house. Instead of providing officers with information, Jackson yelled to the

male, “Shoot ‘em Cody, shoot ‘em.” GJ at 81. Officer Moore explained, “Steve my partner
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had to physically grab her and keep her because she was trying to get away from us after we
thought we had just saved her.” GIJ at 82. Realizing Jackson had lured the officers into
shooting range, they handcuffed her. Jackson told the officers that “Cody” wanted them to
shoot him. GJ at 81.

Later, Officer Moore learned that the male, later identified as Cody Winters, had
escaped to the next residence and shot one of the occupants, who later died. He engaged with
Metro officers who eventually shot and killed him.

Homicide detectives interviewed Petitioner Jackson. She was advised of her Miranda
rights. GJ at 104. Jackson identified Winters as “Havoc,” her boyfriend. GJ at 105. Jackson
acknowledged that it was she and Winters who had confronted Ufert. GJ at 106. She told
officers that she and Winters had gotten stuck in a neighborhood and were looking to get a
car. GJ at 107. As they approached the Ramos house, Winters told Jackson to “get ready.”
Jackson knew that Winters had a firearm. GJ at 108. She stated that it was Winters’s custom
to carry a gun and that she had even held the gun in the past. GJ at 109. Jackson stated that
while they were in the Ramos residence, she looked out for the police because she thought
Ufert probably called them. GJ at 109. Jackson said she told Ramos to give Winters the car
keys during the struggle. GJ at 110. Jackson acknowledged that she pulled Julie Ramos’s
hair and used a screw driver on her, stabbing her. GJ at 110-11. She also acknowledged that
she was trying to assist Winters. GJ at 111. Jackson explained that she followed Winters out
of the Ramos residence, but the two got separated. GJ at 111. Jackson reunited with Winters
and claimed that he forced her into the vacant home. GJ at 114. She mentioned, however,
that the two were often on different floors of the residence. GJ at 114. Jackson also stated
that she had yelled for Winters to shoot at the police. GJ at 116. Finally, Jackson stated that
she had taken drugs the previous night. GJ at 117.

Petitioner Jackson has now filed a pretrial petition for writ of habeas corpus
challenging counts 1 and 8, specifically. Jackson also appears to challenge counts 5, 6, and
7 in sections B and C. Jackson does not raise an argument regarding count 4, Murder with

I

W:2014F\120\24\14F12024-RET-(JACKSON__NATASHA)-001.DOCX

216




O o0 N3 N W R W e

N N NN N N N N N = s e i et b e e
00 N A W R W=, O O 0NN Y N RWND = O

Use of a Deadly Weapon, except as to one theory of liability in section D. The State opposes
in each instance.
ARGUMENT
Nevada Revised Statute 172.155 describes the burden of proof required of
the State at the grand jury. The statute directs the grand jury:

To find an indictment when all the evidence before
them, taken together, establishes probable cause to
believe that an offense has been committed and that the
defendant has committed it.

The Nevada Supreme Court described this standard as a “reasonable inference” that the
accused committed the crime. Kinsey v. Sheriff, 87 Nev. 361, 487 P.2d 340 (1971). In Sheriff
v. Hodes, 96 Nev. 184, 600 P.2d 178 (1980), the Nevada Supreme Court noted that the finding

of probable cause may be based on “marginal” or “slight” evidence because and indictment
does not carry with it a determination of guilt or innocence of the accused.

A.  The State Presented Sufficient Evidence to Support a True Bill on Counts 1

and 8.

With regard to Count 1, Burglary While in Possession of a Firearm, Petitioner Jackson
argues that she is charged as a direct actor and that she never possessed the gun used to kill
Richard Ramos. Therefore, Jackson argues, she cannot be charged with burglary while in
possession of a firearm.

In Brooks v. State, 124 Nev. 203, 180 P.3d 657 (2008), the Nevada Supreme Court

discussed the weapons enhancement in terms of unarmed offenders. The court generally stated
that when assessing whether an unarmed assailant is subject to the enhancement, “the proper
focus is on the unarmed offender’s knowledge of the use of the weapon brandished by another
principal.” Id. at 207, 180 P2d. at 661. Thus, the statute does not preclude a weapon’s
enhancement upon an unarmed assailant. “To determine whether an unarmed offender is
subject to an enhanced sentence under NRS 193.165, the relevant inquiry is whether the
unarmed offender ‘used’ the deadly weapon in the commission of the offense.” Id. at 210, 180
P.3d at 661. The court further'explained that “use” means to put into action or service or to

7

W:\2014F\120\24\14F12024-RET-(JACKSON__NATASHA)-001.DOCX

217




O 0 N & B b W N

NN NN N N NN N = e e e e ed ek ek ped
0 NN N Lt B W= O O 0NN R W NN = O

carry out a purpose or action by means of. Therefore, the court concluded, “an unarmed
offender ‘uses’ a deadly weapon and therefore is subject to a sentence enhancement when the
unarmed offender is liable as a principal for the offense that is sought to be enhanced, another
principle of the offense is armed with and uses a deadly weapon in the commission of the
offense and the unarmed offender had knowledge of the use of a deadly weapon.” Id., 180
P.3d at 661. Citing to NRS 195.020, court noted that both direct actors and aider and abettors
are principals. Id.

Petitioner Jackson did not stand on the outside of the Ramos residence. She entered the
residence with Winters. In fact, in terms of the burglary, she and Winters’s actions are
identical except that he had possession of the gun. Once inside she and Winters unsuccessfully
worked together to get keys to the Ramos’s vehicle. The only reason for the two to enter the
home was to commit a robbery. They did not know the Ramos family and the only item they
sought was the car key. Moreover, the contact with Ufert demonstrates that they were seeking
a vehicle. Petitioner Jackson committed a burglary. She is similarly liable for the deadly
weapon enhancement because, although she did not possess the firearm, she knew Winters had
the gun. She also knew he was using it in their crime spree because he had used it on Ufert.
The two committed the crime while in possession of a firearm.

Finally, given J ackson’s\ clear liability, even if this Court were to find that Jackson
aided and abetted Winters, the remedy would be directing the State to amend the pleading,
rather than dismissal of the count. “[T]he accusation must include a characterization of the
crime and such description of the particular act alleged to have been committed by the accused
as will enable him properly to defend against the accusation, and the description of the offense
must be sufficiently full and complete to accord to the accused his constructional right to due

process.” Simpson v. District Ct., 88 Nev. 654, 660, 503 P.2d 1225, 1229-30 (1973). NRS

173.075 which addresses the nature and contents of an Information or Indictment, states that
it must “state for each count the official or customary citation of the statute, rule, regulation
or other provision of law which the defendant is alleged therein to have violated.” It further

states that any error or omission is not a ground for dismissal or reversal of a conviction if it
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did not mislead the defendant to his prejudice. Id.
Moreover, “[a]mendment before trial is an appropriate method for giving the accused

the notice to which he or she is entitled.” State v. District Ct., 116 Nev. 374, 378, 997 P.2d

126, 129 (2000). Where an amendment does not allege a new or different offense, the Court
may permit it any time before a verdict or finding, if the substantial rights of the defendant
are not prejudiced. Shannon v. State, 105 Nev. 782, 785, 783 P.2d 942, 944 (1989) (citing
NRS 173.095(1)).

In Shannon, the Information charged the defendant with Sexual Assault alleging that
the act of sexual penetration occurred by the defendant inserting his penis in the victim’s
mouth. Id. at 785, 783 P.2d at 944. During trial, the State was allowed to amend the
Information to allege instead that the penetration occurred when the victim’s penis was
inserted into the defendant’s mouth. Id. The Nevada Supreme Court found that “[t]he
substantial rights of the defendant were not prejudiced by the amendment” and that the original
Information which alleged penetration by fellatio remained the same after amendment. Id.;
Grant v. State, 117 Nev. 427, 433, 24 P.3d 761 (2001) (“[a]s long the amended information
does not involve new or different offenses, and the defendant is not prejudiced, the amendment

may be granted); Benitez v. State, 111 Nev. 1363, 904 P.2d 1036 (1995) (the district court

may permit an indictment or information to be amended at any time before verdict or finding
if no additional or different offense is chargéd and if substantial rights of the defendant are not
prejudiced).

By contrast, adding charges is problematic. In State v. Hancock, 114 Nev. 161, 955

P.2d 183 (1998), the State filed a criminal complaint alleging racketcering and securities
fraud. After a preliminary hearing, the magistrate dismissed charges against some of the
defendants, but bound others over. In doing so, the magistrate informed the State that the
complaint seemed defective. The State then filed an information against the remaining
defendants. Once in district court, the trial judge dismissed the information pertaining to the
bound-over defendants on grounds that it was vague and ambiguous. Rather than appeal the

dismissal, the State took the case against all defendants to the grand jury. The defendants
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filed pretrial writs complaining about the pleading language in the indictment, among other
issues. Id., 955 P.2d at 184-85. The State acknowledged that it had erred by pleading
alternative offenses in a single count and moved to amend the indictment. Id. This motion
was denied by the trial court. The State appealed.

In affirming the trial court’s denial of the motion to amend the indictment, the Nevada
Supreme Court noted that the proposed amendments “were more than clerical and would have
materially altered the indictment. We conclude that were the State to be granted leave to
amend the indictment so as to add previously alternately pleaded offenses as separate counts,
the respondents would be denied due pfocess because it cannot be said that the grand jury
found probable cause on each and every amended count.” Id. at 168, 955 P.2d 183. Thus,
amendment was denied because the proposed amendment added counts—materially altering
the indictment. It was not an amendment concerning theories of liability for a particular count
or adding greater specificity, to the charging document.

Petitioner Jackson makes identical, and thus, similarly meritless, claims with regard to
count 8, Burglary While in Possession of a Deadly Weapon. The one additional argument
with regard to this count is that the State allegedly failed to elicit evidence that Jackson
intended to commit a crime upon entry into the abandoned residence. The evidence produced
at grand jury was striking. Jackson pretended to be a hostage. She called for help. She
pleaded with officers to come to her rescue. Although she could have easily escaped Winters,
she stayed in the house with him and attempted to lure officers to her. Once she left the
residence and the officers came to assist her, she shouted, “Shoot ‘em, Cody, shoot ‘em.” GJ
at 81. Without question, the intent was to get officers close to Winters so he could kill them.
Thus, the State presented slight or marginal evidence that, like Winters, Jackson entered the

residence with the intent to commit a crime.

B. The State Did Not Violate NRS 172.135(2) or The Best Evidence Rule, NRS
52.255.

Petitioner Jackson claims that the State improperly presented evidence to the grand jury

by eliciting portions of Jackson’s statement to detectives through the testimony of the

10
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detective, rather than playing the recording of the Statement. According to Petitioner, this was
improper because it allegedly violates the Best Evidence Rule, or NRS 52.235. Petitioner
states, “[u]nder Nevada law, where a recording exists of a statement, the State must introduced
that recording.” (Petition at 8).

Petitioner misunderstands the application of the Best Evidence Rule. The rule concerns
situations in which there is a question regarding what information is in a document or a
recording. In other words, where parties contend that different information is contained in a
document or recording. In those situations, the “Best Evidence” of what is contained in a
document or recording is the document or recording itself.

In the instant case, what is contained on the recording is irrelevant. The dispute is
whether the State fairly presented the contents of the interview to the grand jury, which will
be addressed infra. What is actually on the recording is not in dispute. In eliciting the
testimony from the detective, the State is presenting evidence regarding the contents of the
conversation Petitioner Jackson had with detectives and the criminal implications of those
admissions. It is not seeking to prove or establish what is on the recording of that
conversation. The Nevada Supreme Court, had recognized this distinction and noted that the
Best Evidence Rule is not implicated in such situations. See Carter v. State, 121 Nev. 759,
121 P.3d 592 (2005), citing United States v. Fagan, 821 F.2d 1002, 1008 n.1 (5% Cir. 1987)
and United States v. Gonzalez-Benitez, 537 F.2d 1051, 1053-54 (9* Cir. 1976).

C.  The State Did Not Violate NRS 172.145(2).

Petitioner Jackson claims that the State failed to present exculpatory evidence to the
grand jury in not presenting certain portions of her self-serving statement to police in which
she claims she participated in the crimes charged under duress.

First, duress cannot be a defense to count 4, murder. See NRS 194.010(7) . Second,
although the State could not find a Nevada case, the United States Supreme Court has held
that a defendant cannot bring a motion to dismiss an indictment based on a duress defense.

United States v. Knox, 396 U.S. 77, 83 n. 7, 90 S. Ct. 363 (1969). Moreover, the Ninth Circuit

has held that it is not the place of the grand jury to evaluate what is an affirmative defense or

11
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one that assesses whether the accused had the requisite intent to commit a crime; such is the
province of the petit jury. See People v. Cruz, 913 F.2d 748, 750 (9% Cir. 1990).

Petitioner Jackson complains that the State did not introduce her statement that she say
anything inside of Ufert’s vehicle. This allegation, whether true or not, does not explain away
any charge. Saying nothing, even if true, does not establish duress. Jackson complains that
Detective McCarthy implied to the grand jury that Jackson knew that Winters Was going to
rob Ufert. Instead, Jackson claims that the State should have presented evidence that she told
Ufert to leave. Of course, if she did instruct Ufert to leave, it is all the more clear that éhe
knew Winters was going to harm Ufert. In addition, even if she did encourage him to leave,
such conduct does not explain away the charge when she specifically worked in concert with
Winters to commit the robbery thereafter, holding her own weapon, no less. Finally, aside
from Jackson’s self-serving statement that she took “get ready” to mean that she must
cooperate with Winters, none of the statements in the petition specifically relate to the murder,
attempt murder, burglaries and attempt robberies committed by the two. Instead, Jackson
makes the generalized statement that she did not want to cooperate. The State presented
evidence that illustrates she clearly cooperated willingly. Such factual disputes are the
province of a trial jury and should not be the basis of a pretrial writ.

D. The State Properly Instructed the Grand Jury.

Petitioner Jackson asks this Court to strike the felony murder theory of liability from
the indictment because the State did not instruct the grand jury that in order for a felony
murder theory of robbery to apply, the intent to commit robbery must be formed at the time
of the killing and not be an afterthought. Petitioner bases the argument on Nay v. State, 123
Nev. 326, 334, 167 P.3d 430, 435 (2007).

Petitioner is correct in that Nay does hold that in order for there to be liability for murder
under a robbery theory of felony murder, the intent to rob must be formed at or before the time
of the killing. However, the Nay holding is not a requirement for grand jury, it is arequirement
for the trial jury. See id. at 334, 167 P.3d at 435.

1
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Petitioner’s argument that, “[h]ad the State chosen not to provide any instructions on
the felony murder rule at all, as Hyler authorized it to do, Jackson would have been in a better
position than where she now sits” (Petition at 13), is illogical. Petitioner acknowledges that
the State had no obligation to instruct the grand jury on any of the offenses at all based on
Hyler v. State, 93 Nev. 561, 571 P.2d 114 (1977). The State did instruct that one is liable for
murder if a Killing occurs during the perpetration or attempted perpetration of a robbery.
Petitioner does not dispute that this is a correct statement of the law and that this was a
permissible instruction to the grand jury. Given that reality, not including the Nay instruction
left Jackson in no different a position than where she now sits.

Moreover, the fact that the Nevada Supreme Court does not require the Nay
instruction at grand jury is abundantly clear given that Nevada case law permits the State to
add a theory of felony murder on the morning of trial. See State v. Eighth Judicial District
Court, 116 Nev. 374, 997 P.2d 126 (2000).

In State v. Eighth Judicial District Court, the State sought leave of the District Court

to file a Second Amended Information alleging a theory of felony-murder on the morning of
trial. The District Court granted the defendant’s motion to strike the Second Amended
_Information and the State filed a Petition for Writ of Mandamus. Id. at 375, 997 P.2d at 128.
The Nevada Supreme held that the District Court manifestly abused its discretion in striking
the felony-murder theory and ordered that the State be permitted to amend the information
to include a theory of felony-murder. Id. at 380, 997 P.2d at 130.

In doing so, the Nevada Supreme Court stated:

“The State is required to give adequate notice to the
accused of the various theories of prosecution. See

Alford v. State, 111 Nev. 1409, 906 P.2d 714 %19953;

Koza v. State, 104 Nev. 262, 756 P.2d 1184 (1988);
Barren v. State, 99 Nev. 661, 669 P.2d 725 (1983). NRS
173. 095(1) provides, ‘[tlhe court may permit an
indictment or information to be amended at any time
before verdict or finding if no additional or different
offense is charged and if substantial rights of the
defendant are not preljudiced.’ Amendment of the
information prior to trial is an appropriate method for
giving the accused the notice to which he or she is
entitled. .. the amendment of the information to set forth
theories of aiding and abetting murder and felony

13
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murder merely added alternative theories of the mental
state required for first degree murder and did not
amount to the charging of additional or different
offenses.”

Id., at 378, 997 P.2d at 129.
At the grand jury presentment, the State is only required to allege and prove “open”
murder. In Sheriff v. Willoughby, 97 Nev. 90, 92, 624 P.2d 498 (1981), the defendant was

bound over to the District Court on a charge of “open” murder. The defendant challenged the
sufficiency of evidence presented, claiming that the evidence at the preliminary hearing was
insufficient to support a finding of first degree murder. Id. at 91, 624 P.2d at 498-99.

The Nevada Supreme Court disagreed and held that “[i]t is clear that first degree
murder and second degree murder are not separate and distinct crimes which must be pleaded
accordingly. Thedford v. Sheriff, 86 Nev. 741, 476 P.2d 25 (1970); Howard v. Sheriff, 83
Nev. 150, 425 P.2d 596 (1967). Thus, there need not be evidence of first degree murder to

support an open murder charge.” Willoughby, 97 Nev. at 92, 624 Nev. at 499. “This court's
sole function is to determine whether the evidence presented at the preliminary examination
[or Grand Jury] establishes probable cause to believe that an offense [open murder] was
committed and that the defendant committed it.” Id.

In the instant case, sufficient evidence was presented to the grand jury establishing
Murder with Use of a Deadly Weapon. Murder is the unlawful killing of another with
malice aforethought, either express or implied. NRS 200.010. Express malice is the
deliberate intention to unlawfully kill. See Byford v. State, 116 Nev. 215, 994 P.2d 700

(2000). “[TJo establish probable cause to bind a defendant over for trial, the state must
show that (1) a crime has been committed and (2) there is probable cause to believe the
defendant committed it. Sheriff v. Middleton, 112 Nev. 956, 961, 921 P.2d 282, 285 (1996),
citing NRS 172.155 and Frutiger v. State, 111 Nev. 1385, 1389, 907 P.2d 158, 160 (1995).

The finding of probable cause to support a criminal charge may be based on “slight, even
‘marginal’ evidence . . . because it does not involve a determination of the guilt or innocence

of the accused.” Sheriff v. Hodes, 96 Nev. 184, 186, 606 P.2d 178, 180 (1980).

14
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CONCLUSION

Based on the foregoing, the State respectfully asks this Court to deny the instant
petition.
DATED this Q_Wéday of October, 2014

Respectfully submitted,

STEVEN B. WOLFSON
Clark County District Attorney

NevadaBar # 001565
BY '
AMELA Y

Chief Deputy District Attorney
Nevada Bar #006163

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE
I hereby certify that service of Return To Writ of Habeas Corpus, was made this 24™

day of October, 2014, by e-mail to:

DAN SILVERSTEIN, Deputy Public Defender
E-Mail: SilverDA@clarkcountynv.gov

CHRISTY L. CRAIG, Deputy Public Defender
E-Mail: CraigCL@clarkcountynv.gov

pdclerk@clarkcountynv.gov

o

JROBERTSON
Pmployee of the District Attorney's Office

BY:

14F12024X/PW/jr/MVU
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PAMETLA WECKERLY CLERK OF THE COURT
Chief D%)uty District Attorney
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200 Lewis Avenue
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(702) 671-2500

Attorney for Plaintiff
" DISTRICT COURT
CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA
THE STATE OF NEVADA,
Plaintiff, CASENO: C-14-300032-1
-vs- DEPTNO: X
%gﬁ)sslém GALENN JACKSON,
T " Defendant. INDICTMENT
STATE OF NEVADA
COUNTY OF CLARK  §

The Defendant above named, NATASHA GALENN JACKSON, accused by the Clark
County Grand Jury of the crime(s) of BURGLARY WHILE IN POSSESSION OF A
FIREARM (Category B Felony - NRS 205.060 - NOC 50426); ATTEMPT ROBBERY WITH
USE OF A DEADLY WEAPON (Category B Felony - NRS 200.380, 193.330, 193.165 - NOC
50145); MURDER WITH USE OF A DEADLY WEAPON (Category A Felony - NRS
200.010, 200.030, 193.165 - NOC 50001); ATTEMPT MURDER WITH USE OF A
DEADLY WEAPON (Category B Felony - NRS 200.010, 200.030, 193.330, 193.165 - NOC

 50031); FIRST DEGREE KIDNAPPING (Category A Felony - NRS 200.310, 200.320 - NOC

50051); ROBBERY WITH USE OF A DEADLY WEAPON. (Category B Felony - NRS
200.380, 193.165 - NOC 50138); BURGLARY WHILE IN POSSESSION OF A DEADLY
WEAPON (Category B Felony - NRS 205.060 - NOC 50426) and ATTEMPT INVASION
OF THE HOME (Category C Felony - NRS 205,067, 193.330i- NOC 50446), committed at

s s mancinsote ,(»-\ « , o

EXHIBIT “1 ”
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Il COUNT 1 - BURGLARY WHILE IN POSSESSION OF A FIREARM

O 00 3 O W A W N

COUNT 2 - ATTEMPT ROBBERY WITH USE OF A DEADLY WEAPON

~ coﬁlinitting this crime; and/or (2) by aiding or abetting with “Cody” in the commission of this

| crime with the intent to commit this crime; by prqviding-coun:sel -and/or enc‘ouragemegit,.‘by

and within the County of Clark, State of Nevada, on or about the 29th day of July, 2014, as

follows:

did then and there wilfuilly, unlawfully, and fel‘o“r_l.iously enter, with intent to commit
larceny and/or a felony, to-wit: robbery, that certain residence occupied by RICHARD
RAMOS, located at 3930 Autumn Street, Las Vegas, Clark Coimty, Nevada, said Defendant
did possess and/or gain possession of a firearm during the commission of the crime and/or

before leaving the structure.

did then and there wilfully, unlawfully, and feloniously attempt to take personal
property, to-wit: a motor vehicle, from the person of RICHARD RAMOS, or in his presence,
by means.of force or violence, or fear of injury to, and without the consent and against the will
of RICHARD RAMOS, by entering the said RAMOS residence in an attempt to obtain said
motor vehicle, with use of a deadly weapon, to-wit: a firearm; Defendant being criminally
l1able under one or more of the followmg pr1nc1ples of criminal 11ab111ty, to-w1t (1) by dlrectly
commlttmg this crime; and/or (2) by aldlng or abettmg w1th “Cody” in the commission of this
crime with the intent to commit this crime, by providing counsel and/or encouragement, by
the Defendant acting in concert; and/or (3) pursuant toa conspiracy to commit this crime.
COUNT 3 - ATTEMPT ROBBERY WITH USE OF A DEADLY WEAPON

did then and there wilfully, unlawfully, and feloniously attempt to take personal
property, to-wit: a motor vehicle, from the person of JUT_,IE RAMOS, or in her presence, by
means of force or violence, or fear of injury to, and without the consent and against the will of
JULIE RAMOS, by eﬁtering the said RAMOS residence in an attempt to obtain said motor
vehicle, with use of a deadly weapon, to-wit: a firearm; Defe:ndant being criminally liable

under one or more of the following principles of criminal liability, to-wit: (1) by directly

the Defendant acting in conéert; and/or (3) pursﬁanf toa conspifacy to commit this crime.
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a firearm; Defendant being criminally liable under one or more of the following principles of

{ criminal liability, to-wit: (1) by directly committing this crime; and/or (2) by aiding or abetting

COUNT 4 - MURDER WITH USE OF A DEADLY WEAPOI\l

did then and there wilfully, unlawfully, feloniously, with premeditation and
deliberation and/or during the perpetration or attempted perpetration of a burglary, robbery, or
kidnapping, and with malice aforethought, kill RICHARD RAMOS, a human being, by
shooting at and into the body ef the said RICHARD RAMOS, yvith a deadly weapon, to-wit:

with “Cody” in the commission of this crime with the intent to commit this crime, by providing
counsel and/or encouragem’vent,. by the Defendant acting in concert; and/or (3) pursuant to a
conspiracy to commit this crime.
COUNT 5 - ATTEMPT MURDER WITH USE OF A DEADLY WEAPON

did then and there wilfully, unlawfully, feloniously and with malice aforethought
attempt to kill JULIE RAMOS, a human being, by stabbing the said JULIE RAMOS in the
back and/or body, with use of a deadly weapon, to-wit: a screwdriver.
COUNT 6 - FIRST DEGREE KIDNAPPING

did wilfully, unlawfully, and feloniously, seize, confine, illveigle, entice, decoy, abduct,
conceal, kidnap, or carry away SCOTT UFERT, a human being, with the intent to hold or
detain the said SCOTT UFERT against his will, and without his consent, for the purpose of
committing robbery. |
COUNT 7 7 ROBBERY WITH USE OF A DEADLY WEAPON o

d1d then and there w1lﬁ111y, unlawfully, and felomously take personal property, to-wit:
keys, a cellular telephone, and/or an iPhone, from the person of SCOTT UFERT, or in his
presence, by means of force or violence, or fear of injury to, and without the consent and
against the will of SCOTT UFERT, with use of a deadly weziapon, to-wit: a firearm and/or
knife; the Defendant being crirniﬁally liable under one or more of the following principles of
criminal liability, to-wit: (1) by directly committing this crime; a’n.d/or (2) by aiding or abetting
with “Cody” in the commission of this crime, with the intent thiat this crime be committed by

entering into a course of conduct whereby co-conspirator “Cody” pointed a firearm at the said
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O 00 1 & WV AW N -

NN NN N N DN N e o et bt et ek bemd et e e
lO\)O\IO\‘JI'-bUJI\J'—‘O\ODO\]O\M-hUJN'—‘O

SCOTT UFERT and demanded the property ‘while the Defendant pulled out and wielded a
large knife, by providing counsel and/or encouragement to one another by actions and words,

and acting in concert throughout; and/or (3) pursuant to a conspiracy to commit this crime

COUNT 8 - BURGLARY WHILE IN POSSESSION OF A DEADLY WEAPON

did then and there wilfully, unlawfully, and feloniously enter, with intent to commit
assault and/or battery and/or a felony, to-wit: murder, that certain abandoned house, located at
3909 Almondwood Drive, Las Vegas, Clark County, Nevada; said Defendant did possess
and/or gain possession of, a firearm and/or knife, a deadly weapon, during the commission of
the crime and/or before leaving the structure. '

DATED this_ "] day of August, 2014,

STEVEN B. WOLFSON
Clark County District Attp
Nevada Ba : 001565

\
Chref Deputy District Attorney
Nevada ar #6163
ENDORSEMEMA: A True Bill
4,@\
/
Woreperson, Clark County Grand Jury
4
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Names of witnesses testifying before the Grand Jury:
SIMS, DR. LARY, CCME, 1704 PINTO LN., LVN

I RAMOS, DOMINIC, c¢/o CCDA/VWAC, 200 LEWIS AVE., LVN

UFERT, SCOTT, c¢/o CCDA/VWAC, 200 LEWIS AVE., LVN
MOORE, WILLIAM, UNKNOWN

WILDEMAN, MARTIN, LVMPD

MCCARTHY, JASON, LVMPD

Additional witnesses known to the District Attorney at time of filing the Indictment:

CUSTODIAN OF RECORDS, CCDC
CUSTODIAN OF RECORDS, LVMPD DISPATCH
CUSTODIAN OF RECORDS, LVYMPD RECORDS
WILLIAMS, TOD, LVMPD P#3811

- BECK, KEVIN, LVMPD P#9629

RAMOS, JULIE, c/o CCDA/VWAC, 200 LEWIS AVE., LVN

13BGJ137X/14F12024X/dd-GJ
LVMPD EV#140729-0659
(TK2)
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PHILIP I, KOHN, PUBLIC DEFENDER (ﬁ;« § Slriir

NEVADA BAR NO. 0356
309 Sowh Third Street, Suite 226 CLERK OF THE COURT
[.as Vegas, Nevada 89155
{702) 455-4685
Anoeriey for Defendant
DISTRICT COURT

CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA
THE STATE OF NEVADA,
CASLE NG, C300032
DEPT. NO. X

Plainlf,
v,

NATASHA GALENN JACKSON, DATLE: November 10,2014
TIME: 8:30 aun.

Lefendant.

N St Tt 1y g e g g S e

DEFENDANT'S REPLY IN SUPPORT OF PETITION
FOR WRIT OF HABEAS CORPUS

COMES NOW, the Defendant, NATASHA GALLNN JACKSON, by and through
NAN A. SILVERSTEIN, Deputy Public Defender, and CHRISTY CRAILG, Deputy Public
Defender, and heveby files this reply in support of her previously filed Petition for Wiit of Habeas
Corpus.
This Reply is made and based upon all the papers and pleadings on lile herein and
oral argument at the time sct for hearing this Motion.
DATLD this 26™ day of October, 2014.
PHILIP J. KOIIN
CLARK COUNTY PUBLIC DEFENDCR

By, =
: “RSTEIN, #7518
Deputy Public Defender

By;

<
THISTY Q; #6262
Deputy Public Defender
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ARGUMENT
A. Insufficienr evidence was presented to support Count | and Count 8.

In its Return, the State cites to Brooks v. State, 124 Nev. 203 (2008), for the proposition
that when determining whether a defendant “used” a deadly weapon in the context of a violation of
NRS 193.165, “’use’ mcans to put into action or service or to carry out a purpose or action by
means of.* State’s Return, p.7 1.28 — p.8 L1. “Therefore,” writes the State, “an unarmed offendcr
‘uses” a deadly weapon and thercfore is subject 1o a sentence enhancement [under NRS 193.165]
when the unarmed offender is liable as a principal for the offense that is sought 1o be enhanced,
another principal of the offense if armed with and uses a deadly weapon in the commission of the
offenze and the unarmed oiTender had knowledge of the use of a deadly weapon.”™ State's Return,
p.8 IL1-5, cinng Brooks v. State, 124 Nev. at 210.

The State’s analysis is sound, and would certainly apply had the State charged Natasha
JTackson in Count 1 and Count § with a violation of NRS 193.165. This is net, however, the
sentencing enhancement Jackson faces in Counts 1 and 8. Instead, the State charged Jackson with
a violation of NRS 205.060 in these 1wo counts, a scparate statute that does not implhicate the NRS
193.165 sentencing enhancement discussed in Brooks v. State. NRS 205.0660 does not punish the
wse of a deadly weapon; rather, 11 punishes the commission of a burglary white in actial
possession of a firearm.  This is the reason why Jackson did not challenge the sentencing
enhancement attached o Counts 2, 3, 4, 5, andd 7. While Jackson can rightly be charged with the
“use” of a deadly weapon pursuant to Brooks v. State, she cannot be charged with a violation of
NRS 205.060 under the same theory. Brooks makes clear that its holding is directed towards the
“use”™ component of NRS 193.165, and does not extend o the “possession” requircinent of NRS

205.060,

This distinction is critical, as even the Brooks Courl nakes ¢lear that the deadly weapon

enhancement set forth in NRS 193,165 “.._does not requirc ‘posscssion’ of a deadly weapon.”
Brooks al 209, Unlike NRS 193,165, a violation of NRS 205.000 does require “possession” ol a

L7

deadly weapon, not mere “use.” While Jackson may be liable for her co-defendant’s “use.” as
charged in Counts 2, 3, 4, 5, and 7, she is not similarly hable lor “possession™ ol the weapon, as

2
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reguired by NRE 205060, Fuether, because Brooks partially rosts its holding on the fact that the

statwteny deadly weapon enbancement does not pequire “possession,”™ as does NRE 205,060,

actually supparts Jackson’s position that the State did et present sefficient svidence W

charge herwith burglary while in possession of a deadly weapaon.

Addtionally, with respect 1o Count 8, the State challenges Jackson’s assertion that there
was fsuflicient evidenve to demonstrate that she had the requisite erinvinal intent upon gotry into
the abandoned stucture, The State contends that “Jackson pretended to be a hostage. She called
for help. She pleaded with vificers to come to her reseue. Although she could ave easily eseaped
Winters', she stayed in the house with him snd attempted to Jure officers to her. Onee she lefl the

vesidence mnd the offivers vame 1o asstst hergshe shouted, “Shoot ‘em Cody, shoot ‘em.’ Withouwt

question, the ftent was to et officors close to Winters so he could kil them” State’s Return,

P HAK22, Even taking every one of these factual assertions a8 trie, however, none of thon

dismonstrate the reguisife criminal intent to find Jackson gwilly of burglary upon entering the

bandoned regidenee, The ceime of borglary réqudnes entry “oowith the tent © commnit grnd dr
petit areeny, assault or battery on any person or any felony, or to oblain money or property by
{alse pretenses. " NRES 205.060(1 ), Bven il everything the State says about Jackson's condaet iy
acenrate, 1tstll has not presented sufficient evidenes to sapport the burglary chavge in Cout §,
“Pretending to be a hostage” is not a felony, “Calling for Relp” or pretending to do so0, is not a

felony. Even shouting *Shoot “em, Cody, shoot *em™ is not a felony. None of the actions the State

attributes o Jackson wside the abandoned residence demonstrate the riminal fnfent that 13 a

prevequisite 1o a charge of burghary.

For the abave reasons, the instant Petition should be granted and Count 1 and Count §

should be dismissed from the Crimninal fadictngint,

The States claim that Jeoksomn "wasily
hediove that Rcopt Ulert coukd frave™
conpecties-that fackson vould hive eseapiand
ot wath & g aad thie will to e 3,

“peadd Bave escaped Winters is gite presumpuoes, Does the Qg ale
i Wintess? Ov it Bichard Ramios could Bave? The State’s
Wirers Sonsily™ seweraly underestinrides e cogreive povgr ofia

A
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“espape Trom “Havor,™ and that hee filure to escape shows g consciousness of gl

B the State erved by nor infraducing Jackson's recorded siatemend to the grond fury.
“The best evidenve rule requires production of s original document where the actual

contents of that dotumenst are at issue snd sought o be proved.” Young v, Nevada Tile Co,, 103

New, 436, 440 (1987, This rule ». . s desizned to prevent the proof of the contents of & writing by
A Lel I SR

secondary evidence.” 1970 Chevealet Motor Vehacle v, Nye County, 90 New, 31, 40 (18741, As
the State agrees, “ftihe rule concerny situations in which there i3 2 question regarding what

information is in a document or & recording. In other words, where partics contend thie different
information is contained i a document or recording.™ Staie’s Retwrn, p 1S
Ax outlined in Jackson's origingl Petition at pages 7-10, the State viokated the best evidence
rule by offering Detective MeCarthy fo deseribe the contents of ‘the recording of Taekson's
staternent, rathier than admit the recording iself  The State makes the curious clatm that here, the
pest evidence tale s not implicated because “..owhat is contained on the recording is brelevant.™
Siate’s Retwrn, pdl L10, The State contends the best evidente rule is applicable because
s Jwlhat is actnally on the recording is net in dispute.”™ Stale’s Retaen, p 1 L12,
The Sta correct that where the contents of & revording are not i dispute, the best
evidenee rule is not fnaplicated.  This casé, however, 13 not one of these situations. Despiie the

State’s bizarre claim to the contrary, there is sigaificant disagreement between the parties

regarding the contents of the recording of Jackson’s interrogation. Under the proseention-friendly
interpretation of the recording, Jackson had advance Knowledge that "Haved™ wes going w rob
NDOT driver Seott Ufert,  GIFT 108:6-10.  Under an objective, unbiased interpretation, Jacksan

pever acknowledges prior knowledge of an intent o rob Utert, The prosecution-friendly version

el

of the recording presented o the grand jurars incorporstes Detective MeUarthy's personal gat

feeling that Jackson was intenticnally mininnzing her wele i the orime spree. This one-sided

version of the recording also meludes State speondation that Jackson bad muoltiple opportunities &

3
<

&

5 naked speenlation that Jackson ooold have escuped From “Havoe™ infcts these lepal
B : Stale preseies as fart the noton that Jacksan *.Ceonld have ganly escaped Winters,” Stale’s
Rawm P bl LA, mem* Lowortng that this “Faet™ derives not fram iE‘iL’ recording of Faokson™s statement, but from
Deteciive MeQwrilnds personal opbivions: abo that revording. By Wuceeing the Hoes bebween actual cvidesce i the

4
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The State opens s discussion of the best evidence vale by remarking “[he rule converns
shtuations i which there is a question regarding what infrmation is in a document or g recondiig.
fn other words, where parties vontend that different information is confained in a docivnent or

%

secording.  In those situstions, the “Best BEvidonee” of what s contained in a dotwment o
recording is the document or recording itvelfY  State’s Return, pid 139 {emphasis added).
Criven the conflicting readings of fackson’s statement, it iy diffiendt to understand how the State
can serioushy: argue that this is mot @ situation where the parties are contending thel different
nfornastion Is contained i the recording. Detective MeCarthy's blased summary of Jackson's

If. The grand jury shoald haye

inferropation is not a lepitimate substitute for the recording itse
boen provided the option to review the statement for themselves,

The State argues that .. what is contained on the recording Is irelevant.” State’s Return,
Pl L1D, And o the State, perhaps this is bue. After all, the State cleardy prefersed Deteciive
MeCarthy's version of the statwment to the recording itself. While the contents of the recording
were irrelevant to the proseention, however, they were extramely relevant to Natasha Jackson. By
withbolding the actual recordivg of her interview in favor of the persongl opinicns of the detective
that arrested her, the Mot eoswed that the prand jury would pever hear the words of the one
witniess who provided the moest persuasive evidence supporling a defense of duress -~ Natasha
Jackson herself

IF thiy Conrt accepts the State’s position that the best evidence rale is inapplicable to the

present circhmstances, the State’s decision to have Deteetive MeCarthy chesry-pick” the most
prosccution-friendly details of Jackson's statement rather than intreduce the recording itsedf ruws
afoul of another Nevade evidentiary rale. NES 4712001 reads, in pertinent part;

*When any part of a writing or recorded statoment is introcduced by a
party, the party may be reguived at that time to introdoce any othey

part of Howhich is refevant o the part introduced. ™

o Dretective MoCanly’s rmngmm apec ul agiony;, e Stake un&émmsw the Impeeianee of the best gvidence rule
aend thse peejindicial upact that o violation debivered ypon Natusha Jackson,
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| of the dofense tsedf

This statute, somelimes referred o as e Yrule of compluteness,” prechudes a party fom
picking and choosing cerkiin portions of'a recorded statement to paint an inaccurate piclure of the
actual contents of the statement.  Under NRS 47,120, & party can be reguired to intraduce any
other portions of a statement that are relevant 1o the portions that were admitted. By selectively
presenting Jackson's statement iy & mammer that reveated every iculpatory word that came out of

her wowtl while withhiolding the details that support o duress defense, the State viokated NRS

47120 as well as the best evidence rale. In the event the Court accepts the State’s argument tha

the best evidence bule is not nsplicated here, it 1s respectiblly requested that this Court remand this

case 1o the grand jury and require the State 1o introdues the entirety of Jackson's statement n

acrurdmre with NRS 47,120,
€ The Stare violoted NBS 172143023 by failing to ntroduce Jackson s statement.
The Riawe weites that ¥, the United States Supreme Cowrt hag held that a defendant carnet

bring & motion to dismiss an indivtment based on a duress defense,” citing Loited Stales v Koos,

396 LIS, 77 (1969 This is o misleading argument, B is troe that vader Rude 12(bi(1) of the
Federal Rades of Criminal Procedure, trial defenses vannot form the basis for a muotion Wy dississ
an indictent;  this is not the thrust of Jackson's petition. Jackson is not asking this Cowrt to Bad,

as 3 matter of Faw, that she acted under duress and thersfore the indictment should be dismissed.

Jackson is elainving that becanse the State Tailed to present the grand jury with evidence tending 1o

support thiy defense, it viokted NRS 172.145Q2). It the violation of the State’s ebligation
present exculpatory evidence Ut necessitates dismisaal of the indictnsent, not the truth or falsity

o stanidy for the proposition that the reviewing court canmot dismiss an

| indiciment hecause it finds the existence of duress as a matter of Taw,  There is no-bar whatsoever
| 1o the Court dismissing an indictment becanse the State failed to present evidence supporting that

| defense o the grand jory.

For the reasons previousty set torth in Jackson's enigingd petition, the State violated NES

UT214502) and the indictment against hor should be dismily

6
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13 The Steate fatled o praperly instruct the grand jury o the feloryanader rale.

The State claims, with no further argument or conwent, that . oot fnchuding the Nay

imstraction left Jackson in no different ¢ position than where she gow sits” State’s Retwrn, pd3
ILR-9. The Stale believes Jackson’s rights were adeguately protected by instructing the grand
Jurors on only those aspecty of the fas that firmdy established her guilt for the cliarged offenses,
The State provides no rational explapation for how Jackson conld be no worse off withowt the
nstraction than she woald hive heen with it nor could the State be expected tordo so, because
Prere is none: Fackson was andoubtedly prejudiced by the incomplete set of istructions given ta
the grand jury, gince the State withheld a critical aspect of the felony-murder role from the
facifinders. By failing to inforar the grand jurors that the intent to commit robbery must be preseit
at or before the time of the killing in order for the felony-murder nale fo apply, the State materially
misrepresented the rule inorder o ease its burden of proof. This was error.,

Predictably, the Stale rons for cover undér the general principde that the Swte meed sl
fnstriet grand jurors on any aspect of the law at all. State’s Return, p 13 35, As pointed out i
the original Petition, however, that principle does not congrol the issue raised hereln. The power o
withheld all Tepal hshuctions does not necessarily inchude the power lo provide mcomplete sl

Tnaccurate Instructions which ondy partially advise the grand forors, and i so doing, fundamentally

¢ dlid not involve the type of misteading “halfinstruction” present

is not controlhing, becsuse H
here,

The guestion is not whether the State could have chosen ot to instruct the geand jury on

| the Telony-murder vule at all, because cleardy, the Sale tan opt oot to present any iistructions al
| il The question is whether the State ean partially instruct the grand jury in a way that emphasizes
| the aspects of the law that faver the State and igaoves the aspeets of the law that eould potentiadly

Il provide the aconsed witlea defonse, This guestion must be answered in the nogative,

o
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CONCLUSION

For the reasons set forth above, as well as the arguments sel forth in the defendiml’s

original Petition, the Petition for Writ of [labeas Corpus should be granted.

DATLD this 20" day of October, 2014,

PHILIP J. KOIIN
CLARK COUNTY PUBLIC DEFENDER

By

DAN A, SILVERSTEIN, #7518
Deputy Publie Defender

_— " —

y:
CIIRISTY CREIG, #6262
Deputy Public Detender
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PAMELA WECKE
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RLY, Chief Deputy Distvict Attorney
ckerbyifclarkevuntyda.com
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Secretary for the Public Defonder's Offiee
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